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FOREWORD BY MIA PRESIDENT 
 

 

 

JOHAN IDRIS 

 

The Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA) is proud to present to you The MIA Articles of Merit 

Award on Professional Accountants in Business (PAIB) 2013 e-book. 

 

This year’s edition carries on with its tradition of showcasing winning articles relevant to the scope of the 

PAIB. Incidentally, the professional accountants in business make up approximately 70% of MIA 

members. However, the information expounded by this collection will not only interest the accountants in 

commerce and industry but also those in the academia, public sector and internal audit 

 

In essence, the articles encompass innovations of existing principles which have been updated to 

accommodate the dynamic business and accounting environment of today. One can also consider that this 

ebook is an extension of knowledge borne from professional experience and opinions based on collected 

data, both scientific and rhetoric.  

 

Learning is an ongoing journey. At MIA, we see it fit to continuously engage our members in this 

endeavor. This ebook is testament to that commitment by MIA to its members. Through this ebook, it is 

hoped that beside adopting best accounting and management practices, the reader will also find venues in 

critical thinking and knowledge enhancement.  

 

The selections of articles featured in this collection are contributed by professionals, academicians and 

students from the accountancy fraternity. The topics range from the latest innovations in the business and 

accounting world to theories and principles that dictate the dynamics and complexities of the present and 

future business landscape.  

 

After passing through a rigorous reviewing  process, nine articles were identified to receive the respective 

awards. And now, we are pleased to extend to you the winning articles. 

 

Thank you. 
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A STUDY ON THE INFLUENCE OF THE BOARD, AUDITOR REPUTATION AND FEES ON 

FIRM PERFORMANCE 

 

ABSTRACT 

 

This paper examines the influences of five key board characteristics, auditor reputation and fees on firm 

performance by using panel data of 100 firms on Bursa Malaysia from 2006 to 2010.  Integration of board 

characteristics with audit firm reputation and its fees as well as the use of the Hausman test provide a 

more complete analysis, and as such the findings bridge the gap in the literature. This study used pooled 

ordinary least square regression and the Hausman test to examine the relationships of seven independent 

variables with firm performance, which is measured by both return on assets and return on equity.  Both 

results of pooled ordinary least square regression and the Hausman tests showed that board size, number 

of board meetings in a year, audit firm reputation and audit fees had significant and positive relationships 

with firm performance.  However, the number of female directors and independent non-executive 

directors in the board were not significant predictors for superior firm performance.  This study indicated 

that the power separation between the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chairman helped to improve 

firm performance. The findings are consistent with the recommendation of best practices in the Malaysian 

Code of Corporate Governance 2012, which states that different individuals should hold the position of 

Chairman and CEO. The findings also support the assessment of the suitability and independence of 

external auditors by the audit committee as far as the audit quality is concerned.  

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 

In pursuit of business excellence, stronger corporate governance is vital. Most of the companies today are 

concentrating on issues relating to the effectiveness of the board of directors, audit quality, and firm 

performance in the context of corporate governance. Many academic studies have examined the 

relationships of corporate governance mechanisms and effects of board characteristics on firm 

performance. Optimal board characteristics will enhance board effectiveness - resulting in better firm 

performance. Nonetheless, there are no conclusive results found on the associations between key internal 

corporate governance mechanisms with firm performance. On the other hand, auditors play crucial role as 

an important monitoring mechanism not only to protect interests of the stakeholders in the firm, but also 

to mitigate agency problems.   
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Examining both issues in isolation provides an incomplete analysis of their impact on firm performance. 

As such this study aims to integrate board characteristics, such as board size, proportion of independent 

non-executive directors, gender diversity, and board meeting frequency with audit firm reputation as well 

as its fees on firm performance from year 2006 to 2010. This paper contributes not only a better 

understanding of board effectiveness and its independence, but also, the important role of audit in 

upholding the integrity of financial reporting. The findings of this paper may also benefit other 

developing economies.  

 

Malaysia has been selected as a sample because of its strong economic growth as well as several reforms 

in companies and securities laws to ensure excellence in corporate governance following the 1997/98 

Asian financial crisis. The Securities Commission, for example, launched the Malaysian Code on 

Corporate Governance (MCCG 2012), as part of its continuous effort to improve the corporate 

governance framework.  

 

2.  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND BOARD CHARACTERISTICS 

 

Board of directors are accountable for monitoring the performance and activities of the top management 

to ensure the firm is operating in the best interests of the owners and shareholders. The top management 

is tasked with developing and implementing strategies to promote firm performance. Based on many 

corporate scandals and failures, special attention is given to the board characteristics and the relationship 

with firm performance. 

 

2.1 Board Size 

 

Several studies hypothesized the positive association between board size and firm’s financial 

performance, nonetheless, they found contrasting results. As board size becomes larger, it becomes less 

efficient due to coordination problems (Bennedsen, Kongsted & Nielsen, 2008; O’Connell and Cramer, 

2010).  

 

Bennedsen et. al. (2008) analysed the causal impact of board size on the financial performance of small 

and medium-sized firms from the sample of 7,496 firms in Denmark in 1999. They used ordinary least 

square (OLS) regression method to investigate the effectiveness of board size on return on assets as the 

proxy for firm performance. They separated the impact of small and large boards, and found no impact on 

performance with a board size of below six directors. However, they did find a significant and negative 

relationship for boards with more than six members. 
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O’Connell and Cramer (2010) examined the association between corporate performance and board size 

from 77 quoted Irish firms collected at the end of December 2001. They used ordinary least square (OLS) 

regression analysis to estimate the equation between variables. The results showed that there was a 

significant negative relationship between board size and corporate performance.  

 

Larmou and Vafeas (2010) examined the relationship between board size and firm performance on a 

sample of smaller firms, which were ranked in the bottom quintile in industry-adjusted operating 

performance among all Compustat firm for three consecutive years from 1996 to 2000. The results 

showed that board size had a positive relation with firm performance, and that the market responded 

positively to the increase of board size or vice versa. Stated formally: 

 

H1: Board size is positively related with firm performance, ceteris paribus. 

 

2.2 Gender Diversity 

 

Gender diversity is perceived as an expression of board diversity. Smith, Smith and Verner (2006) 

examined the effects of women in top management on firm performance – examining Danish firms with 

more than 50 employees from 1994 to 2003. The results showed that a fraction of women in top 

management have a positive impact on firm performance. Nonetheless, the extent of the impact was 

based on how CEOs were defined and the positive impact of women in top administration was based on 

their skills and qualifications. 

 

Carter, D’Souza, Simkins, and Simpson (2010) examined board diversity specifically from the 

perspective of gender diversity and the relative effect on firm performance from a sample of Fortune 500 

firms from 1998 to 2002 using a panel data of 2,000 firms in US. They did not find a significant 

relationship between the board’s gender or ethnic diversity, and firm performance. Overall, diversity is 

usually related to enhancing organisational worth and financial achievement because it signifies a new 

approach (Smith et al., 2006; Carter et al., 2010).  Stated formally: 

 

H2: Number of females on the board is positively related with firm performance, ceteris paribus. 
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2.3 Number of Independent Non-Executive Directors on Board 

 

Uadiale (2010) examined the effect of board structure on corporate financial performance as measured by 

return on equity and return on capital employed (ROCE) in Nigeria. A sample of 30 quoted companies in 

2007 was used. The ordinary least squares regression was used to estimate the relationship between 

corporate performance measures and the independent variables. Evidence showed that there was a 

positive association between outside and non-executive directors sitting on the board and corporate 

financial performance.  Stated formally: 

 

H3: Number of independent non-executive directors sitting on the board is positively related with firm 

performance, ceteris paribus. 

 

2.4 Board Meeting Frequency 

 

Frequency of board meetings is one of the other board features that measures the intensity and strength of 

board activities. Vafeas (1999) investigated the impact of the frequency of board meetings on firm 

performance for 307 firms from 1990 to 1994. He found that the number of board meetings held annually 

was inversely related to firm performance. This implied that the increase in board actions was followed 

by the decline of share prices.  Nonetheless, firm performance improved with abnormal board activity 

which was measured by the frequency of board meetings for firms with poor past performance and did 

not have company control transactions. Hence, the frequency of board meetings was an inexpensive 

method for firms to protect shareholder value, and subsequently improve firm performance. 

 

Brick and Chidambaran (2010) studied the relationship between the level of board activity and firm 

performance from 1999 to 2005 on 4,298 firms using both pooled and fixed regression analyses. They 

used the number of annual board meetings as proxy for board activities. Their results indicated that 

increased oversight and control by the board through annual board meetings enhanced firm performance. 

 

Based on the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance (2007), board meetings frequency has not been 

specified; however according to Bursa Malaysia rules and regulations, board of directors must meet on a 

fixed minimum number of times in a year, which is usually four times per year. Stated formally: 

 

H4: Number of board meetings is positively associated with firm performance, ceteris paribus. 
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2.5 CEO Duality 

 

Peng, Zhang and Li (2007) investigated the effectiveness of the practice of one person serving both as a 

firm’s CEO and Chairman of the board on firm performance from the sample of 1,202 publicly listed 

companies in China from 1992 to 1996 using the standardised regression model. They found a positive 

association between CEO duality and firm performance, which supported the stewardship theory. 

 

Kholeif (2009) re-examined the agency theory regarding the negative association between CEO duality 

and corporate financial performance for the year 2006 from the most aggressively traded Egyptian 

companies using the moderated regression analysis. The result showed that in companies with larger 

boards and less top management ownership, corporate financial performance was unconstructively 

influenced by CEO duality. 

 

Ramdani and Witteloostuijn (2010) also examined the effect of CEO duality on the firm’s financial 

performance. They used quantitative regression analysis on the sample from Indonesia, Malaysia, South 

Korea, and Thailand. They found that there was a negative moderating effect of board size on the positive 

association between CEO duality and firm financial performance. Stated formally: 

 

H5: CEO duality is negatively related to firm performance, ceteris paribus. 

 

2.6 Auditor Reputation  

 

There was a concern whether companies should be audited by one of the Big 5 audit firms and its 

associations with firm performance. Big audit firms seemed to provide higher quality audit with their 

professed capability and independence, and it was perceived that large audit firms had more investments 

in better technology and were assumed to keep up the quality of audit services, hence preserving their 

reputation in the audit market (Mohd-Mohid & Takiah, 2004). Khurana and Raman (2004) examined 

Anglo-American countries to see if Big 5 auditors performed higher audit quality than non-Big 5 auditors. 

The results showed that litigation exposure rather than the brand name of the audit firm determined the 

perceived audit quality. 
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There are two theories used to explain the rationale behind the demand for reputable audit firms. Piot 

(2005) stated that “the agency theory, relying on the use of accounting numbers in the firm’s contracts 

and considering reputation as a surrogate for audit quality, and the insurance theory, which supposes that 

reputed auditors offer more extended collateral guarantees to fund providers in litigious circumstances (p. 

21)”. Stated formally: 

 

H6: There is a positive relation between auditor reputation and firm performance, ceteris paribus. 

 

2.7 Audit Fee 

 

Audit fee is a proxy for audit quality, as more investigations require more audit hours. The use of more 

specialised audit staff would result in higher fees (O’Sullivan, 2000). The effects of corporate 

characteristics (such as the impact of audit fee and if a company was audited by one of the Big 5 audit 

firms) have been the subject of recent studies. Caramanis and Spathis (2006) examined audit fees and 

audit firm characteristics that affected audit qualification from 185 Greek companies listed on the Athens 

Stock Exchange by using logistic and ordinary least square regression models. They found that audit fees 

and the type of audit firm (Big-5 vs. non-Big 5) did not affect auditors' propensity to qualify their 

opinions. Instead, the occurrence of audit qualifications was associated with operating margin to total 

assets and the current ratio. 

 

Zalailah, Stewart, and Manson (2006) studied 100 companies from the industrial product sector listed on 

the Main Board of Bursa Malaysia in 2002 to examine audit quality using ordinary least square 

regression. They used audit fees as a proxy for audit quality. Audit quality referred to the ability of 

auditors to discover and report any breach in the client’s accounting system. The result showed that 

higher audit fees reflected a higher quality audit, as more audit effort was required to ensure that financial 

statements were free from material misstatement. More effort from auditors to conduct extensive tests in 

discovering accounting errors would increase the quality of the audit. Therefore, higher audit fees would 

be indicative of a higher quality audit provided by auditors, which would suggest a better firm 

performance.  In other words, the higher the audit fee, the higher the firm performance. Stated formally,  

 

H7: There is a positive relation between audit fees and firm performance, ceteris paribus. 
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3. DATA AND METHOD 

 

We used systematic random sampling to choose 100 publicly listed companies on the Main Board of 

Bursa Malaysia for the period of 2006 to 2010. The first company was selected at random and the other 

companies were selected based on the fixed interval at every kth element in the sampling frame. As the 

100 firms from 845 companies have to be chosen, 845/100=8.45 or approximately 8, thus, every eighth 

element was chosen after the random starting point between the first and eighth first companies. We 

omitted those cases in which the data was not available throughout the 5 years. 

 

Financial data was collected from the financial statement of firms’ annual reports from 2006 to 2010 

(Bursa Malaysia, 2011). Data related to board of directors was either gathered from the corporate 

background section of the annual reports or the firms’ websites. Other information such as firm age was 

also collected from the firms’ websites. 

 

This study examined whether the Big 5 audit firms provide better quality audit than the non-Big 5 on the 

basis of firm performance. The Big 5 audit firms are Ernst and Young, Deloitte, KPMG, 

PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) and BDO Binder. These Big 5 audit firms are the largest international 

accountancy and proficient service firms that handle enormous mainstream of audits for publicly listed 

firms as well as several private companies. Prior studies used big global audit firms to signify high quality 

audit.  

 

Kiel and Nicholson (2003,) as well as Adjoud, Zeghal, and Andaleeb (2007) had used return on assets 

(ROA) and return on equity (ROE) as the proxies of firm performance (the dependent variable), 

respectively. Hence, we adopted return on assets and return on equity as the proxy for measuring firm 

performance with these board characteristics. Return on assets (ROA) is computed as profit before tax 

divided by the company’s total assets (O’Connell and Cramer, 2010). Return on equity (ROE) is 

measured by net income divided by shareholders equity (Bhagat et al., 1999; Adjoud et al., 2007). In 

addition, we included firm size, firm leverage, and firm age as control variables in this study. The 

measures of each independent, dependent and control variables are shown in Table 1 
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Table 1 - Dependant, Independent, and Control Variables Used 

Variable Definition 

Dependent Variables 

ROA Return on assets (ROA), which is computed by dividing profit 

before tax by total assets. 

ROE Return on equity (ROE), which is computed by dividing net income 

by total equity. 

Independent Variables 

BOARD SIZE Board Size, which is the total number of directors sitting on the 

board of directors. 

CEO DUALITY CEO Duality which is equal to “1” if CEO is also the chairman of 

board otherwise it is equal to “0”. 

INDEPENDENT 

NON-EXECUTIVE 

Number of independent non-executive directors, which is the 

number of independent non-executive directors sitting on the board. 

GENDER 

DIVERSITY 

 

Number of female, which is the number of women directors sitting 

on the board. 

 

 

 

BOARD MEETING Board meeting, which is the total number of board meetings in one 

year. 

 

 

 

AUDIT FEE  Audit fee, which is the fee that is charged by 

an auditor for auditing a company’s accounts. 

 
BIG-5 AUDIT FIRM A dummy variable which is equal to “0” when the company is not 

financially recorded by one of the big five audit firms and equal to 

“1” if the company is assessed by one of the big five audit firms. 

Control Variables 

LEVERAGE Natural logarithm of market value, which is the natural logarithm 

of leverage of the company at the end of the financial year. 

Leverage is calculated by total debt divided by total asset of the 

company in a financial year. 

 

 

 

ir 

FIRM AGE Age of the firm, which is equal to 2010 minus the year the firm, is 

established in Malaysia. 

FIRM SIZE Firm size, which is the natural logarithm of total revenue of the 

company in a financial year. 
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Regression Analysis was performed on firm performance (return on assets, return on equity) with 

dependent variables and board characteristics (board size, number of female directors on board, number 

of independent and non-executive directors on the board, board meetings, CEO duality, Big 5 and audit 

fee) as independent variables. The models are described as follows: 

 

MODEL 1:  

ROA = α + β1 BSIZE + β2 FEMALE + β3 IND.NON.EXE + β4 BMEET+ β5 DUALITY + β6 

BIG.FIVE + β7 AUDIT.FEE + β8 SIZE + β9 LNLEV + β10 AGE 

 

MODEL 2:  

ROE = α + β1 BSIZE + β2 FEMALE + β3 IND.NON.EXE + β4 BMEET+ β5 DUALITY + β6 BIG.FIVE 

+ β7 AUDIT.FEE + β8 SIZE + β9 LNLEV + β10 AGE  

 

Multicollinearity, which refers to high correlations among the independent variables were examined using 

variance inflation factor (VIF).  This study also used the Hausman test estimation to re-analyse the 

association among board features and firm financial performance for both model of return on assets 

(model 1) and return on equity (model 2). 

 

4.  RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS 

 

4.1 Descriptive Statistics 

 

Table 2 reports the descriptive statistics of independent, dependent and control variables for 100 firms 

from 2006 to 2010 on Bursa Malaysia.  In terms of gender diversity, some firms had no female director 

and the maximum number of women on the board was limited to two persons. The average number of 

women on the board was 0.52. With respect to board characteristics, boards had the minimum number of 

2 and maximum number of 5 independent non-executive directors. During the period of 2006 to 2010, 

sample companies held a minimum of one meeting, a maximum of 14 meetings with the average of four 

meetings in a financial year. 

 

CEO duality was reported with average of 0.35 (35%) - showing that most of the firms had different 

persons for the CEO and Chairman positions. Besides, the results also showed the average of 0.68 (68%), 

which implied that more than half of the firms had been audited by one of the Big 5 audit firms. The 

chosen companies, during the period of 2006 to 2010, had paid a minimum of RM11,000 and maximum 

of RM4,371,987 for audit fee with an average of RM389,000 per company.  
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Table 2 - Descriptive Statistics for Variables Used in Model 1 and Model 2 

Variables Minimum Maximum Mean Standard 

Deviation 
 

Independent Variables 

BOARD SIZE a 3 13 7.170 2.094  

FEMALE b 0 2 0.523 0.692  

INDEPENDENT NON-

EXECUTIVE c 
2 5 3.062 0.882  

BOARD MEETINGS d 1 14 4.754 1.827  

DUALITY e 0 1 0.351 0.476  

BIG FIVE f 0 1 0.682 0.468  

AUDIT FEE (RM) g 11000 4371987 389000 747276.643  

Dependent Variables 

ROA h -54.481 54.572 3.450 10.022  

ROE i -2076.502 843.110 5.623 107.230  

Control  Variables 

SIZE (LNREV) j 7.402 17.012 12.495 1.696  

LNLEV k 0.045 4.800 0.722 0.570  

AGE l 2 54 21.420 12.681  

 

a Denotes the total number of directors sitting on the board of directors.  

b Denotes the number of females on the board. 

c Denotes the number of independent non-executive directors on the board.  

d Denotes the total number of board meetings in one year. 

e Denotes duality as dummy variable equal to “1” if Chief Executive Officer is also the chairman of board 

otherwise it is equal to “0”. 

f Denotes the Big 5 dummy variable equal to “1” if the company has been audited by one of the Big 5 

audit firms otherwise it is equal to “0”.  

g Denotes the total amount paid to auditors in one financial year. 

h Denotes the return on assets, which is profit before tax divided by total asset of the company.  

i Denote the return on equity, which is calculated by dividing net income by total equity. 

j Denotes the size of the firm, natural logarithm of total revenue of the company in a financial year. 

k Denotes the natural logarithm of leverage (total debt divided by total asset). 

l Denotes the age of the firm, which is equal to 2010 minus the year the firm is established in Malaysia. 
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Table 3a and Table 3b report the correlation coefficients among all of the variables in Model 1 and Model 2 correspondingly. The correlation matrix 

for both model 1 and model 2 indicate no multicollinearity problem, since the correlations were comparatively low, i.e. not more than 0.80 (Gujarati, 

2009).  Moreover, the variance inflation factor (VIF) of less than 2.0 for all independent and control variables are at the acceptable level (see Table 

4a and 4b), further indicating that there is no multicollinearity problem.  

 

Table 3a - Correlation Coefficient for the Board/Corporate Characteristics and Return on Assets (ROA) 

** Denotes the significant correlation at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).  

  * Denotes the significant correlation at the 0.05 level (2-tailed). 

Note: Sample data consists of 100 firms from 2006 to 2010. 

Board/Corporate 

Characteristics 
ROA B.SIZE FEMALE IND.NON.EXE B.MEET DUALITY 

BIG. 

FIVE 
AUDIT.FEE LNREV LNLEV AGE 

ROA    1           

B.SIZE .350**    1          

FEMALE .162** .325**   1         

IND.NON.EXE .204** .400** .198**   1        

B.MEET .247** .317** .254** .195**   1       

DUALITY 
-.282** -.253** -.101* -.080 -.191**    1      

BIG.FIVE .129** .039 .027 -.010 .087 -.129**   1     

AUDIT.FEE .264** .270** .193** .150** .294** -.193** .082   1    

LNREV .281** .303** .166** .178** .368** -.220** .301** .535**   1   

LNLEV -.129** -.068 -.013 -.058 .160** .044 .113* .171** .275**    1  

AGE .178** .168** .002 .217** .033 -.129** .114* .214** .334** -.010 1 
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Table 3b - Correlation Coefficient for the Board/Corporate Characteristics and Return on Equity (ROE) 

 

** Denotes the significant correlation at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).  

  * Denotes the significant correlation at the 0.05 level (2-tailed). 

Note: sample da consists of 100 firms from 2006 to 2010. 

 

 

 

 

Board/Corporate 

Characteristics 
ROE B.SIZE FEMALE IND.NON.EXE MEET DUALITY 

BIG 

FIVE 
AUDITFEE LNREV LNLEV AGE 

ROE   1           

B.SIZE .090*    1          

FEMALE .053 .325**    1         

IND.NON.EXE .064 .400** .198**   1        

MEET -.028 .317** .254** .195**   1       

DUALITY -.090* -.253** -.101* -.080 -191**    1      

BIG.FIVE .095* .039 .027 -.010 .087 -.129**   1     

AUDIT.FEE .089* .270** .193** .150** .294** -.193** .082   1    

LNREV .160** .303** .166** .178** .368** -.220** .301** .535**   1   

LNLEV -.039 -.068 -.013 -.058 .160** .044 .113* .171** .275**    1  

AGE .055 .168** .002 .217** .033 -.129** .114* .214** .334** -.010 1 
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4.2 Relationship between Board Characteristics and Firm Performance 

 

The results of board characteristics and return on assets (Model 1) and return on equity (Model 2) 

are presented in Table 4a and Table 4b. 

 

Table 4a - Ordinary Least Square Regression Results for Board/Corporate Characteristics 

and Return on Assets (ROA) 

 

a Denotes total number of directors sitting on the board of directors.  

b Denotes the number of women on the board. 

c Denotes the number of independent non-executive directors on the board.  

d Denotes the total number of board meetings in one year. 

e Denotes duality as dummy variable which is equal to “1” if CEO is also the Chairman of board 

otherwise is equal to “0”. 

f Denotes the one of the Big 5 dummy variable which is equal to “1” if the company has been 

audited by one of the Big 5 audit firms otherwise is equal to “0”.  

g Denotes the total amount which is paid to auditors in one financial year. 

h Denotes the size of the firm as the natural logarithm of total revenue of the company in a 

financial year. 

i Denotes the natural logarithm of leverage (total debt divided by total asset). 

j Denotes the age of the firm, which is equal to 2010 minus the year the firm is established in 

Malaysia. 

VIF denotes variance inflation factor.     

 Hypothesis Expected Sign Beta Standard Error t-value p-value VIF 

CONSTANT 

 

   3.462 -3.392 .001  

 

B.SIZE a 

 

H1 + 0.163 0.213 3.394 0.001 1.430 

FEMALE b H2 + 0.024 0.571 0.561 0.575 1.165 

IND.NON.EXE c H3 + 0.024 0.464 0.538 0.591 1.236 

B.MEET d H4 + 0.049 0.238 1.059 0.029 1.348 

DUALITY e H5 - -0.144 0.820 -3.407 0.001 1.108 

BIG.FIVE f H6 + 0.079 0.833 1.861 0.043 1.110 

AUDIT.FEE g H7 + 0.130 0.000 2.649 0.008 1.481 

Control Variables 

SIZE (LNREV) h  + 0.127 0.304 2.284 0.023 1.911 

LNLEV i  - -0.183 0.692 -4.246 0.000 1.150 

AGE j  + 0.053 0.032 1.199 0.231 1.200 

  

Square                      0.225      Adjusted R Square is 0.209; F-Ratio: 13.938. N = 500 
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Table 4b - Ordinary Least Square Regression Results for Board/Corporate Characteristics 

and Return on Equity (ROE) 

 

a Denotes the total number of directors sitting on the board of directors.  

b Denotes the number of women on the board. 

c Denotes the number of independent non-executive directors on the board.  

d Denotes the total number of board meetings in one year. 

e Denotes duality as dummy variable which is equal to “1” if CEO is also the Chairman of board 

otherwise it is equal to “0”. 

f Denotes the Big 5 dummy variable which is equal to “1” if the company has been audited by one 

of the Big 5 audit firms otherwise it is equal to “0”.  

g Denotes the total amount which is paid to auditors in one financial year. 

h Denotes the size of the firm as the natural logarithm of total revenue of the company in a 

financial year. 

i Denotes the natural logarithm of leverage (total debt divided by total asset). 

j Denotes the age of the firm which, is equal to 2010 minus the year the firm, when established in 

Malaysia. 

VIF denotes variance inflation factor. 

 

 Hypothesis Expected Sign Beta Standard Error t-value p-value VIF 

CONSTANT 

 

   12.342 -2.486  0.013  

Hypothesis variables 

B.SIZE a 

 

H1 + 0.132 0.761 2.682  0.008 1.430 

FEMALE b H2 + 0.028 2.036 0.629  0.529 1.165 

IND.NON.EXE c H3 + 0.011 1.656 0.238  0.812 1.236 

B.MEET d H4 + 0.125 0.850 2.612  0.009 1.348 

DUALITY e H5 - -0.145 2.925 -3.351  0.001 1.108 

BIG.FIVE f H6 + 0.093 2.971 2.142  0.033 1.110 

AUDIT.FEE g H7 + 0.162 0.000 3.246  0.001 1.481 

Control Variables 

SIZE (LNREV) h  + 0.029 1.084 0.508  0.612 1.911 

LNLEV i  - -0.088 2.466 -2.005  0.045 1.150 

AGE j  + 0.058 0.113 1.295  0.196 1.200 

 
R Square:                   0.193; Adjusted R Square is 0.176, F-Ratio is 11.451, N =500 
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Overall, the results indicated positive association between board size and both ROA (β = 0.163,  

p 0.001) and ROE (β = 0.132, p 0.008).  The relation between the number of female directors 

sitting on the board with return on assets and return on equity were not significant. The number 

of independent non-executive directors had no significant relationship with ROA and ROE.  

 

The number of board meetings in one year is significantly and positively (β = 0.125, p 0.009) 

related with ROE. The regression result showed that CEO duality had a significant and negative 

association (β = -0.145, p 0.001) with both ROA and ROE. This indicated that the separation of 

the roles between Chairman and CEO does improve firm performance. This result was consistent 

with Ramdani and Witteloostujn (2010) who suggested that CEO duality had a negative impact 

on firm performance. 

 

Big 5 audit firms had a significant and positive association with both Model 1 (return on assets) 

and Model 2 (return on equity). If a company were to be audited by one of the Big 5 audit firms, 

the result would show a higher firm performance. Based on the results, the audit fee had a 

significant and positive association with both ROA and ROE. This showed that higher fees paid 

to auditors would result in a higher firm performance. 

 

4.3 Panel Data Models 

 

Since the data used in this study was panel data - with time series and cross sectional dimension, 

it is recommended that we further employed the Hausman test to understand whether the 

individual effects are fixed or random. The test identified the value of chi-square and P value. If 

the P value is less than 0.05, fixed effects model is viable otherwise the random effects model is 

viable. 

 

The Hausman test is a test of the significance, which was used for both dependent variables, 

namely, return on assets (ROA) and return on equity (ROE). The main presumption in random 

effects estimation is that the random effects are not correlated with the explanatory variables. One 

ordinary technique to test this assumption is to use the Hausman (1978) test to contrast the fixed 

and random effects estimates of coefficients. 
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4.4 The Hausman Test for Return on Assets (Model 1) 

 

Table 5a shows the results of the Hausman test on the return on assets. Chi-square in the 

Hausman test is the same as R-square in the regression model. Based on the result, the value of 

chi-square statistics for testing the differences between all coefficients was 18.09338. It meant 

that 18.09 percentage of change in return on assets was due to the changes in independent 

variables. While the corresponding p-value of (0.0534 > 0.05) suggested that the random effect 

coefficients were viable for the variables. 

 

At 5% significance level, the null hypothesis was rejected for the variables in which their p-value 

was less than 0.05 (p < 0.0.5) for board size, board meetings, CEO duality and big-five audit 

firm, audit fee, and firm size. It meant that these variables were the significant predictors for 

return on assets. Leverage and CEO duality were significant and negative predictors (CEO 

duality random effect β = -3.11, p 0.04) while other variables were positive predictors. In 

addition, those variables with p-value greater than 0.05 such as firm age, number of female 

directors sitting on the board, number of independent non-executive directors on board were not 

significant predictors of firm performance. 

 

            Table 5a - Correlated Random Effects - Hausman Test (Return on Assets) 

   

Test cross-section random effects  

          

Test Summary 

Chi-Sq. 

Statistic Chi-Sq. d.f. Prob.  

     
     
Cross-section random 18.093 10 0.053 

     
     
Cross-section random effects test comparisons: 

  
   

Variable  Random  Var (Diff.)  Prob.  

     
     
AGE a  0.040 0.000 0.423 

SIZE b  0.855 0.015      0.051 

FEMALE c  0.201 0.070 0.473 

IND d  0.514 0.073 0.340 

MEET e  0.551 0.020 0.041 

CEO f  -3.113 0.310 0.037 

BIG5 g  1.492 0.241 0.032 

FEE h  0.000 0.000 0.045 

LNREV i  0.564 0.029 0.018 

LNLEVJ  -2.887 0.075 0.008 
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aDenotes the age of the firm, which is equal to 2010 minus the year the firm is established in 

Malaysia  

b Denotes the total number of directors sitting on the board of directors. 

c Denotes the number of women on the board. 

d Denotes the number of independent non-executive directors on the board. 

e Denotes the total number of board meetings in one year. 

f Denotes duality as dummy variable which is equal to “1” if Chief Executive Officer is also the 

chairman of board otherwise it is equal to “0”. 

g Denotes Big 5 dummy variable which is equal to “1” if the company has been financially 

recorded by one of the Big 5 audit firms otherwise it is equal to “0”.  

h Denotes the total amount which is paid to auditors in one financial year. 

i Denotes the size of the firm as the natural logarithm of total revenue of the company in a 

financial year. 

j Denotes the natural logarithm of leverage (total debt divided by total asset). 

 

            Table 5b - Correlated Random Effects - Hausman Test (Return on Equity) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

a Denotes the age of the firm, which is equal to 2010 minus the year the firm is established in 

Malaysia  

b Denotes the total number of directors sitting on the board of directors. 

c Denotes the number of women on the board. 

 

Test cross-section random effects:  

          

Test Summary 

Chi-Sq. 

Statistic Chi-Sq. d.f. Prob. 

          
Cross-section random 45.344 10 0.000 

          
Cross-section random effects test comparisons: 

     

Variable  Fixed Var (Diff.) Prob. 

          
AGE a  0.092 0.003     0.148 

SIZE b  0.960 0.163     0.004 

FEMALE c  2.654 0.767     0.060 

IND d  0.344 0.687     0.478 

MEET e  2.440 0.193     0.030 

CEO f     -12.559 2.541     0.041 

BIG5 g  1.146 2.727     0.000 

FEE h  0.000 0.000     0.000 

LNREV i  1.613 0.368     0.041 

LNLEV j  -7.980 1.013     0.001 
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d Denotes the number of independent non-executive directors on the board. 

e Denotes the total number of board meetings in one year. 

f Denotes duality as dummy variable which is equal to “1” if Chief Executive Officer is also the 

chairman of board otherwise it is equal to “0”. 

g Denotes one of the Big 5 dummy variable which is equal to “1” if the company has been 

financially recorded by one of the Big 5 audit firms otherwise it is equal to “0”.  

h Denotes the total amount which is paid to auditors in one financial year. 

i Denotes the size of the firm as the natural logarithm of total revenue of the company in a 

financial year. 

j Denotes the natural logarithm of leverage (total debt divided by total asset). 

 

Table 5b shows the results of the Hausman test on the return on equity in measuring firm 

performance. The chi-square value of 45.34 meant a 45.34 percentage of difference in return on 

equity was due to independent variables. The corresponding p-value of (0.000 < 0.05) suggested 

that the fixed effect coefficients were viable for the return on equity. 

 

At 5% significance level, the null hypothesis was rejected for the variables in which their P value 

is below 0.05 (p < 0.0.5) such as board size, board meetings, CEO duality, Big 5 audit firm, audit 

fee, firm size, and leverage of the firm. It meant that these variables were the significant 

predictors for the return on assets. Leverage and CEO duality were significant and negative 

predictors (CEO duality random effect β = -12.56, p 0.04) while other variables were positive 

predictors. On the other hand, variables with p-value greater than 0.05 such as firm age, number 

of female directors sitting on the board, number of independent non-executive directors on board 

were not significant predictors for the return on equity. 

 

4.5 Comparison between the Regression Model and Hausman Test 

 

Table 6 shows the comparison between the result of the regression model and the Hausman test. 

Although there was a consistency between the two methods used to estimate the significant 

predictors of the firm financial performance calculated by return on assets and return on equity, 

the relative coefficients were different. This is not to suggest that anything is wrong – differences 

could occur due to different covariance matrix estimators. Nonetheless, the results of the 

Hausman test improved the result of regression model for return on equity with higher coefficient 

of determination. 
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As shown in Table 6, increases in board size were associated with better performance. This is 

consistent with the study of Larmou and Vafeas (2010) in which larger boards provided a greater 

knowledge base and more expertise in effective monitoring for top managers and hence, 

protecting the interest of shareholders. This study also supported previous studies of negative 

association between CEO duality and firm performance (Kholeif, 2009). At the same time, the 

finding is also consistent with the work done by Mohd-Mohid and Takiah (2004) in which Big 5 

audit firms and audit fee correspond positively to firm performance.  

 

In terms of board meeting frequency, this study found a significant positive association between 

board meetings and firm performance. The finding is consistent with previous studies, which 

found higher control and monitoring by the board during annual board meetings had resulted in 

higher firm performance (Brick and Chidambaran, 2007).  

 

On the other hand, both the regression models and the Hausman tests found no significant 

relationships between female directors and firm performance. It was inconsistent with Smith, et 

al. (2006) who found a significant positive relationship between gender diversity and firm 

performance.  The result of insignificant of number of independent directors was also 

inconsistent with previous studies such as Uadiale (2010) who found a significant positive 

relationship between the number of independent and non-executive directors on board and firm 

performance. 
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Table 6 - Comparison between the Regression Model and the Hausman Test for 

Independent Variables 

aDenotes the overall number of directors sitting on the board of directors.  

b Denotes the number of women on the board. 

c Denotes the number of independent non-executive directors on the board.  

d Denotes the total number of board meetings in one year. 

e Denotes duality as dummy variable equal to “1” if Chief Executive Officer is also the chairman 

of board otherwise it is equal to “0”. 

f Denotes Big 5 dummy variable equal to “1” if the company has been audited by one of the Big 5 

audit firms otherwise it is equal to “0”.  

g Denotes the total amount which is paid to auditors in one financial year. 

 

 

Performance 

Measurement 

Independent 

Variables 

Regression 

Coefficient 
P-value Hausman 

Coefficient 
P-value 

ROA 

BOARD SIZE a 0.163 0.001 0.855 0.051 

FEMALE b 0.024 0.575 0.201 0.473 

INDEPENDENT 

NON-EXECUTIVE c 
0.024 0.591 0.514 0.340 

BOARD MEETINGS d 0.049 0.029 0.551 0.041 

DUALITY e -0.144 0.001 -3.113 0.037 

BIG FIVE f 0.079 0.043 1.492 0.032 

AUDIT FEE (RM) g 0.130 0.008 0.000 0.045 

ROE 

BOARD SIZE a 0.132 0.008 0.960 0.004 

FEMALE b 0.028 0.529 2.654 0.060 

INDEPENDENT 

NON-EXECUTIVE c 

0.011 0.812 0.344 0.477 

BOARD MEETINGS d 0.125 0.009 2.440 0.030 

DUALITY e -0.145 0.001 -12.559 0.041 

BIG FIVE f 0.093 0.033 1.146 0.000 

AUDIT FEE (RM) g 0.162 0.001 0.000 0.000 
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Table 7 compares the regression model and the Hausman test for control variables. There were 

consistent results for these variables as well. However, the value of coefficients differed. Firm 

size enhanced firm performance. In contrast, the firm’s total leverage had a significant negative 

relationship with the firm’s performance. It was worth noting that the age of the firm had no 

significant effect on firm performance.  

 

Table 7 - Comparison between the Regression Model and Hausman Test for Control 

Variables 

 

h Denotes the size of the firm as the natural logarithm of total revenue of the company in a 

financial year. 

i Denotes the natural logarithm of leverage (total debt divided by total asset). 

j Denotes age of the firm which, is equal to 2010 minus the year the firm is established in 

Malaysia. 

 

Performance 

Measurement 
Control Variables 

Regression 

Coefficient 
P-value Hausman 

Coefficient 
P-value 

Return on 

Asset 

SIZE (LNREV) h 0.127 0.023 0.564 0.018 

LNLEV i -0.183 0.000 -2.887 0.008 

AGE j 0.053 0.231 0.040 0.422 

      

Return on 

Equity 

SIZE (LNREV) h .029 .0412 1.613 0.041 

LNLEV i -.088 .045 -7.980 0.001 

AGE j .058 .196 0.092 0.149 
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5.  CONCLUSION 

 

Overall, the results showed that there are significant positive relationships between board size, 

number of board meetings, audit firm reputation, and audit fees with firm performance. These 

results imply that increasing the number of directors and the number of board meetings, as well 

as the amount of audit fees and the audit firm’s reputation will add value to companies in 

Malaysia. When necessary, the use of high profile audit firm is perceived as strengthening the 

monitoring system between shareholders and agent in the firm.  Furthermore CEO duality has 

negative relationship with the firm performance, and this finding support the amendment in the 

Malaysian Code of Corporate Governance 2012, which recommends that the position of 

chairman and CEO should be held by different individuals. To have more comprehensive 

governance mechanisms, the integration of board characteristics and the role of audit cannot be 

ignored.  

 

Unlike other studies, the number of women directors and number of independent non-executive 

directors had no significant relationship with firm performance. The result would imply that both 

women directors and independent non-executive directors do not have any impact in increasing 

board effectiveness and subsequently, in increasing firm performance. 

 

Future research of interest would be to explore the possible relationship of qualitative variables of 

the board directors (i.e. personal relationships, political network etc.) with firm performance in 

both good and poor market outlooks. A thorough personal interview with directors may help gain 

a deeper understanding of corporate governance. 
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TRANSITION TOWARDS ACCRUAL ACCOUNTING: COMMITMENT TO CHANGE 

IN THE MALAYSIAN PUBLIC SECTOR  

 

ABSTRACT 

 

Accrual accounting forms part of the public sector reform agenda to enhance financial 

accountability and to have improved asset-liability management. In this regard, the Government 

of Malaysia has decided to fully adopt accrual basis of accounting by 2015. Among the critical 

success factors in the transition towards accrual accounting is organisational commitment to 

change. This paper shares the findings from a study on the perception of public sector 

accountants on the government’s effort to shift to accrual accounting. Questionnaires were 

distributed to public sector accountants at various ministries. The analysis showed evidence of a 

moderate level of commitment to change among Federal Government accountants. Key 

recommendations from the study include the need to promote a change message and a detailed 

action plan to facilitate the implementation of accrual accounting. 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 

The Government of Malaysia has identified accrual accounting as one of the eight strategic 

reform initiatives to transform the public sector. Accrual accounting is expected to provide a 

more accurate reflection of the government’s financial position, as under accrual accounting all 

government assets and liabilities will be disclosed in financial reports. Under the current cash 

basis accounting, government assets and liability are not disclosed in financial statement, which 

could lead to poor asset-liability management and accountability. Good asset-liability 

management is critical for public finance sustainability as many of the assets or liabilities are 

long-term in nature and of very significant amounts.  

 

The transition to accrual accounting is challenging and would only yield benefits to the 

extent that people make use of the information. Huge costs are normally associated with the 

transition because substantial investments are required to implement the new system, train 

existing staff and employ new staff. Another major challenge in the change process is 

resistance from members of the organisation. 
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In addition, the change process can be very difficult due to challenges such as a lack of top 

management support, employee resistance, poor communication, lack of readiness and lack of 

expertise. These challenges usually lead to the change programmes either being abandoned 

halfway or not achieving their intended objectives. It is imperative that organisational and 

individual factors influencing change are examined closely to ensure the successful 

implementation of the change programme. Organisational and behavioural factors such as the 

structure of the organisation, information systems adopted, leadership, effective change message, 

efficient information flow, and positive attitude towards change are pertinent in ensuring a strong 

commitment towards the change. 

 

Good communication about the change process through various channels to transmit the change 

messages to all employees is paramount in generating commitment from employees. 

Organisations have to ensure that employees are well informed of the change initiatives to secure 

their support. Support from employees is not easily obtained if they do not know what are the 

specific changes taking place, how the changes are going to affect them and how they will benefit 

from the change process. Aremnakis et al. (2007) wrote that effective change message forms the 

backbone of successful change implementation.  

 

Various change agents (top leaders, supervisors) are usually responsible for transmitting change 

messages within the various levels of organisations. Effective flow of information and 

communication is very critical in achieving the objectives of change programmes. Research has 

shown that improved communication leads to employee job satisfaction and commitment, which 

could later result in improved organisational performance (Hargie & Tourish, 1996). 

Furthermore, attitude towards change has been identified as another factor that may influence the 

success of a change programme. According to Dunham et al., (1989), attitudes toward change 

generally consist of a person’s understanding about change, affective reactions to change, and 

behavioural tendency towards change. The people involved should not only accept reform but 

must have the technical ability to understand, implement and maintain the reform (Hepworth, 

2003).  
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Similarly, Fernandez and Rainey (2006) have identified eight important factors that require 

consideration at various stages of the change process:  

 

1. Ensuring there’s a need for change 

2. Provide a plan for the change 

3. Build internal support for change and overcome resistance 

4. Ensure top management support and commitment 

5. Build external support 

6. Provide resources 

7. Institutionalize change 

8. Pursue comprehensive change 

 

All the factors influencing organisational commitment to change or readiness to change discussed 

above must be assessed prior to the implementation of any change programme. Thus, critical 

factors for success including infrastructure support, human capital as well as organisational and 

behavioural factors influencing change must be assessed.  

 

The decision of the Malaysian Government to adopt accrual accounting system by 2015 

represents a significant step in public sector reform. In embracing the change towards accrual 

accounting, the government has to consider managing these efforts carefully to ensure its success.  

 

Many public sector research studies have highlighted the critical role played by public managers 

in bringing about organisational change (e.g. Abramson and Lawrence, 2001; Borins, 2000; 

Hennessey, 1998). Therefore, it is important to obtain awareness and perceptions of policy 

makers and implementers regarding organisational readiness to adopt accrual accounting. This 

paper aims to share findings on a study about the commitment to change among public sector 

accountants. The objectives of the study are two-fold: 1) to examine the levels of commitment to 

change among Federal Government accountants in Malaysia, and 2) to examine whether there are 

significant differences in terms of commitment to change between gender, self-accounting 

department versus non self-accounting department, job position, years of service and education 

levels. 
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2. METHODOLOGY  

 

This study uses a questionnaire survey to investigate the levels of commitment to change among 

accountants at Federal Government departments. Conner (1992, p. 147) defines commitment to 

change as “the glue that provides the vital bond between people and change goals”. According to 

Herscovitch and Meyer (2002, p. 475), commitment to change refers to “a mind-set that binds an 

individual to a course of action deemed necessary for the successful implementation of a change 

initiative”.  

 

Herscovitch and Meyer (2002) developed a model of commitment to change which comprises 

three components of organisational commitment to change: affective, normative and continuance 

commitment to change. Affective commitment to change refers to “a desire to provide support for 

the change based on a belief of its inherent benefit” (Herscovitch and Meyer, 2002) or “want to 

change” (Rashid, 2008). Normative commitment to change reflects the “sense of obligation to 

provide support for the change” (Herscovitch and Meyer, 2002) or “ought to change” (Rashid, 

2008). Continuance commitment to change is based on “recognition that there are costs 

associated with failure to provide support for the change” (Herscovitch and Meyer, 2002) or 

“have to change” (Rashid, 2008). 

 

To investigate the level of commitment to change among the respondents, a set of questions 

related to affective, normative and continuance commitment to change was designed based on the 

instrument developed by Herscovitch and Meyer (2002). Table 1 shows the items used to 

measure affective, normative and continuance commitment to change.  
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Table 1 - Measures for Commitment to Change 

COMMITMENT TO 

CHANGE- COMPONENTS 

 

INDICATORS 

Affective 

 

I believe in the value of this change.  

This change is a good strategy for this organisation.  

I think the management is making a mistake introducing this 

change. 

This change serves an important purpose. 

Things would be better without this change. 

This change is not necessary. 

 

Normative 

 

I feel a sense of duty to work toward this change. 

I do not think it would be right of me to oppose this change. 

I would not feel badly about opposing this change. 

It would be irresponsible of me to resist this change. 

I would feel guilty about opposing this change. 

I do not feel any obligation to support this change. 

 

Continuance 

 

I have no choice but to go along with this change.  

I feel pressured to go along with this change.  

I have too much at stake to resist this change.  

It would be too costly for me to resist this change. 

It would be too risky to speak out against this change. 

Resisting this change is not a viable option for me. 

 

 

The sample for data collection of this survey comprises accountants at the Federal Government. 

All ministries were included in the study. The self-administered questionnaires were sent to key 

personnel identified for each ministry, who then collected all the completed questionnaires and 

sent them to the researchers for analysis.   

 

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION 

 

Structured self-administered questionnaires were distributed to 600 respondents and a total of 465 

responses were received, representing a 77% response rate. The respondents comprise 

accountants from various levels at the ministries.  
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Table 2 - Demographic Profile of Respondents 

Background   Categories Frequency (%) 

Departments 

Self-accounting  264 56.8 

Non-self-accounting 

department 164 35.3 

No Response 37 8 

Gender  

Male 128 27.9 

Female  330 72.1 

No Response 7 1.5 

Education Background  

SPM 48 10.3 

Diploma 162 34.8 

Degree 202 43.4 

Master 33 7.1 

Professional accounting 12 2.6 

No Response 8 1.7 

Age 

Less Than 25 19 4.1 

25-30 114 24.5 

31-35 137 29.5 

36-40 68 14.6 

41-45 32 6.9 

Above 45 70 15.1 

No Response 25 5.4 

Current Position  

Accounting related 

position   352 75.7 

Non-accounting  78 16.8 

No Response 35 7.5 

Years In Current Position  

   

Less than 1 year 62 13.3 

1-5 years 256 58.6 

6-10 Years 119 25.6 

No Response 28 6.0 

Job Grade   

F44 and Below 11 2.4 

Above F44 10 2.2 

M17 and above 10 2.2 

N32 and Below 11 2.4 

Above N32  3 0.6 

W41 and Below 286 61.5 

Above W41  99 21.3 

No Response 35 7.5 

 

Table 2 shows the demographic profile of the respondents. In relation to accounting function, 

ministries are categorised into either self-accounting departments (SAD) or non-self-accounting 

departments (non-SAD). An SAD ministry would have its own accounting department to manage 

all accounting matters for the ministry. On the other hand, accounting matters for non-SAD 

ministries are administered by the Accountant General’s Department (AGD).   
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The majority of respondents (56.8%) were from self-accounting departments (SAD) while 35.3% 

were from non-self-accounting departments (Non-SAD). More than two-thirds (73.1%) of the 

respondents were female, which is consistent with the proportion of female staff in the 

accounting related departments. In terms of academic qualification, 88% of the respondents have 

at least a diploma and more than 50% have at least a degree. A majority of the respondents 

(75.7%) were in accounting related positions and almost 87% had more than one year experience 

in their current position. In measuring commitment to change, respondents were asked to rate 

their responses to the indicators shown in Table 1 on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 1-

strongly disagree to 7-strongly agree. Table 3 shows the survey result in details.  

 

Table 3 - Results on Commitment to Change  

  

N Minimum Maximum Mean 

Std. 

Deviation 

 

Commitment to change  (Overall) 

 

465 

 

1 

 

7 

 

4.22 

 

0.91 

 

Affective commitment to change  

 

453 

 

2 

 

7 

 

4.29 

 

0.65 

 

Continuance commitment to change 

 

445 

 

1 

 

7 

 

4.15 

 

0.94 

 

Normative commitment to change 

 

449 

 

1 

 

7 

 

4.50 

 

0.71 

 

The survey results indicate a moderate level of overall commitment to change with a mean of 

4.22 on the 7-point Likert scale. The mean for affective commitment to change (want to change) 

is 4.29 suggesting that respondents only felt moderately passionate towards the change agenda.  

Similarly, the mean for continuance commitment to change (ought to change) is 4.15 indicating 

that respondents are unclear of the needs to implement accrual accounting. On the other hand, 

normative commitment to change (have to change) fetched the highest mean (4.50) implying that 

respondents felt that they are obliged to the change towards accrual accounting. It shows that 

respondents feel that it is their responsibility to support the implementation of accrual accounting 

as outlined in the government policy and as directed by the top management.  

 

Respondents’ perceptions were analysed further to investigate the levels of variation in the 

perception towards commitment to change among the various sub-groups of accountants. The 

sub-groups used were male/female, SAD/non-SAD, work experience (above/below 5 years), job 

position (accounting/non-accounting), and education level (degree/non-degree holder). 

Independent sample T-Test was used to examine the differences in commitment to change 

between the various sub-groups. 
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Table 4 - Independent Sample T-Test  

 

Variables  Female/Male SAD/Non SAD 

Years in 

service 

(≤5 yrs/> 

5 yrs) 

Job Position 

(Acctg/Non- 

Acctg) 

Education 

(No 

degree/ 

degree and 

above) 

Commitment to 

Change 

F 4.17 SAD 4.83 
Not  

significant 

Not  

significant 

Not  

significant 
M 4.42  NON 4.48 

P-value = 0.034 P-value = 0.007 

 

The results of the independent sample T-Test shown in Table 4 indicate significant differences in 

the respondents’ perception to commitment to change only among two sub-groups: Female/male 

and SAD/non SAD. Even though the survey involved a larger number of female respondents, the 

commitment to change among male respondents was significantly higher. This could be due to 

the higher positions held by the male respondents, which make them more aware and involved in 

the change process.  

 

SADs record significantly higher levels which is consistent with our expectation, as SADs are 

more involved in the various process of preparing financial statements. However, commitment to 

change does not differ for respondents with varying duration of years in service, job position and 

education level. It shows that factors such as working period, education level and job position are 

not significant in influencing employees’ commitment to change.   

 

4. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

Commitment to change is among the most important drivers in ensuring successful 

implementation of any change agenda. As the Government of Malaysia is in the process of 

changing the accounting system from cash to full-accrual basis, commitment to change from 

accountants at various levels in the ministries and the AGD is crucial. Findings of this study 

indicate a modest commitment to change. In particular, respondents said that their commitment is 

driven mainly by the top-down instructions.  
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The survey also showed that gender and the existence of an accounting department significantly 

influences the commitment to change while education level, duration in job and job position do 

not do so. Although a majority of the respondents of this survey are female, their level of 

commitment to change is significantly lower than their male counterparts. Thus, it is imperative 

that the AGD focus and devise specific measures to influence this majority group. For example, 

training programmes that are designed to convince the accountants of the specific changes that 

will take place, how the changes affect them and how they will benefit from them. The 

significant difference between SAD and non-SAD ministries will be overcome when all 

ministries have their own accounting departments. 

 

Based on the findings of the study, several recommendations can be made. Among others, the 

change message has to be actively promoted to the accountants, change agents and sponsors. 

Effective promotion is necessary to engage everyone with the change process. Information on the 

overall picture of change and its effect should be shared not only with the management levels but 

also to all members of the organisation. This could contribute to enhancing the level of 

commitment to change. The team that is responsible for driving the change should specifically 

describe detailed action plans (programmes, timeline and responsibility) for each ministry in 

supporting the change towards accrual accounting. The training programmes at the ministry level 

should also be closely monitored and the trainers should be given clear instructions on the 

necessary training programmes.  
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ELECTRONIC CHARITY ORGANISATIONS PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS (e-COPA):  

ANALYTICAL REVIEW OF EVALUATION TOOLS FOR CHARITIES’ EFFICIENCY  

 

ABSTRACT 

 

Performance evaluation helps stakeholders to understand organisational operations, activities and 

efficiency. Without this, stakeholders would not know whether organisations are truthful in 

fulfilling their goals. Given the importance of performance evaluation for decision-making, there 

must be ways to measure performance efficiency. Based on empirical research findings, the 

electronic Charity Organisations Performance Analysis (e-COPA) is designed to measure the 

performance of these charity organisations. e-COPA is unique because it performs the functions 

of transforming the input data into an output that generates ratio analysis, and serves as an 

evaluation tool for a charity’s efficiency. It also has significant practical implications and 

potential for future market commercialisation - to be used by the charity organisations for their 

organisational self-assessment in indicating their performance efficiency towards its multiple 

stakeholders. In addition, it can be commercialised for the oversight and monitoring agency such 

as the Welfare Department, under the Ministry of Family, Women and Community Development 

for the purpose of grants and resource allocations disbursement. Corporations may also benefit, 

as this system acts as an analytical review evaluation tool for donation decision-making. 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 

Most businesses produce annual and monthly financial statements and comply with record-

keeping requirements. It has been argued by other studies that a fundamental role of financial 

statements is to “provide decision makers with information useful in making economic decisions” 

(i & Meigs, 1993). In the case of non-business organisations, such as charity organisations in 

Malaysia, the only primary source of information for users is the financial statement. However, 

the financial statements of these charity organisations are limited to the members of the 

organisations, and are not publicly available. The purpose of financial statements are for 

decision-making (Bushman & Smith, 2001) – mitigating agency conflicts between the managers 

and the owners of a firm (Fama & Jensen, 1983), and contracting relationships between the firm 

and outside parties (Jensen & Meckling, 1976).   
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The demand for not-for-profits’ financial statements has received little attention because they are 

not readily available (Allee & Yohn, 2009). As such, limited information about charity 

organisations are available to various stakeholders including donors and other service recipients – 

limiting the ways to understand the performance of these charity organisations, both financially 

and non-financially. This is unlike profit-making organisations, which have a number of other 

sources of information, which can be accessed by the public.  

 

A descriptive analysis of these charity organisations’ financial statements can serve as a starting 

point for identifying what is being reported. Furthermore ‘where we’re at’ is a necessary prelude 

to moving towards ‘where we want to be’ (Christensen & Mohr, 2003).  However, financial 

statement analysis so as to obtain insight into the financial performance of the organisation is 

often overlooked or not performed on a systematic and timely basis. Profit-making organisations 

seek to interpret and assess their financial statements through many ways but charities lack the 

tools to do so. To assist the stakeholders who are also the decision makers, an electronic Charity 

Organisations Performance Analysis (e-COPA) serves as a tool to analyse financial statements 

and deliver actionable insight for the charities.  

 

Financial ratio analysis is employed for Income Statement Analysis and Statement of Financial 

Position Analysis, and is incorporated in the e-COPA, to provide a unique picture of a charity 

organisation's financial performance position. Key financial ratios measured by e-COPA 

represent standard performance measures, which can be used by the organisation for their self-

assessment. The e-COPA can also be used by the income tax department, which seeks to analyse 

the income statement and balance sheet from a variety of financial performance perspectives, 

which include liquidity and efficiency.  In particular, the Inland Revenue Board (IRB) can use the 

efficiency ratio as a tool to measure the efficiency of the charity organisations.  In Malaysia, the 

IRB is the body responsible for granting tax-exempt status. Charity organisations may formally 

apply for tax exemptions under Section 44(6) of the Income Tax Act 1967. However, the IRB 

guidelines for application of Section 44(6) approval only requires general requirement of audited 

financial statements for the immediately preceding two years without the breakdown of the 

detailed components of the financial statements to be submitted.  
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The IRB stipulates two conditions for organisations to quality for tax-exempt status: (1) it must 

be established in Malaysia for charitable purposes only and (2) the organisation must spend at 

least 50% (or such percentage as may be determined by the Director General) of its income 

including donation received in the previous year for the activities which were approved to 

achieve its objectives for the basis period for a year of assessment [para 3.4 Section 44(6)].  The 

latter, is the basis of efficiency for the charity organisations. 

 

2. FINANCIAL REPORTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Financial reporting serves as a vital instrument in discharging accountability and a number of 

researchers (Connolly & Hyndman, 2004; Gurd & Palmer, 2010; Hooks, Coy, & Davey, 2002; 

Kilcullen, Hancock, & Izan, 2007; Wei, Davey, & Coy, 2008) have noted the importance of the 

annual report as a primary element for discharging accountability. Marston and Shrives (1991) 

reiterated that the annual report is the most comprehensive document available to the public and 

is therefore the “main disclosure vehicle” (p.196). It should include a comprehensive disclosure 

of the organisation’s financial elements of performance and financial position. In the scope of 

accountability, financial reporting and financial statements are fundamental in providing a 

response to the stakeholders for the purpose of discharging accountability (Gurd & Palmer, 

2010).  

 

The difference between financial reporting and financial statements was highlighted by Higson 

(2006).  Financial statements consist of balance sheet, cash flow statement, statement of income 

and expenditure, notes to the accounts and other supporting documents to reflect the “true and 

fair” view of the financial position.  On the other hand, financial reporting provides additional 

information (including financial information) which supplements and complements the financial 

statements.  Financial statements are important as they provide information in terms of the 

organisation’s financial position and performance.  Hyndman (1990) suggests that simplified 

financial statements would better serve the contributors of such organisations. Information is also 

important to the stakeholders, particularly to the donors making decisions whether to continue to 

contribute and support the charity (Caers et al., 2006).   Also, given that contributions are 

important for the charity’s future survival, the area in which the charity organisations should be 

communicating well is in terms of financial information (Howson & Barnes, 2009).  
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3. REGULATORY REQUIREMENT 

 

Regulatory and academic interest in charity reporting (Beattie & Jones, 1994; Christensen & 

Mohr, 2003; Connolly & Hyndman, 2004; Hooper, Sinclair, & Hui, 2008) corresponds to the 

growth of the charity sector in the economy.  This is shown in the estimated total annual income 

exceeding £45 billion, with the largest 706 charities in Europe attracting almost 50% of the 

charities’ income (Charity Commission, 2008).  In line with this growth, there has been pressure 

to improve transparency and accountability on how the charities discharge their responsibilities.  

One way of ensuring that charities are transparent and accountable to their stakeholders is 

through the disclosure of their financial reporting.  Even though the literature on financial 

reporting practices in charity organisations is extensive, there is limited amount of research 

undertaken which focuses on the financial statements except for a study conducted by Miller 

(1997) in Hong Kong on 91 annual reports, for the fiscal year 1991 to 1994  and a study from 

Malaysia by Noraini et al.,  (2006) on the annual reports of 32 charity organisations.  Both studies 

arrived at similar findings: that there is a varying degree of reporting practices among the 

charities. Furthermore, the lack of standardisation and application of Generally Accepted 

Accounting Policies (GAAP) has resulted in difficulties for users to understand and compare the 

charities’ financial statements (Bird & Morgan-Jones, 1981; Connolly & Hyndman, 2001).   

 

Comparison of performance and achievement were often difficult due to the diverse nature of the 

charity organisations, as they are established without standardised objectives, and profit is not a 

bottom line measure of success in managing resources (Anthony, 1978).  The above-mentioned 

issues further complicate the challenges in determining the performance of charity organisations.  

Although they are profound challenges within the charitable and non-profit sector, the accounting 

for non-profit organisations (NPOs) is regulated by certain standards in the same manner as the 

private sector in developed countries.  The financial reporting regulatory environments of 

developed countries in the UK, US and Canada have all adopted similar conceptual frameworks 

based on the decision-usefulness model and have all developed guidance for the NPOs sector.  
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Table 1 shows different standards required of various regulatory bodies from developed 

countries.   

Table 1 - Non-Profit Organisations Standards in Developed Countries 

Country Regulatory Body Standards Financial Statements 

 

United 

Kingdom 

 

UK Government 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Charity Commissioners 

 

1993: Charities Act 

1995:Charities 

(Accounts and Reports) 

Regulations 

1997: Charities (Annual 

Returns) Regulations 

 

1995: Statement of 

Recommended Practice 

(SORP): Accounting by 

Charities 

2000: SORP (2000) 

2005: Revised SORP 

(2005) 

 

 

Balance Sheet, 

Statement of Financial 

Activities, Cash flow 

Statement, Notes to the 

Accounts, Consolidated 

and Audit Report 

 

United States 

 

AICPA 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FASB 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SOX 

 

1972: Hospital Audit 

Guide 

1973: Audits of 

Colleges and 

Universities 

1973: Audits of 

Voluntary Health and 

Welfare Organisations 

 

1979: Statement of 

Position 

1979 – 1999: 

SFAC4 and 6, FASB 32, 

FASB 93, FASB 116, 

FASB 117, FASB 124, 

FASB 136 

 

Sarbanes Oxley Act 

(2002) 

 

 

Balance Sheet, 

Statement of Activities, 

Statement of Cash 

flow, Information about 

Service Efforts and 

Notes to the Accounts 

 

Canada 

 

CICA 

 

1997: CICA Handbook 

 

Balance Sheet, 

Operations Statement, 

Statement of Changes 

in Net Assets, 

Statement of Cash 

flow, Notes to the 

Accounts 
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The balance sheet is required by the non-profit organisations (NPOs) accounting systems.  In the 

UK and the USA, the NPOs use the list format while Canada use the account format. More 

differences were found between countries in relation to the operating statement rather than in the 

balance sheet.  In the UK, for example, a statement of financial activities was made up of income 

and expenditure by types of funds.  In Canada and the USA, the items of fundraising, 

administration and charitable expenditure are distinguished in the NPOs statement of financial 

activities. Even though there are different models of operating statements shown by the three 

developed countries under study, the content is similar, because additional information provided 

through notes or in other statements make the comparative study among countries easier.  Of late, 

the joint project undertaken by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the 

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) to develop a common conceptual framework will 

lead to financial reporting that provides the information needed by the stakeholders. The 

conceptual framework project commenced in 2005, which was adopted by Australia for many 

years, and was then revised on the idea that external financial reports by NPOs entities should be 

useful for assessing both the accountability and decision-making (Hancock, Izan, & Kilcullen, 

2010). 

 

All societies in Malaysia that are NPOs are required to be registered with the Registrar of 

Societies (ROS). They are subject to the Societies Act 1966 (Act 335) & Regulations. Other 

NPOs can be registered as a company limited by guarantee under the Registrar of Companies 

(ROC). Compared to regulatory requirements in developed countries, there is minimum 

regulatory requirement for NPOs in Malaysia.  In the absence of standards for Malaysian NPOs’ 

reporting, compliance with Financial Reporting Standards (FRS) applicable to the business sector 

is encouraged. At the same time, the NPOs may adopt the ED 52 Private Entity Reporting 

Standards (PERS) in the preparation of their financial statements.   
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Table 2 - Regulatory Requirement for Non-Profit Organisations in Malaysia 

Country Regulatory Body Regulatory Financial Statements 

 

Malaysia 

 

Registry of Society 

(ROS) 

 

 

 

Inland Revenue 

Board (IRB) for tax-

exempt status 

 

1966: Societies Act (Act 

335) & Regulations 

[Section 14(D)] 

Form 9 

 

Income Tax Act 1967 

[Section 44(6)] 

 

Statement of Receipts 

and Payments and the 

Balance Sheet 

 

 

Audited Financial 

Statements 

 

 

Organisations registered under the ROS must submit Form 9 that consists of the Statement of 

Receipts and Payments of the last financial year, along with a balance sheet showing the financial 

position at the close of the last financial year to the ROS within 60 days after holding its annual 

general meeting.1 This requirement is in accordance with Section 14(D) of the Societies Act 1966 

(Act 335) & Regulations. However, the accounts submitted may not necessarily be audited. Other 

supplementary statements such a Cash Flow Statement, Statement of Changes in General Fund 

and Notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes 

are not required by the ROS. 

 

4. FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE BY RATIO ANALYSIS 

 

Financial performance measures are essential components in assessing overall organisational 

effectiveness (Cameron, 1986). However, it is not easy to measure performance of NPOs due to 

the absence of profit motive, difficulties in measuring outputs, lack of similar objectives and lack 

of consensus in evaluating performance. These have resulted in a serious gap in the financial 

performance measures. The purpose of NPOs is not to maximise income, but to carry out the 

mission of the organisation, which usually focuses on the provision of services. In addition, 

organisational performance is complicated by the absence of a single end product, and the 

presence of multiple stakeholders (Herman & Renz, 2008).  

 

                                                 
1 Section 14(1) of the Societies Act 1966 (Act 335) & Regulations. 
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Despite the gap, there are many tested financial performance measures in the NPOs literature 

(Glynn, Murphy, Perrin, & Abraham, 2003). Financial performance measures or financial health 

of NPOs is important in making resource allocations decisions and a further understanding of this 

financial health is crucial in achieving the long-term success and survival of these organisations 

(Kirchner, Markowski, & Ford, 2007). For NPOs, these financial measures or indicators are 

signals used to convey evidence that assessment of the desired missions are being achieved. 

Financial performance measures have also been recognised as essential components of NPOs as 

they are accountable to the use of donors’ money in pursuing social missions (Ruhaya, Saunah, 

Sharifah, & Roland Yeow, 2013).  

 

There were numerous discussions with regards to specific financial performance measures for 

NPOs due to various performance measures being used. High-level financial performance 

indicators were interpreted to be ratios. Financial indicators (ratio analysis) were also commonly 

used as one form of financial performance measurement to assess the organisational strengths and 

weaknesses in NPOs studies. Evaluation of financial performance by using factor analysis were 

gathered using data from university foundations for the period 1990 to 1999 through three 

financial performance ratios of fundraising efficiency, public support and fiscal performance 

ratios (Ritchie & Kolodinsky, 2003). The study provided a viable model of performance ratios 

that can be used by the researchers and practitioners of NPOs using ratios measuring the 

availability and use of financial resources to support the organisational mission were conducted 

(Greenlee & Bukovinsky, 1998). They used five ratios for financial resources availability in five 

types of NPOs: Arts, Culture and Humanities, Education, Human Needs, Community Services 

and Health.  

 

At the same time, ratio analysis is used as an analytical review tool to answer a different set of 

questions: (1) Are the goals of the organisation consistent with the financial resources it needs to 

finance those goals? (2) Is the organisation maintaining inter-generational equity? (3) Is there an 

appropriate matching between the sources from which resources are derived, and the uses to 

which they are put and (4) Are present resources sustainable? The series of these questions imply 

the underlying goals or missions for the organisation.  
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Several authors have studied the effect of financial ratios, particularly the efficiency ratios on 

donations (as a measure of financial performance). Ratio analysis is a well-established tool to 

evaluate an organisation’s profitability, liquidity and financial stability. Financial ratio analysis 

also formalises and quantifies financial data to facilitate comparison within an organisation. 

Every ratio is designed to discover certain types of warning signs in relation to the underlying 

health of the organisation. The warning signs may suggest a proper treatment plan to rectify the 

current situation.  

 

The roles of five of the most commonly used ratios are summarised in Table 3.  

 

Table 3 - Role of Ratios in NPOs Performance Evaluation 

Ratios Role of Ratios in NPOs Performance Evaluation 

 

Asset turnover 

 

Matches assets and goals.  Slow turnover assets required 

considerable investment and reduced flexibility. 

 

Profitability and return 

on invested capital 

 

 

Analyses intergenerational equity and the match between 

source and uses of money.  Neither excessive profits nor 

losses are desirable. 

 

Liquidity and solvency 

 

Matches sources and uses of financial resources.  Is the 

organisation flirting with insolvency in the short-term or in 

the long-term? 

 

Percentage of revenues, 

by source 

 

Analyses quality of revenues and relation to mission.  Is the 

organisation excessively dependent on a few revenue sources?  

Are revenue sources consistent with the organisation’s 

mission? 

 

Percentage of expenses, 

by type 

 

Analyses quality of expenses and relation to mission. A large 

percentage of fixed expenses decreases the organisation’s 

flexibility.  Are expenses consistent with the organisation’s 

mission? 
 

 

Source:  Herzlinger and Nitterhouse (1995)  
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In order to measure financial performance in NPOs, it is essential to consider the organisation’s 

mission that has been discussed in the previous section. The questions posed can be answered 

through the capability of ratio analysis as a tool in evaluating charities’ efficiency. In support of 

their activities, charities need finances and resources for them to continue their operations. Ratio 

analysis addresses the ways in which resources are used to fulfil the organisation’s mission.  

Efficiency ratios meanwhile give indications of how the financial resources available are used to 

support the charities’ mission. Efficiency ratios measure the extent to which expenses are related 

to the mission divided by total expenses. The purpose of the performance efficiency ratio is to 

ensure that the expenses spent are consistent with the organisation’s mission. The performance 

efficiency ratio is computed by dividing total revenues to total expenses. 

 

5. THE DESIGN OF ELECTRONIC CHARITY ORGANISATIONS PERFORMANCE 

ANALYSIS (e-COPA) 

 

In developing e-COPA, the three most important ratios used are the liquidity ratio, debt ratio and 

performance efficiency ratio. The following formula were used in computing the ratio analysis. 

 

Table 4 - Formula for Ratios 

 Type of Ratio Formulas 

 

 

 

i. 

 

 

 

Liquidity Ratio 

 

Current Ratio = Current Assets___   

                          Current Liabilities 

 

Quick Ratio = Current Assets – Prepayments 

                                Current Liabilities 

 

ii. 

 

Debt Ratio 

 

Debt Ratio = Total Liabilities  x 100 

                      Total Assets  

 

iii. 

 

Program Efficiency Ratio 

 

Program Efficiency Ratio = Charity Expenses  x 100  

                                              Total Expenses  

 

Current and quick ratios are used to measure the liquidity ratio. The current ratio measures 

whether the organisation can repay its financial obligations on time and the quick ratio measures 

whether the organisation is able to repay its current liabilities from its liquid assets. A quick ratio 

of 1 is considered an ideal ratio.   
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Debt ratio indicates how the organisation is utilising outside (non-owner supplied) funds to 

finance its assets. For example, a debt ratio of 5.29% means for every ringgit of assets, an 

organisation has 5.29 cents financed by sources outside the organisation.  Generally, low debt 

ratios put the organisation in a less risky financial position and high debt ratios mean that the 

organisation has a greater risk.  

 

Program Efficiency Ratio measures the ability of the organisation to utilise its funds for 

charitable activities. A higher ratio indicates that the organisation is efficient in utilising its funds 

for charity programmes. As a general rule, the IRB sets out 50% as the minimum percentage of 

charity expenses for the organisation to eligible for tax-exempt status.  

 

In e-COPA, the user of the system only needs to key-in the figure of (1) Current Assets, (2) 

Current Liabilities, (3) Prepayments, (4) Total Liabilities, (5) Total Assets, (6) Charity Expenses 

and (7) Total Expenses of the charity organisation to generate the ratio analysis. 

 

Figure 1 - A Calculation Feature of e-COPA 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The result of the ratio analysis will be displayed in a web-based format. The user can also 

download the results in PDF format.  
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Figure 2 - Example of Ratio Analysis Result 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6. e-COPA TECHNICAL DESIGN 

 

e-COPA was developed using the Rapid Application Development (RAD) model. The RAD 

model uses a group approach and relies on prototyping and user involvement.  

 

Figure 3 - The e-COPA development process using the RAD model 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Shelly & Rosenblatt (2010). System Analysis and Design, 8th. ed. 

REQUIREMENT 
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system testing 
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The e-COPA was developed in a web-based platform using the PHP and HTML5. This tool also 

provides all information related to charity organisation performance analysis. We developed the 

user-friendly interface of e-COPA to ensure that users can understand how to use this tool. A 

demonstration was conducted with several organisations to obtain feedback - most gave positive 

responses to the e-COPA and felt that this tool is very helpful in identifying suitable charity 

organisations.  

 

Figure 4 - The screen shots of e-COPA 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Main page of e-COPA web site 

First page of e-COPA calculator 

A calculation feature of e-COPA 

Result of ratios analysis 



 

63 

7. SIGNIFICANT CONTRIBUTION 

 

E-COPA is a system that acts as a function of transforming input data into an output which 

automatically generates financial performance ratios from which there are significant practical 

implications. It also has promising potential for future market commercialisation for charity 

organisations stakeholders.  The reviews are presented in the form of financial ratios to evaluate 

the performance efficiency of the charity organisations.  Furthermore, it can be used by the 

charity organisations for their organisational self-assessment to indicate their performance 

efficiency towards its multiple stakeholders. In addition, it can be commercialised to oversight 

and monitoring agencies such as the Welfare Department, under the Ministry of Family, Women 

and Community Development.  Corporations may also benefit from this system; using it as a 

monitoring device for grants and resource allocations disbursement.  

 

8. CONCLUSION 

 

Charities seem to put less emphasis on sound financial management.  In addition, many founders 

and managers of charities are unfamiliar with the practices of professional non-profit 

management.  Specifically, this study found that financial performance measures in the form of 

ratios are affiliated with the organisations’ mission. Thus, the use of these performance efficiency 

ratios can be seen as distinctive dimensions of measurement in judging the financial health of 

charity organisations.  The outcomes from this study provide the stakeholders with a number of 

financial performance measures.  This enables relatively easy assessment of charities’ financial 

performance.   

 

Financial ratios, by themselves should guide management decision-making, however, there is a 

lot about charities that cannot be quantified through ratio analysis, for example, leadership, 

reputation or community support (Chabotar, 1989).  In addition, different charities have different 

needs for financial analysis and tend to emphasise different ratios. The educational sector 

carefully monitors their resource inflows and outflows based on per capita or per student.  The 

health sector examines the structures of operating revenues, especially concerns over patient 

services or the type of expenses by condition or treatment.  As such, financial management must 

be seen as important in the charity context through competent skills, qualifications and 

experience of the founders, managers, leaders and volunteers lack in the charities.  
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 AUDIT FEES IN MALAYSIA – EVIDENCE FROM LISTED COMPANIES  

 

 

ABSTRACT 

Audit fees charged in Malaysia were found to be the lowest among ASEAN countries - raising 

questions on the factors influencing audit fees in Malaysia, which is the main aim of this study. 

This study examines the impact of auditee size, risk, complexity, auditor’s opinion, auditor size 

and non-audit services on the fees. For this study, data from 100 companies were collected and 

analysed and interviews were held to capture the interviewee’s experiences; enabling 

contextualisation for the analysis of the issue. The overall finding of this study indicates that size 

and complexity have the most significant influence on audit fees. As for risk, the ratio ‘inventory 

and receivables over total assets’ are significantly related to audit fees. Several practical 

suggestions are included to help improve future study on audit fees.  

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 

Auditors are professionals who perform an independent evaluation on the financial reporting 

processes or systems of any legal organization in accordance with specific law and regulations. 

They are expected to provide assurance on the reality and fairness of an organization’s financial 

status, offer recommendation on controls and processing system weakness and confirming 

accounting treatment on business transactions.  

 

Auditors act as an agent for shareholders, protecting their interests. However when a company 

pays external auditors for their services, the question may arise whether auditors are 

compromising their independence and are working for the management instead of the 

shareholders. Impairment of the auditor’s independence has been highlighted following high-

profile financial scandals, which make the headlines almost every year. This includes the biggest-

ever corporate failure in the world, Enron and WorldCom and the recent case involving Standard 

Chartered Bank. As a result of these corporate failures, regulators have been at the forefront of 

addressing financial issues.  
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The fall of Enron and WorldCom called for high-quality and transparent financial reporting in the 

capital markets (Swanson, 2008). New regulations and legislation were enacted to expand the 

quality and accuracy of financial reporting for public companies. Transparent financial reporting 

refers to financial statements with zero material misstatements, omissions or biases that avoid 

wrong investment decision-making by investors. In response to the corporate failures, the US 

Senate amended existing requirements of the Securities Act 1934 by implementing Sarbanes 

Oxley Act (SOX) (US 70th Congress, 2002). SOX of 2002 thereafter developed the Public 

Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) to ensure financial information is fairly 

presented to investors and the auditors comply with all applicable auditing standards. One of the 

steps taken by SEC to protect the investors is to mandate fee disclosures in financial reporting. 

From 2001 onwards, companies registered under the SEC must disclosure the fees paid to their 

auditors in the financial reporting – a move that was appreciated by the public and investors 

because this information is used to assess the credibility of financial reporting and corporate 

governance.  

 

Subsequently many countries mandated public disclosure of audit fees, such as the Australian 

authority under AASB 101 (Craswell and Francis, 1999).  In Belgium, audit fees have been made 

more transparent in the post-Enron disclosure regime (Caneghem, 2009) while in Malaysia, we 

have put in place various governance steps to address these issues, one of which was a guideline 

on audit fees calculations. The overall objective of this research is to analyse the factors 

influencing audit fees paid in Malaysia.  

 

2. PRIOR EMPIRICAL EVIDENCE 

 

2.1 Kuwait. A survey was conducted in Kuwait by Meshari (2008) - a sample was picked from 

49 audit appointments in 2005. The researcher measured the auditee size using total assets and 

the result revealed that audit fees positively related to the auditee size, and auditee profitability. 

However, it did not offer significant co-relation between risk (debt-to-equity ratio) and audit firm 

size. The researcher pointed out the fact that the audit services in Kuwait may be dissimilar 

compared with more developed countries. Waresul Karim and Moizer (1996) further emphasized 

that some findings obtained from developed countries need not be applicable in a less-developed 

country context. 
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2.2 Jordan. Naser et al., (2007) drew his sample from the Amman Stock Exchange (ASE) 

and the directory of ASE for the year 2000/2001. In his research, auditee size was measured by 

the number of employees, and this variable turned out to be the strongest one to determine the 

audit fee charged. These results are consistent with other researchers such as Chan et. al., (1993) 

and Joshi and Al-Bastaki (2000). His studies have also shown a positive relationship between 

audit fee and auditor size. Auditor size has been classified into national and national affiliated 

firms, which medium size audit firms with affiliations to the Big 4, charge higher fees compared 

to the local firms. This finding is consistent with Craswell and Francis (1999).  In addition, 

complexity is found to have a positive relationship with audit fees, however, industry type, level 

of gearing, corporate year-end and time lag between year-end appear to be insignificant in 

determining audit fees. The researcher studied the determinants of audit fees in a year after the 

Jordan companies started to disclose their fees, so this study would be inappropriate, as it doesn’t 

provide a clear picture. 

 

2.3 Greece. A sample of 145 companies was drawn from a population of 342 companies that 

were listed on the Athens Stock Exchange as of December 2000. This study suggests that audit 

fees are positively influenced by auditee size, the number of hours spent by auditors, appointment 

of Big 5 audit firms and auditee financial position. On the other hand, it is negatively influenced 

by a change in auditor and the auditee profitability. Furthermore, Ansah and Leventis (2010) 

found no evidence to support public issuance shares in the variations of audit pricing in Greece. 

 

2.4 Ireland. Simon and Taylor (2002) studied the factors influencing audit fees in a sample of 

377 observations on 75 different Irish auditees during the years 1990-1999. Data were collected 

from annual reports, which were listed in Moody’s International Manual or found in the Global 

Vantage database. The results show that the auditee size, auditee risk, and audit complexity are 

important in explaining audit fees. Their finding also supports the argument that auditor size has 

an impact on the audit fees paid. 

 

2.5 Australia. Samples were drawn from 1995 to1999. As expected from previous research 

studies, audit fees have a positive relation to client size, client complexity (square root of the 

number of subsidiaries and the number of foreign subsidiaries) and risk measured by quick ratio 

(current assets to total assets and leverage) (Carson and Fargher, 2007). The finding, however, 

failed to find evidence of discounting audit fees to obtain non-audit service fees. 
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2.6 China. The sampling for this paper were listed companies in Shanghai and Shenzhen 

Securities. Financial firms were excluded in the study due to the nature of financial reporting. 

With the 1,426 observations collected from China Stock Market Accounting Research (CSMAR) 

over the year 2009, it is interesting to note that audit fees were not significantly associated with 

auditee risk. Audit fees were also not significantly associated with audit opinion or net profit. 

This result indicates that contingence fees do not exist in the Chinese audit market, Xin and 

Xiaobo (2011). Similarly, Zhang Jixun (2005) concluded that the ratio of inventory in total asset 

was not related to audit fees. Liu Bin (2003) further argued that in an audit opinion, proxy of an 

audit risk was not related to audit fees. This shows that audit fees are influenced by client size 

and takes little account of audit risks.  In addition, Xin and Xiaobo (2011) stated that larger audit 

firms mean higher fees. These findings supported previous research findings by Choi et al., 

(2008). 

 

2.7 Malaysia. Che Ahmad et. al., (2006) found that variables such as auditee size, auditee 

complexity significantly relate to audit fees, unlike audit risk (as measured by proportion of 

assets represent by inventory and receivables) and types of auditor (Big 5 vs non-Big 5). Simon et 

al., (1992) found that a Big 6 in Hong Kong enjoys a fee premium, whereas there was weak 

evidence of this in Singapore, and no evidence of this in Malaysia. They concluded that the 

Malaysian market did not have the need for quality-differentiated audits mainly because the 

regulatory environment in Malaysia permitted little involvement by international investors in the 

operation of companies and most of the companies in Malaysia were family-owned and 

controlled even after going public. Moreover, an empirical study investigated by Nikkinen and 

Sahlström, (2003) pointed out some developed countries counted risk cost in audit fees. Based on 

this finding, which covers companies in Denmark, Hong Kong, Malaysia, Norway, Singapore, 

South Africa, and the UK, the performance of the model seems to differ across countries. This 

may indicate that the risk is not taken into account when auditing services are priced. 
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Table 1 summarizes relationship of audit fees to several variables in different countries. 

 

Table 1 – Relationship of audit fees with its variables in different context 

 

 Kuwait  Jordan  Greece  Ireland  Australia  China  Malaysia  

Auditee size  positive  positive  positive  positive  positive  positive  positive  

Auditee 

complexity  

 positive   positive  positive  negative  positive  

Auditee Risk  negative    positive  positive  negative  negative  

Non Audit 

Services  

    No 

evidence  

 negative  

Auditor’s 

Opinion  

     negative   

Audit Firm-

Big 4/5  

negative positive  positive  positive   positive  negative  

 

 

3. HYPOTHESES DEVELOPMENT 

 

3.1 Auditees Size 

H1 : Total assets positively related to audit fees 

Prior researchers found positive association between audit fees and auditee size (Simunic, 1980; 

Che Ahmad and Houghton, 2001; and Maher et al., 1992). 

 

3.2 Auditees Complexity  

H2 : Number of subsidiaries positively related to audit fees  

Auditee complexity and auditee size commonly resulted in positive correlation with audit fees 

(Francis and Stokes, 1996; Maher et al., 1992; Carcello et al., 2002). Hypothetically, this study 

expects that the complexity of auditee financial reporting resulted in more effort, and as such, the 

more hours spent by auditors, the higher the audit fees. 

 

3.3 Auditees Risks  

H3 : Leverage positively related to audit fees  

H4 : The ratio ‘accounts receivable and inventory over total assets’ is positively related to audit 

fees 

Most researchers from developed countries revealed that leverage has a positive association with 

audit fees (Simon and Francis, 1988; Palmrose, 1996) unlike in Malaysia, Che Ahmad et al., 

(2006) where there is a significant negative relationship between debt ratio and audit fees. 
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3.4 Auditor’s Opinion 

H5 : Auditor’s opinion has a positive relation to audit fees  

Many previous studies have found that audit opinion has a significantly positive relationship with 

audit fees (Palmrose, 1986; and Francis & Simon, 1987).  

 

3.5 Auditor’s Size  

H6 : Auditor’s size has a positive relation to audit fees 

Auditor size, Big 4 and non-Big 4, is always linked to the audit fee charged. Big 4 audit firms are 

perceived to provide quality audit and therefore command higher fees. The Big Four brand name 

is also an advantage – assuring auditees that the firm can provide a better audit job (Palmrose, 

1986; Francis & Simon, 1987 and Che Ahmad, 2001). 

 

3.6 Non- Audit Services 

H7: Non Audit Services has a negative relation to audit fees 

Bell et al., (2001) found that non-audit fees significantly influenced audit fees in the US. 

Similarly, Australian (Butterworth and Houghton, 1995), and UK data (Craswell and Francis, 

1999) found that this variable directly influenced audit fees. Hence, a negative relationship 

between audit fees and non-audit fees is expected in this study. This is consistent with studies in 

Malaysia conducted by Halil et al., (2012) and Che Ahmad et. al., (2006). 

 

4. RESEARCH DESIGN 

 

A sample of 100 companies was drawn from Bursa Malaysia’s website. The samples were 

extracted from the Industrial Product Sector for the year 2010.  This study was limited to the 

Industrial Product Sector to enable researchers to complete the research within the allotted 

timeframe.  

 

In this study, secondary data were analysed in two ways; in tabulated form and regressions. For 

the tabulated form, audit fees were arranged based on a reasonable range – studying the pattern of 

audit fee charged from a smaller to larger scale. The information given in the table was 

designated by appropriate range of variables values extracted from annual reports where the 

presentation became simple, planned, unambiguous and logical. Besides tabulation form, 

multiple regressions were also used to analyse the results through the frequency and percentage 

tables, which increases the reliability of the results.  
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The Audit fee model used is the replication and modification of the one used in the previous 

research (Craswell et al., 1995; Ferguson et al., 2003; Giroux and McLelland, 2008). The 

significant level was set at p<0.05. The objective is to test their potential influence on external 

audit fee. The explanation of the model is in Table 2. 

 

LogFEE = b0 + b1LogTA + b2AUDITOR + b3OPINION + b4LEV + b5INVREC + b6SUBS +b7NAS          

 

Table 2 - Explanation of Audit Fee Model 

LOGFEE Log10 total audit fees  

LOGTA Log10 of total assets  

AUDITOR Indicator variable having a value of 1 if the auditor is the Big Four firm and 0 

if otherwise 

OPINION Indicator variable having a value of 1 if the firm receives a qualified audit 

opinion and 0 if otherwise 

LEV Total long-term debt (excluding deferred tax) to total equity 

INVREC Total inventories and account receivables to total assets 

LOGSUBS Log10 of the number of subsidiaries 

LOGNAS  Log10 of the non-audit services fees 

 

 

5. RESEARCH RESULTS 

 

Auditee size (total assets) is the most significant variable in determining audit fees. However, 

there is some evidence that points to the possibility of economies of scale in the auditors’ costs, 

and the existence of more sophisticated internal control procedures in large-sized companies, 

which helps to reduce the audit work and the fees (Joshi and Al-Bastaki, 2000). The range of total 

assets included is quite broad, but some observations can be made, such as when the companies 

held approximately RM140 million assets, audit fees charged were RM110,000. Similarly, when 

total assets increase to RM690 million, audit fees increased by 110%. This explains that higher 

total assets should trigger higher audit fees.  

 

This finding concurred with Palmrose (1986) and Turpen (1990), who argued that total assets 

have a direct impact on the auditors' work which in turn leads to higher fees. Numerous literature 

have affirmed that a positive relationship exists between audit fees and auditee size. This study 

uses multiple regressions to further analyse the factors influencing external audit fees and to 

further support the analysis on existing dataset from annual reports.  
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The output shows the overall model is significant (p<0.0000), with Adj R2 of 0.68. These are 

lower than those reported by Che Ahmad and Derashid (1996), which is 0.75. However, the 

adjusted R2 of this study is higher compared to Rose (1999) and Meshari (2008), which was 0.66 

and 0.57 respectively. 

 

Other than auditee size, auditee complexity is another significant variable that influences audit 

fees. Researchers argue that complexity of company operations may lead to higher audit fees 

because more audit work is needed and a higher fee per hour is charged (Cameran, 2005; Firth, 

1985). One of the indicators to measure complexity is the number of subsidiaries (SUBS). These 

SUBS variable is more complex to audit compared to other current assets such as cash because it 

involves more audit tests and needs special attention. That they are derived from different 

transactions make them difficult to evaluate (Arens and Loebbecke, 1994; Wallace 1984). All 

these factors will increase audit fees. The data is randomly arranged from zero to the maximum 

of 90 subsidiaries. Findings from previous studies are consistent with the results obtained - the 

more the SUBS the greater the impact on audit fees. As expected, LOGSUBS and total audit fee 

were found with a high correlation of 0.580. LOGSUBS variable have a positive and significant 

regression coefficient at (p<0.05).  

 

Sandra and Patrick (1996) revealed that auditing a group of companies with many subsidiaries or 

branches is associated with extra work and hours. More hours are needed to examine a greater 

number of subordinates’ financial statements. Moreover, auditors also need to test the compliance 

of reporting requirements in the countries they operate. This resulted in additional audit tasks, 

which would need the expertise of testing the intra group transactions, taxation implication, 

foreign currency transactions, transfer pricing and many more thus entailing higher audit fees. In 

the Malaysian context, Che-Ahmad and Abidin (2008) found evidence that LOGSUBS is highly 

correlated to hours spend by auditors. The sample used in their study consists of publicly held 

Malaysian companies, which were listed on both the Main Board and the Second Board of the 

Bursa Malaysia as at 31 December 1993. They conclude that auditors auditing a diversified 

company are expected to do extensive tests, which makes audit more expensive.  
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Auditee risk is tested using two ratios namely: 1) INVREC (the ratio of inventory and receivables 

over total assets), and 2) leverage (total long-term debt excluding deferred taxation over total 

equity). The result shows INVREC has a significant relationship with audit fees. As mentioned 

earlier, INVREC is high-risk area that needs huge coverage and more attention; for instance, 

companies that carry huge inventories need to perform physical inventory count in the presence 

of the external auditor to avoid fraud. Higher ratio drives more verification by auditors to 

authenticate its balances in the financial position (Che Ahmad and Abidin, 2008). As such, it 

becomes a significant determinant of audit fees.  

 

Based on the study carried out by O’Sullivan (1999) and Carcello et al., (2002), the sum of 

receivables and inventory over total assets is used as a proxy for audit risk because companies 

with higher amount of inventories and receivables would expect to have higher risk due to bad 

debts and inventories written off. These accounts are difficult to value because they are in an area 

susceptible to fraud. Firth (1997), explains the high ratio of receivables and inventory represents 

a higher level of business risk, which requires more testing and consequently the audit become 

more expensive. INVREC shows significant variable in determining the audit fee (p < 0.05).   

 

The magnitude of leverage is tested to find the relationship with audit fees. Generally, a higher 

ratio exhibits a greater level of risk because long-term debt could raise agency costs, add audit 

efforts and the duration of audit engagement. This directly develops fees (Jensen and Meckling, 

1976). However, Che-Ahmad and Abidin (2008) did not see any connection between leverage 

and fees prevailing in Malaysian companies. Leverage appears to be statistically insignificant to 

audit fees (p>0.05), but this is not an expected sign. Che Ahmad and Abidin, 2008 explained that 

a negative relation was found due to Malaysia’s business environment, which has a low 

dependency on bank borrowings as compared to more developed countries, and as such the 

degree of leverage is not priced in the same direction as practiced in developed countries. 

Previous studies show that the association between audit fees and leverage is mixed. Francis and 

Simon (1987), found leverage to be insignificant to audit pricing in the US, whereas Francis and 

Stokes (1986) found a positive association in Australia. Collier and Gregory (1996) reported a 

positive relationship between audit fees and leverage in the UK. Joshi and Al-Bastaki (2000) 

found a positive association between audit fees and leverage in Bahrain and Sandra and Patrick 

(1996) showed a positive association between audit fees and leverage in Hong Kong.  
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Opinion is negatively correlated with LOGFEE, LOGSUBS, LEV, LOGNAS and LOGTA with p 

value higher than 0.05 and represented with t-ratios lesser than +/-2. It is found that auditor 

opinion has no influence on audit fees paid. This is an unexpected result and corresponds with 

previous studies conducted by Che Ahmad and Abidin, 2008; Craswell et al., 1995; and Craswell 

and Francis 1999.  

 

This finding contradicts with that of Houghton and Jubb (1999), which argued that auditees tend 

to pay higher fees when an audit qualification is issued because these take into account the 

number of tests involved to derive such a qualified opinion. Similarly, Bamber et al. (1993) 

reported that qualified opinions are issued following careful consideration, time and effort spent 

by the auditors.  But this theory contradicts with that of Ashton et. al., (1989) who found clean 

audit opinions associated with longer audit delays, and consequently resulted in higher fees. 

Another interesting finding by Teoh (1992), argued that the auditee threat of switching auditors 

could influence auditor opinion and thus, independence. In short, auditors will have to evaluate 

the situation between being independent and issuing a qualified opinion or face the likelihood of 

dismissal. Correspondingly, new auditors will highly likely spend more time on audit work in 

order to study and understand their new clients, which in turn will also result in high fees (Che 

Ahmad and Abidin 2008). 

 

The AUDITOR variable is statistically insignificant (p>0.05). This shows that Big 4 audit firms 

engaged in the Industrial Product Sector do not appear to enjoy an audit fee premium. This 

finding is consistent with Simunic, 1980; Meshari, 2008; and Firth, 1985 who could not find 

evidence of fee premium paid to Big 4 audit firms. Equally, Chung and Lindsay (1988) also 

found no evidence of a Big 6 premium in the Canadian market. Chung and Narasimhan (2002) 

conducted a survey across 12 countries and they found that auditors are charging more in 

developed countries compared to developing countries. This result corresponds with the 

regression result of this study, as no premium was found in the audit fees charged by Big 4 audit 

firms in Malaysia. 
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LOGNAS is not significant at 0.05 levels, therefore, the alternative hypothesis is not supported. 

Researchers found that non-audit services (NAS) did not influence audit fees paid in Public 

Listed Companies in Malaysia. Similarly, Butterworth and Houghton (1995) found the same 

result and in Malaysia, Md Yusof & Che Ahmad (2000) argued that there is no statistical 

evidence to prove the relationship between these two variables. This result contradicts with that 

of Firth (2002), who argued that a NAS service is demanded by a company and therefore 

additional audit effort is required. He came to this conclusion based on sample of 314 UK listed 

companies. Due to a separation of shareholders’ and managers’ interest, auditors are expected to 

provide assurance against the misinterpretation of financial statement even with the acquisition of 

NAS. Such a situation requires the auditor to increase its effort, raising the demands of the 

auditing process, and correspondingly the fees. 

 

Table 3 – Secondary Data Analysis: Factors influencing the amount of audit fees paid 

 

Variables  Results  

Auditees Size  found a positive pattern  

Auditees Complexity found a positive pattern  

Auditee Risk LEVERAGE – not influence by fees  

INVREC – positive 

Auditor’s Opinion  Could not justify  

Auditor’s Size non-Big 4 audit more companies compared to  Big 4  

Non Audit Services (NAS) Higher NAS, higher the revenue - But 

not influenced by fees  

 

Table 4 – Regression Analysis of the factors influencing the amount of audit fees paid 

 

Hypothesis  p - value  Results  

H
1 

: Total assets positively related to audit fees   0.00000     Supported 

H
2
 : Number of subsidiaries positively related to audit fees  0.00000     Supported 

H
3
 : Leverage positively related to audit fees  0.36198     Not supported 

H
4
 : The ratio ‘accounts receivable and inventory over total 

assets’ is positively related to audit fees  

0.03607     Supported  

H
5
 : Auditor’s opinion has a positive relation to audit fees  0.15113     Not supported  

H
6
 : Auditor’s size has a positive relation to audit fees  0.26939     Not supported 

H7: Non Audit Services has a negative relation to audit fees  0.05900     Not supported  
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6. CONCLUSION 

 

This study supports similar conclusions made by previous researchers. It confirms that the audit 

fees in Malaysia are structured based on the factors considered. Following the accounting 

scandals of Transmile and Megan Media, there have been calls for tighter regulatory control of 

auditors – putting pressure on the role of the accountancy profession. Instead of pressuring the 

auditors to tighten up ethical standards, regulators should consider the audit fees paid. The fees 

should correspond to the amount and nature of work performed by an auditor. Reduced fees 

resulted in challenges for auditors to secure adequate resources for audit engagement. Fees fixed 

based on the negotiation between auditors and clients impair the auditors’ independence. 

Although the findings of this study are similar with findings from prior studies, the researcher 

would like to expand the sample and carry out time series analysis for her future research. 
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CAUTION NOTE TO ACCOUNTANTS – THE ESSENTIAL PROFESSIONAL ETHICS  

 

ABSTRACT 

 

This is a conceptual paper aimed at highlighting the importance of professional ethics in the 

accounting profession. The unscrupulous acts of many professionals all around world have 

tarnished the image of the accounting profession. Continuous debates focus on the professional 

ethics demanded of the accountant, increasing the need for an understanding of the meaning of 

professional ethics in the accounting profession. This paper attempts to outline the professional 

ethics concept and its association with the accounting profession.  The findings were gathered 

based on a review of the literature and an exploratory study using the qualitative paradigm. 

Purposive sampling was used to conduct interviews with seven selectively chosen subjects. Our 

conceptual findings explain why accounting students should be nurtured with professional ethics, 

and how accountants should address the morality principle in order to make a professional ethics 

decision. In addition, our exploratory findings also reveal the component of professional ethics. 

The paper ends with the stand that professional ethics should be nurtured. Overall, this paper 

contributes to future discussion on the possibility of nurturing professional ethics specifically in 

the accounting profession. 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 

The 21st century is a century of corporate tsunamis. It is a century of high-profile corporate 

mishaps, ranging from internal-control violations to financial fraud, that have caused billions of 

dollars of lost economy. These mishaps have been an eye-opener for many. From a legal 

perspective, the corporate scandals have led to the addition and revision of legislation, from an 

educational perspective, educational institutions have realised the importance of integrating an 

ethics course in their programmes, and from the perspective of professional bodies, particularly 

the accounting bodies, it has been a wake up call for the profession.  One thing is for sure, 

society’s concerns for professional ethics in accountancy is escalating.   

 

Realising the link between corporate scandals and professional ethics, and the importance of 

professional ethics, a few accounting bodies, such as the National Association of State Boards of 

Accountancy (NASBA) suggested that ethics courses should be included in the accounting 

curriculum (Klimek & Wenell, 2011).  However, such a suggestion created conflict between the 

accounting bodies, educators and accounting board.  Some rejected the suggestion based on the 

reasoning that this has no effect on accounting students’ ethical reasoning abilities.  
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Nonetheless, some proved that there is a positive effect. Accounting students who had ethics 

discussions integrated into their accounting courses instead of it being a required course proved 

to have better ethical reasoning (Klimek & Wenell, 2011). Such findings provide support that 

ethics as a taught programme can enhance ethical reasoning among accountants. But the question 

remains – can accountants use their ethical reasoning to nurture their professional judgment in 

decision-making?  The many corporate scandals suggest that the accountants were not using their 

professional judgment in making financial decisions. Clearly, the accounting profession faces a 

major professional crisis of confidence due to corporate scandals that were linked to the 

accounting profession and their professional judgment has been called into question. The collapse 

of Enron is a typical example of a professional ethics issue that requires attention.   

 

2. A WAKE-UP CALL  

 

There are views that accounting graduates should be nurtured with professional ethics before they 

even join the workforce. The aim is to nurture their ethical reasoning in order to prepare them to 

make sound professional judgments. Dai (2010) stated that the ability to make professional 

judgments is defined as “the process whereby accountants fully consider the actuality and future 

financing environment and management characteristics of enterprise, utilise the information 

materials, use their professional methods, logic analysis ability and professional experience, 

judge and select the principles, methods, and programs when disposing daily accounting items 

and making financial reports, and facing uncertain accounting items, according to accounting 

law, standards, and traditions” (Dai, 2010:72). 

 

A similar contention was made, i.e. emphasised the need to expose students to an ethics course, 

several years ago. Mastracchio (2005), for instance, emphasised the need for accounting students 

to be exposed to ethics awareness before they even join the workforce (i.e. as a professional 

accountant). Mastracchio (2005) suggested integrating ethics in the accounting curriculum as the 

initiative towards developing professional ethics. Professional ethics focus on the moral 

excellence and good character of the individual, hence preparing students with the ability to make 

professional judgements.  
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Such a philosophy of nurturing has been grounded since ancient times. The philosophy of life can 

be traced to the time of Aristotle who highlighted the importance of moral excellence and 

goodness of character in his virtue ethics theory. He placed great emphasis on a disposition with 

choice or decision (Abdullah & Valentine, 2009).  Aristotle believed that ethical values could be 

nurtured through the process of education. As such, this paper emphasises the importance of 

nurturing professional ethics with regards to generating accountants with ethical substance. 

   

3. NURTURING PROFESSIONAL ETHICS 

 

There are several rationales as to why accounting students should be nurtured with professional 

ethics in order to equip themselves to make professional judgments.  

 

Firstly, the routines of accountants today are changing. Gone are the days where accountants can 

rely on the accounting standards to deal with accounting information. Accountants today are 

faced with many challenges that impact their routine for accounting transactions; creating a new 

perspective to the accounting profession. In order to safeguard the quality of reporting, 

accountants have to be equipped with professional judgment ability. Dai (2010) argues that 

today’s accountant needs to have professional judgment ability in order to deal with accounting 

information.  

 

Secondly, the complexity in the accounting standards as a result of the dynamics and complexity 

of the business environment require professional judgment. Dai (2010) in emphasising the need 

for strong professional judgment ability said it is crucial in this age of truth due to the 

characteristics of the new edition of accounting standards He stressed that professional judgment 

ability is an asset to attain professional competency and produce reliable accounting information 

that leads to quality reporting. He backed his contention for the need to have professional 

accounting judgment ability based on the reasoning that the accounting standards have changed 

from rule orientation to principle orientation. Furthermore, the gap between accounting standards 

and policy at the present time provides a certain dilemma in accounting. The challenges of 

today’s business environment expose accounting transactions to ambiguity, which lead 

accountants into a world of confusion and uncertainty. Certain dilemmas that accountants have to 

face expose them to having to make professional judgments. Such judgments require competency 

and the ability to make professional decisions. The dynamics of economic activities, and the risk 

to businesses are just two reasons why accountants need professional judgment ability.   
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4. ATTENTION TO ACCOUNTING DILEMMA 

 

The complexity of businesses today creates challenges for accountants, and there are times when 

they are faced with an accounting dilemma. Conceptual evidence indicates several common 

accounting perspectives that accountants often face in relation to the above.  Dai (2010), for 

example, explained several aspects of accounting information that require accountants to deal 

with a new dilemma, which are: 

 

i. Accounting Principle Selection  

The dynamics of economic activities lead to accountants having to face ambiguity in the 

confirming, measuring and opening of accounting entries. 

 

ii. Accounting Policy Selection 

Economic activities expose accountants to the phenomenon of policy selection. Dai (2010) 

addressed the issue of alternative accounting policy selection based on the choice that 

accountants have to make in terms of which policy to adopt, in particular the accounting 

disposal method.  

 

iii. Accounting Evaluation 

The choice of accounting evaluation is another concern that accountants must take into 

account in terms of making professional judgments. In recent years, economic interest and 

obligation have opened the door for accountants to focus on account value of capital and 

debts that need readjustment. Readjustments are required due to the need to reflect on the 

status of an enterprise, and as such, the need for accounting professional ability. 

 

The above examples from the accounting perspective indicate that there is an urgent need to 

expose accounting graduates to professional ethics. The increased pressure and complexity of 

businesses today introduce ethics as an essential strategic factor for accountants to maintain their 

professional ethics. All in all, professional ethics are essential to guide accountants to make 

sound, ethical decisions.  

 

Professional ethics as described in the literature comes with many definitions. The interpretation, 

however, revolves around the individual’s moral standing.  Ebrahim and Ali Akbar Ahmadi 

(2012) described professional ethics as “individual nobility or individuality and professional 

morals associated to responsibilities and ethics” (p.772).  
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Although most people have a sense of importance when it comes to professional ethics, a true 

understanding of how important it is to develop these ethics is rare. This is because ethical norms 

are so omnipresent that one might be tempted to regard them as simple common sense. Studies 

prove that there is significant evidence to suggest students should be taught professional ethics. 

For example, Klimek and Wenell’s (2011) empirical study revealed that accounting students who 

had ethics discussions integrated into their accounting courses instead of being delivered as a 

required course proved to have better ethical reasoning - suggesting that the college environment 

does have an impact on the individual.   

Based on empirical support gathered, we propose that nurturing professional ethics form a vital 

component of accounting courses. We foresee that specific and relevant programmes should be 

designed to meet the objective of nurturing morality among accounting graduates. However, the 

programme designed should equip students with ethical reasoning, thus preparing the accounting 

graduates to have professional judgment ability when dealing with ethical dilemmas.  A specific 

mechanism should be developed to ensure that students are given an exposure to and an 

appreciation of the ethical and professional conduct issue. A mechanism that is applicable, 

plausible and relevant would encourage rather than instruct students to act and be professional in 

dealing with ethical issues in the future. A mechanism such as an ethics guideline is one step 

forward towards nurturing professional ethics.  

There is evidence of a positive response to ethics guidelines and ethics behaviour. Hall (2004), 

for instance, examined the ethics and professional conduct of civil engineering students. He 

designed a project to develop the students’ exposure to nationally recognised ethical canons and 

standards of professional conduct. Two main techniques were used to examine the concept.  First, 

students were exposed to professional ethical concepts (ethical canons and standards of 

professional conduct) by introducing them to two primary sources, which listed and described 

ethical canons and standards of professional conduct. Second, the students were asked to 

differentiate the two concepts by carrying out two assignments. Based on the two techniques 

used, Hall (2004) found that ethics components were consistent for both sources used (classroom 

approach and professional ethics concept). Students expressed positive comments regarding the 

ethics exercise contained in the course. The findings in Hall’s (2004) study contribute to the 

development of ethics content to improve student perceptions on ethical behaviour. Lang, Hall 

and Jones (2010), on the other hand, studied the development of ethical behaviour. They 

examined the perception of 174 accounting students from a large south-eastern university in the 

US of ethical situations on a continuous scale. Lang, Hall and Jones (2010) used scenarios to 

measure ethical behaviour. 
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They found that an individual’s perception might be influenced by the person’s position in the 

scenario, or by gender. They suggested an ethics measurement i.e. continuous scale, as a useful 

tool to interpret an individual’s ethical and unethical behaviour in order to provide better insight 

into ethical behaviour among accounting students. Management and auditors could adopt their 

findings to better design (i.e. train), implement and evaluate the control environment in 

businesses.  

Guided by the aim to nurture future accounting professionals with a professional ethics theme, we 

suggest several ethics mechanisms that would be able to fashion the accounting programme 

towards nurturing professional ethics.   

First, we recommend exposing accounting graduates to the professional code of ethics.  In 

accounting disciplines, for example, we have a professional code of ethics for accountants. In 

Malaysia, the code is designed by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA). The ultimate 

aim of the professional ethics code is to help members of the discipline to coordinate their actions 

or activities.  We believe such a ‘by-law’ should be at the fingertips of every accounting 

graduate, and should be made a requirement for entering the workforce.    

Second, teaching ethics at the university level is another mechanism recommended.  Empirical 

evidence indicates there is a positive association noted between taught ethics and ethical 

behaviour. Lau et al. (2010) examined college students’ perceptions of ethics using five factors: 

1. the impact of education and the instructor; 2. the students’ attitude towards cheating; 3. the 

impact of technology; 4. the importance of ethics; and 5. the ethics campus environment.  They 

found the following outcomes: the ethics instructor and the teaching of ethics are relevant to 

students’ ethical behaviour.  

The third recommendation is an exposure to ethical environment. We believe that situational 

factors are significant in nurturing professional ethics among accounting students. We propose 

that universities should practise a zero tolerance policy towards unethical conduct. Faculty 

members are another situational factor that could contribute to a significant ethics mechanism. 

Studies have proved that perceptions of students towards faculty members influence their ethical 

behaviour. Students believe that they are living in an ethical campus because the members are 

ethical. The study by Lau et al. (2010) provided sufficient evidence to conclude that faculty 

members and instructors’ influence could be exerted through their ability to help students develop 

values. For example, incorporating ethics training into classes, and enforcing ethical standards on 

students influenced their ability to form ethical behaviour and hence create a generation with 

professional ethics.   
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5. CAN PROFESSIONAL ETHICS BE TAUGHT? 

 

There is a debate as to whether professional ethics can be taught. There is no strong empirical 

evidence linked to professional ethics as a course, however, there are mixed views to support 

professional ethics as a lesson to be taught, particularly at the tertiary level. Some scholars 

believe that ethics training would not prevent wrongdoing. There are also scholars who believe 

that ethics can be nurtured to create organisational integrity (Paine, 1994).  Some scholars argue 

that what the world needs is more laws, not more ethics.  This predicament came from a group of 

researchers who found that law is a metaphorical system of moral balance and force.   

 

6. ESSENTIAL INGREDIENTS IN BUILDING PROFESSIONAL ETHICS  

 

Regardless of the mechanism, professional ethics, in our view, is an ingredient of moral principle. 

We believe accounting students should be exposed to the components that reflect professional 

ethics, and using a qualitative paradigm we sought to find out what these components were. We 

interviewed seven individuals who are very much involved in accounting and ethics aspects for 

our inquiry. These were academics, representatives from professional bodies, and practitioners. 

Our subjects were selected based on their experience and knowledge. We conducted a face-to-

face interview with our subjects.  

 

We found several interesting results that relate to the components that reflect professional ethics, 

and have classified these into three main skills, i.e. technical skills, cognitive skills and social 

skills.     

Diagram 1 

 Professional Ethics’ Components 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Research findings 
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Diagram 1 illustrates the three components gathered based on our content analysis conducted. 

The respondents emphasised technical skill as the essential ingredient of professional ethics. 

Technical skill, as perceived by our subjects, is the technical knowledge required to prepare 

students to become trained accountants, and correspondingly, develop professional ethics. 

Technical skills includes knowledge such as accounting courses and the various codes that are 

prescribed in the accounting profession, such as the accountant code of ethics, code of conduct 

and other principles of the accounting profession. As stated by one of the respondents:  

 

 ‘... professional ethics comes with a code of conduct. A code of conduct comes with 

professional ethics. So the most important thing is the fundamentals ...’ and ‘... 

universities must ensure that values are correct, the culture is correct. That is why a code 

of ethics is controlled...’ (professional body member no.1) 

 

Another element that emerged as a component of professional ethics was cognitive skills. With 

regards to cognitive skills, evidence of this emerging theme is described as follows: 

 

 ‘... clever in making decisions, not just knowing the rules and regulations but also 

providing justification for doing or not doing  ....’ (academician no.4). 

 ‘... something that is nurtured in you and comes naturally to you ... the process of 

reasoning ... it is the cognitive dimension ... so they [the students] reason  ...’ 

(academician no.2). 

 

Social skill is one of the elements gathered from our data to outline professional ethics. Our 

subjects emphasised the importance of accounting students having social skills. Social skills, 

based on the words of our subjects are ‘people skills’. This is what one respondent had to say: 

 

 ‘... how you deal with people, basically how you live, is integrity. So, in that sense, to us, 

we have always said this is the most important thing. And for professional bodies, that is 

how you have to be seen; you are the professional so you should be able to, or be brave 

enough to say “guys, that is not ethical.” When I hire people, I find that the younger 

generation is full of academic knowledge only. They come in and say I have straight A’s. 

The understanding of how to be a professional is not there. They don’t carry themselves 

as professionals. I always tell them that you should have pride to be a professional ...’ 

(practitioner no. 1).  
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The above skills illustrate the essential components of professional ethics that would bring 

accounting students to another level.  We believe that these professional ethics components that 

were shared by our subjects, apply to accountants in their stewardship of financial reporting.  Not 

only do accountants need technical skills, social and cognitive skills are also essential elements of 

the profession.  

 

7. CONCLUSION 

 

The scenario in the accounting profession calls for concern with regards to ethics. Many views 

relate corporate scandals to the lack of professional ethics and we urge the accounting profession 

to take professional ethics seriously in order to rebuild the profession’s image. The role that 

accountants play demands the need for professional ethics, and our research findings support the 

contention that professional ethics should be nurtured in order to provide future accountants with 

the professional judgment ability to make sound decisions. This article describes the possibility 

of nurturing professional ethics and outlines the essential elements of professional ethics. It also 

has educational implications, as it explains the process of nurturing ethics, which can be a general 

guide to creating an ethics content in accounting courses. 
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MALAYSIAN LISTED FIRMS: THE DIVERGENCE IN EFFECTIVE TAX RATES 

 

ABSTRACT 

 

This paper examines whether Malaysian firms are paying enough income tax; and 

correspondingly the study aims to explore the divergence of the effective tax rates (ETRs) among 

the firms listed on Bursa Malaysia. Our initial search from the Compustat database for the period 

from 2005 to 2012 gave us 8,117 firm-year observations. After data cleaning, we were left with 

752 observations - each observation representing a firm’s eight-year average ETR. For the 

purpose of this study, ETR is measured by dividing the income tax expense by the profit before 

tax (PBT).  The results of this study proves that more than half of the firms have ETR either 

below 20% or above 30%, which represents a significant variation from the statutory tax rate of 

25%. Another significant finding of this study is that almost one-fifth of the firms are paying tax 

at ETR below 10%. The results also found variations by industry. The telecommunication 

services and utility industries were found to have the least divergence from the statutory rate 

whereas almost half of the firms in the information technology industry pay tax at ETRs less than 

10%. This study also rejects the hypothesis that larger firms will have resources and economies 

of scale to engage in tax planning but suggests that Government policies are in favour of smaller 

firms, thus lowering the ETR range for small firms. This study implies that policy-setters could 

evaluate and monitor the effectiveness of the tax policies currently in place for small medium 

enterprises (SMEs) and large public listed firms in the context of ETRs. The policy setters could 

specifically focus on the type of industry and size. The findings are also useful for tax 

practitioners, as certain parts of this study highlight the tax-planning gap among listed firms.  

 

1.  INTRODUCTION 

 

There has been recent publicity on some of the world's largest companies avoiding income taxes 

by adopting aggressive tax planning strategies. Corporations such as Apple, Starbucks, Amazon, 

Google, Yahoo!, Vodafone, eBay, Microsoft, Hewlett-Packard, Dell and Merck and Co. were 

among those featured in the news - relegated by the authorities in the Europe and US for 

avoidance of income tax and in certain instances for avoiding indirect taxes.  
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Although tax avoidance is not an illegal conduit, inter-governmental organisations such as the 

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), G20 and G8 have recently 

included the issue of tax base erosion, which is also referred to as the Base Erosion and Profit 

Shifting (BEPS), in their agenda, and BEPS is understood to be a reflection of aggressive tax 

planning or tax avoidance carried out by multinationals. Although, the effectiveness of these 

actions is too early to be judged, it is apparent that BEPS and tax neutrality are now seen as a 

truly global issue. 

 

Although tax neutrality calls for every company to pay tax at the same rate, the ratio of income 

tax expense to profit before tax, hereinafter referred to as effective tax rate or ETR, is unlikely to 

be identical to the statutory rate of corporate income taxation (which is currently 25% in 

Malaysia). This is because of several reasons including differences between the accounting and 

tax rules with regards to the scope, timing and treatment of income and expenses. Another reason 

for the difference is the availability of incentives and exemptions for foreign direct investments 

(FDIs), small medium enterprises (SMEs) and certain regions or activities.  In addition to these 

factors, which are controlled by the policy-setters, the ETR is also influenced by the tax planning 

models used by the firms.  

 

Given these factors, which contribute to the differences between the statutory rate of tax and 

ETR, this study reveals the divergence of the ETR in the Malaysian firms, and assesses whether 

ETR is influenced by the industry and size of the firm.  

 

2.  OBJECTIVE AND SIGNIFICANCE OF THE STUDY 

 

2.1.  Objective  

 

The primary objective of this study is to explore the divergence of the ETRs among firms listed 

on Bursa Malaysia. Although statutory tax rates are applied on the tax income, the ETRs are 

calculated by dividing the income tax by the accounting profit. There are prior studies that 

confirm that the significant variations between the effective and statutory tax rates are due to 

book-tax non-conformity and also caused by the implementation of various tax policies. We 

further extend the study on the divergence of ETRs across industries and firms of various sizes.  
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2.2.  Significance of the Study 

 

The study reveals the divergence of the ETRs among Malaysian listed companies. The 

understanding and rationale of this divergence will be useful for policy-setters (such as Ministry 

of Finance and Ministry of International Trade and Industry; and the authorities operating under 

their purview), businessmen, accountants in public practice as well as the accountants in the 

corporate sector. Furthermore, this study also caters to the needs of different classes of readers. 

For instance, the advocates for tax neutrality may be dissatisfied when the ETRs are not in 

proximity with the statutory rates, however, businessmen may value tax incentives (which is one 

of the causes of divergence in ETRs) as a tool to bolster the firm's growth. This study will also 

create awareness among these parties regarding variation of ETRs by industry and size, which 

could lead them to organise their tax affairs efficiently.  

 

3.  LITERATURE REVIEW 

 

Prior studies on ETRs date back to the 1980s [for example, Zimmerman (1983) and Porcano 

(1986)]. More recently, Hungerford (2013) discovered that in the current US tax system, a large 

proportion of millionaires pay a smaller percentage of their returns in taxes than a significant 

proportion of moderate-income earners. In the Australian context Davidson & Heaney (2012), 

found that under the Political Power hypothesis, larger firms face higher ETRs and they are better 

able to lobby government and reduce their ETRs. The study also found that larger firms have 

access to better tax planning resources and hence could reduce their ETRs. The overall results of 

that study shows that the divergence of the ETRs in Australia is based on the size of the firm. In 

addition, Zeng (2010) and Liu & Cao (2007) report that companies listed on China’s stock 

exchange have lower ETRs than the statutory rate of income tax.  

 

From a less academic perspective, The New York Times in the US and The Guardian in the UK 

have developed interactive charts to disclose the ETRs for companies listed in their respective 

countries2. These charts reveal that there are many companies that pay taxes at ETRs lower than 

the companies in the spotlight. Many were paying taxes at ETRs lower than 5%, but their tax 

affairs appear to go largely unnoticed by the general public due to their size, which in most cases, 

is merely a fraction of the corporate giants who are in the headlines of the mainstream media for 

tax avoidance.  

                                                 
2 See http://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2013/05/25/sunday-review/corporate-taxes.html?_r=0 and 
http://www.theguardian.com/business/interactive/2009/feb/02/tax-database respectively 

http://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2013/05/25/sunday-review/corporate-taxes.html?_r=0
http://www.theguardian.com/business/interactive/2009/feb/02/tax-database
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Among other factors, the dispersion of ETRs could be driven by tax avoidance and tax evasion. 

Wallschutzky & Singh (1995), argue that tax evasion acts in contravention of the law whereby 

persons pay less tax than they would otherwise be bound to pay. Tax planning meanwhile acts 

within the letter of the law but perhaps not within its spirit, whereby persons pay less tax than 

they would otherwise be bound to pay. Further, Wallschutzky & Singh (1995) posit that the 

instances of avoidance frequently seek to take advantage of loopholes in the law and such acts of 

avoidance have no significant purpose other than reduction of tax liability. Kasipillai J. (2012) 

describes tax avoidance as the legal utilisation of tax regime to one's own advantage to reduce the 

amount of tax that is payable by means that are within the law, and argues that taxpayers are not 

obliged to arrange their affairs so as to maximise the tax collected by the Government.  

 

For the case of Malaysia, Derashid & Zhang (2003) reported some effects of industrial policies 

on ETRs. Adhikari, Derashid, & Zhang (2006) reported that firms with political connections pay 

tax at significantly lower ETRs than other firms, and that political connections are an important 

determinant of ETRs in relationship-based economies. Neither of these studies discloses the 

divergence in ETRs as detailed as the present study. 

 

4.  RESEARCH DESIGN  

 

In this study, we explore the ETRs for firms listed on Bursa Malaysia and to identify whether 

ETRs vary significantly by industry. There have been various methods used to measure ETR. For 

the purpose of this study, ETR is measured by dividing the income tax expense by the profit 

before tax (PBT). This measure has been used in many previous studies, including Porcano 

(1986) and Derashid and Zhang (2003) and Zeng (2010). 

 

As pointed out by Zeng (2010), the annual ETR (i.e. the annual tax expenses divided by annual 

pre-tax income) varies year by year and therefore may not be a good measure of tax liability for 

each year when firms overpay taxes in one year and receive refund in the other year. The annual 

rates could also be distorted by the financial discretions involved in providing for deferred taxes.  

As such, this study is not based on annual ETR but the long term ETR, which is derived by 

dividing the sum of total income taxes (IT) for the period 2005 to 2012 (8 years) by the sum of 

the total profit before taxation (PBT) for the same period, as represented by the equation below: 
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As the IT and PBT are extracted from the Consolidated Financial Statements, they will 

encompass foreign taxes and the profits of foreign subsidiaries respectively.  

 

The data for the above-mentioned variables and the industry classification have been collected 

using Compustat. The firms were classified into 10 different sectors according to their core 

businesses - energy, materials, industrial, consumer discretionary, consumer staples, health care, 

financial services, information technology, telecommunication services and utilities (refer to 

Table 1). Our initial search for firms that were listed for one or more years during the 2005 to 

2012 period returned 8,117 firm-year observations. However, not all firms were listed throughout 

the entire eight-year period. For firms for which the data for five years or more were available, 

we calculated the ETRs based on the years for which the figures of both the IT and PBT were 

available. Firms that had data for four years or less were eliminated from the sample. Re-

statements of prior year figures have been ignored.  

 

After the preliminary data cleaning, we had 1,000 observations of the eight-year average ETRs. 

Of this, 233 were invalid rates3 and thus this study has been carried out based on 767 

observations. In order to understand whether the ETRs vary by the size of the organisation, we 

clustered the firms into four categories based on their market capitalisation4. The current market 

capitalisation was not available for 15 firms, leaving 752 firms to be sampled. These 752 firms 

were equally divided into four quartiles. Quartile one consists of the largest 188 firms. The 

following largest 188 firms are taken as quartile two, the subsequent largest 188 firms are taken 

quartile three, and the smallest 188 firms are taken as quartile four.  

 

  

 

                                                 
3 Invalid rates means that the rates are not greater than zero or not lesser than 100. This rates are not sensible but the 

previous studies have also reported such anomalies. See http://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2013/05/25/sunday-

review/corporate-taxes.html?_r=0 for instance. Tong (2013) confirms that the negative ETRs could be due to 

reconciling items. 

 
4 Based on the “current market capitalization” figures extracted from the Osiris database on 14th August 2013.  

http://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2013/05/25/sunday-review/corporate-taxes.html?_r=0
http://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2013/05/25/sunday-review/corporate-taxes.html?_r=0
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Table 1 - Sectors and Industry 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Economic Sector Industry Group or Industries 

Descriptions 

 

Energy 

 

Energy Equipment & Services  

Materials Chemicals 

Construction Materials 

Containers & Packing 

Metals & Mining 

Paper & Forest Products 

Industrial Capital Goods 

Commercial Services & Supplies 

Transportation 

Consumer 

Discretionary 

Automobiles & Components 

Consumer Durables & Apparel 

Hotels, Restaurants & Leisure 

Media  

Retailing  

Consumer Staples Food & Drug Retailing 

Food, Beverage & Tobacco 

Household & Personal Products 

Health Care Health Care Equipment & Services 

Pharmaceuticals & Biotech 

Financial Banks 

Diversified Financials 

Insurance 

Real Estate 

Information 

Technology 

Software & Services 

Technology Hardware & Equipment 

Telecommunication 

Services 

Diversified Telecommunication Services 

Wireless Telecommunication Services 

Utilities Electric Utilities 

Gas Utilities 

Multi-Utilities 

Water Utilities 
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5. ANALYSIS OF DATA  

 

5.1.  Divergence of ETRs 

 

Table 2 shows the ETR range, followed by Figure 1, which shows the ETR range vividly in the 

form of a pie chart. From these we gather that 43% of the firms pay income tax at ETR in the 

range of 20% to 30%, a range which encompasses the present statutory rate of 25%5. It is also 

apparent that about 41% of the firms pay income tax at ETR of 20% or less, including 19% of 

firms that pay taxes at ETR of 10% or less.  

 

The reasons why these firms pay tax at ETRs significantly lower than the statutory rates are 

based on one or more of the following factors namely: 1. enjoying tax incentives such as pioneer 

status, investment tax allowance, re-investment allowance and exemptions for export sales; 2. the 

use of international tax planning strategies; 3. specific revenue or income not being subject to tax, 

and 4. overseas operations being subject to foreign taxes at rates lower than the statutory rate in 

Malaysia6; and the differences applied to the accounting and tax rules for deductions7. 

 

Table 2 - ETR Range                                Figure 1 - Pie Chart (ETR) 

                                                 
5 The statutory rates of corporate income for non-SMEs were 28% for the years of assessment 2005 and 2006, 27% 

for the year of assessment 2007, 28% for the year of assessment 2008 and 25% for the years of assessment 2009 to 

2012. 

  
6 Paragraph 28(1) of Schedule 6 of the Malaysian Income Tax Act 1967 exempts foreign income remitted into 

Malaysia from income tax (other than income of resident companies carrying on the business of banking, insurance 

or sea or air transport). This territorial basis of taxation is different from jurisdictions such as the US and the UK, 

where certain foreign income are subject to income tax.  

 
7 For example, the criteria for the tax deduction for Research and Development (R&D) expenditure varies from 

criteria applied for the purpose of the accounting treatment. Certain capital expenditure are also specifically allowed 

as deduction for tax purposes (for example, see section 34(6) (e) of the Malaysian Income Tax Act 1967). For policy 

matters, certain expenditure are also allowed to be deducted twice (for example, see Public Ruling No. 1/2013).   

ETR Range Firms 

>0 & ≤10 19.04% 

>10 & ≤20 21.90% 

>20 & ≤30 42.63% 

>30 & ≤40 9.52% 

>40 & ≤50 3.13% 

>50 & ≤60 2.09% 

>60 & ≤70 0.39% 

>70 1.30% 
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The 41% of firms paying tax at ETR below 20% could be regarded as the drivers of tax base 

erosion in Malaysia, which causes revenue loss to the Government. In a more extended argument, 

other taxpayers could be bearing a higher proportion of taxation to justify the Government’s loss 

of revenue from these firms. However, we do not infer that tax base erosion damages the 

economy, as it is impossible to assess the impact on the economy by studying ETRs in isolation. 

There are arguments to support the decision of policy-settlers to compromise ETRs in order to 

attract investors into a country and to sustain them to benefit the national economy in terms of 

boosting employment rates, additional tax collections from the employees of the investing firm 

and several other aspects.  

 

At the other end of the spectrum, 17% (refer Table 2 and Figure 1) of the firms studied are paying 

taxes at ETRs above 30% and more than half of them are paying taxes at ETRs not higher than 

40%. The reasons for these firms paying tax at ETRs significantly higher than the statutory rates 

are due to one or more of the following factors namely: 1) the adjustments for expenses that were 

written off in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (Income Statement) but not deductible for 

tax purposes8; and 2) their genuine overseas operations paying foreign taxes at rates higher than 

the statutory rate in Malaysia. Note that the effect of the temporary or timing differences in 

recognising income or expenses on the ETRs computed in this study is unlikely to be significant, 

as the ETRs are calculated not based on annual figures, but based on the sum of eight years' 

figures. By conducting a small number of financial statements review we found that the outliers 

were often associated with loss-making operations. 

    

5.2.  Analysis by Industry  

 

Many studies carried out in the US context reveal that ETRs vary by industry [for example, see 

Harberger (1959), Rosenberg (1969) and McIntyre & Nguyen (2000)]. Derashid & Zhang (2003), 

based on data from 1990 to 1999, argue that the ETRs for certain industries in Malaysia are lower 

than others. As such we attempt to identify the ETR ranges by industry based on the present 

circumstances. We have adopted the industry classifications provided by Compustat based on the 

Global Industry Classification Codes for Economic Sector (refer Table 1 for details).  

 

                                                 
8 See Sections 33, 34 and 39 of the Malaysian Income Tax Act 1967.  
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As with most of the preceding studies, we did not make attempts to isolate the diversified firms 

(i.e. firms that have significant operations in more than one industry) but we recognise that 

attempts to isolate the diversified firms into a separate cluster would produce more meaningful 

results. Our findings of ETRs by industry are presented in Table 3 followed by Figure 2, which 

depict on a graphical mode the percentage of the listed firms within each industry that pays tax at 

the each of the ETR range.  

  

         Table 3 - Firms within each ETR range by Industry (in percentage) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Note: 1 – Energy; 2 – Material; 3 – Industrial; 4 – Consumer discretionary; 5 – Consumer 

Staples; 6 – Health care; 7 – Financial; 8 – Information Technology; 9 – Telecommunications; 10 

- Utilities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   1  2   3  4   5   6   7   8   9 10 

>0 & ≤10 15.0 23.8 14.0 22.0 14.3 10.5 12.2 47.8 14.3 7.1 

10 & ≤20 25.0 32.7 24.2 16.9 21.4 31.6 12.1 20.9 14.3 28.6 

>20 & ≤30 50.0 31.7 40.6 40.7 56.1 36.8 56.9 16.4 71.4 64.3 

>30 & ≤40 5.0 6.9 12.6 12.7 6.1 15.8 8.6 7.5 0.0 0.0 

>40 & ≤50 0.0 3.0 4.4 2.5 2.0 0.0 4.3 3.0 0.0 0.0 

>50 & ≤60 0.0 2.0 2.4 1.7 0.0 0.0 4.3 3.0 0.0 0.0 

>60 & ≤70 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.9 0.0 0.0 0.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 

>70 5.0 0.0 1.5 2.5 0.0 5.3 0.9 1.5 0.0 0.0 

Total 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 
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Figure 2 - ETR by Industry 

                    

 

 

The most apparent conclusion from Table 3 and Figure 2 is that the percentage of firms paying 

tax in the range that encompasses the statutory tax rate (i.e. 20% to 30%) is high in the 

telecommunication services and utilities industries. It is also interesting to note that none of the 

firms in these two industries (and this is true for firms only in these two industries) have ETRs 

greater than 30%. These non-dispersed observations are due to statistical reasons, as these two 

industries have very small number of firms compared to other industries.  

 

The industry that has the lowest percentage of firms with ETRs between 20% and 30% is 

information technology. Almost half of the firms in this industry have ETRs between zero and 

10% - unsurprising given that this sector boasts many incentives. Kasipillai J. (2013), Singh 

(2013), Fatt (2010) and CCH (2010), among many other authors, outline the various tax 

incentives available for the firms operating in this industry, including exemption of the entire 

statutory income for a period up to 10 years. Furthermore, Thornton & Kannaa (2013) describe 

the industrial building allowance available for buildings occupied by approved Multimedia Super 

Corridor (MSC) status companies, which reduces the tax expense of the firms operating in the 

information technology sector.  
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5.3.  Analysis by Size 

   

In order to understand whether the ETRs vary by the size of the organisation, we clustered the 

firms into four categories based on their market capitalisation9. The current market capitalisation 

was not available for 15 firms, leaving 752 firms to be sampled for size. This means that each of 

the four categories comprise 188 firms. The 1st quartile covers the largest 188 firms, followed by 

the 2nd quartile made up of the second largest of the 188 firms, followed by the 3rd quartile and 

the 4th quartile respectively. The ETRs for each of these quartiles are shown in Table 4 followed 

by Figure 3, which depict the ETRs for each of the quartiles graphically. 

 

The results shown in Table 4 and Figure 3 indicate that size affects the number of firms paying 

taxes within each ETR range. The most significant observations are: 

 

 34.57% of the smallest firms (i.e. quartile 4) are paying tax at ETRs below 10%, a range 

which applies to only 11.7% of the largest firms (i.e. quartile 1); and 

 although more than half of the largest firms (i.e. quartile 1) pay tax at rates between 20% 

and 30% (which is in proximity to the statutory rates), less than one-quarter of the smallest 

firms (i.e. quartile 4) fall in this range.  

 

                             Table 4 - Firms within each ETR range (in percentage) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
9 Based on the current market capitalisation figures from Osiris on 14th August 2013.  

ETR Range 

Quartile 

1 

Quartile 

2 

Quartile 

3 

Quartile 

4 

>0 & ≤10 11.70 10.64 19.15 34.57 

>10 & ≤20 22.34 22.87 25.00 17.02 

>20 & ≤30 57.45 51.06 39.36 22.87 

>30 & ≤40 6.38 11.17 10.64 10.64 

>40 & ≤50 0.53 2.13 2.66 6.91 

>50 & ≤60 1.06 1.60 1.60 3.72 

>60 & ≤70 - - 0.53 1.06 

>70 0.53 0.53 1.06 3.19 

 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 
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Figure 3 - ETR by Size 

 

Based on the overall pattern as shown in Table 4 and Figure 3, it appears that the smaller firms 

are paying tax at lower ETRs than the larger firms. This finding is in contrast with Derashid & 

Zhang (2003), who found a significant negative association between firm size and ETRs10. The 

rationale for the conflicting results could be attributed to three factors namely the intervention of 

other independent variables used in the prior study, differences in the proxy for size (the prior 

study uses assets as proxy for size) and the differences in the time period.  

 

As Davidson & Heaney (2012) pointed out, a large number of international literature support 

both hypothesised relationships. For example, in China, Zeng (2010) found a significant negative 

relationship between size and ETRs, while Liu & Cao (2007) found the relationship to be 

insignificant. In the same jurisdiction, Wu et al. (2012) found that when firms do not enjoy a 

preferential tax status, the firm size is positively associated with ETRs for privately controlled 

firms and negatively associated for state-controlled firms. Further, Davidson & Heaney (2012) 

report a non-linear relationship between firm size and ETR in Australia.  

 

We agree with Rego (2003) that firm size is the most controversial variable examined in prior 

ETR researches. Tran & Yu (2008), suggest that large firms can afford better tax planning 

activities and are better able to influence political processes in their favour (some quarters refer to 

the latter as "political power hypothesis"). In contrast, the “political cost hypothesis” posited by 

Zimmerman (1983) suggests that large firms are subjected to greater government scrutiny and 

wealth transfers than smaller firms are, which should translate into higher corporate tax burdens 

for large firms. Empirical evidences from subsequent researches are mixed for both the 

hypothesis.  

                                                 
10 (Derashid & Zhang, 2003) uses five different measures for ETR and size has a significant negative relationship 

with three of the ETR measures, including the measure used for the purpose of this study.  
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6.  CONCLUSION AND AREAS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH 

 

It is evident that more than half of the firms listed on Bursa Malaysia have ETRs either below 

20% or above 30%, both of which can be considered as significant variation from the statutory 

tax rate of 25%. What’s more, a significant proportion of the firms have been found as paying 

taxes below 10% and this can be regarded as non-neutrality in the income tax system, which 

leads to revenue loss for the Government. 

 

We find that the divergence of the ETRs varies by industry. In particular, firms in the 

telecommunication services and utility industries have the least divergence from the statutory rate 

and almost half of the firms in the information technology industry pay tax at ETR less than 10%. 

The rationale for this non-conformity can be attributed to tax policies that incentivise the growth 

of the information technology industry. 

 

We also find that the proportion of smaller listed firms that pay tax at ETRs lower than 10% is 

significantly higher in comparison to the larger listed firm in the same ETR range. This rejects 

the hypothesis that the larger firms will have resources and economies of scale to engage in tax 

planning. Instead, it suggests that the Government policies are in favour of the smaller firms, thus 

lowering the ETR range for the latter.  

 

Future researchers could expand the scope of this study by employing different measures for 

ETRs (for example, Derashid & Zhang (2003) has used five different methods to measure ETRs). 

Another aspect in the expansion of the current study is to include unlisted firms since a 

significant number of multinationals conduct their operations in Malaysia through their wholly 

owned companies which are private limited. The size of these subsidiaries may be substantial and 

thus their contribution (including income tax payments) to the Malaysian economy is an area for 

deliberation. 
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RISK MANAGEMENT FOR NON-PROFIT ORGANISATIONS: SOME EMPIRICAL 

EVIDENCE 

 

ABSTRACT 

 

Information on financial vulnerability provides valuable information to boards, managers and 

regulators in managing various risks faced by non-profit organisations (NPOs). This paper 

extends the work by Tuckman and Chang (1991) in predicting financial vulnerability of NPOs 

operating in a developing country. The financial vulnerability model includes four indicators -

administrative ratio, revenue concentration, debt ratio and surplus margin ratio. In addition, by 

using the financial profile of financially vulnerable organisations, this paper demonstrates the use 

of the financial vulnerability model in facilitating boards, managers and regulators in managing 

potential risks in NPOs. Using content analysis of annual reports of 205 societies registered with 

Registrar of Societies in Malaysia for the financial period 2010, this study finds that 71% of the 

NPOs in the sample are classified as financially vulnerable. Analyses of the financial profile of 

financially vulnerable organisations provide useful indicators on various types of risks such as 

operational risks, funding risks, financial risks, strategic risks, integrity risks and fraud risks. 

Overall, the information based on financial vulnerability model offers useful information that can 

facilitate screening, monitoring, and decision-making processes for various stakeholders.   

 

1.  INTRODUCTION 

 

The concepts of risk and risk management in organisations have received considerable attention 

in recent years. In general, risk refers to any opportunity or prospect, threat or exposure that has 

impacted upon the organisation or may impact upon the organisation in the future, or of the 

management of any such opportunity, prospect, threat or exposure (Linsley & Shrives, 2006). A 

rich body of literature on risks and risk management on for-profit organisations focuses on risks 

associated with financial risks, operations risks, empowerment risks, information processing and 

technology risks, integrity risks and strategic risks (e.g. Linsley & Shrives, 2006, Oliveira et. al., 

2011, Lajili & Zeghal, 2005). These argue that investors and other stakeholders need information 

regarding the risks organisations take in creating value and the risks associated with sustainability 

of value creation strategies. In response to these needs, management must be able to assure 

investors and other stakeholders, that risks and uncertainties are well managed.  
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Similarly in non-profit organisations (NPO), proper risk management should be an integral part 

of their activities in providing social services or products effectively and to maintain long-term 

survival. To effectively manage risks, management must have the relevant information that can 

assist them in identifying the level of risks faced by the organisation. It is paramount that NPOs 

have information on the extent of the sustainability of their current value-creation strategies. In 

other words, the level of risks associated with organisational susceptibility to financial problems 

or also referred to as financial vulnerability. Financial vulnerability in NPOs reduces the ability 

of these organisations to provide their social products or services and if this persists, it will 

subsequently affect their long-term survival (Chang & Tuckman, 1991, Mwenja & Lewis, 2009, 

Trussel, 2002).  

 

Despite the importance of financial vulnerability information in managing risks in NPOs, the 

identification of this information is difficult, partly due to the intangible nature of output and the 

definition of output maximization in NPOs (Chang & Tuckman, 1991). Past studies on non-profit 

performance have attempted to define output maximization of non-profits using a variety of 

proxies and techniques. For example, Bradshaw et al., (1992) defined organisational effectiveness 

based on four proxies: growth in organisation budget, size of any budget deficit, and two 

subjective measures based on assessment of respondents in a survey on organisational 

effectiveness with regard to a variety of functions. Following this, Cornforth, (2001) and Green 

and Griesinger, (1996) also used survey responses to construct subjective measures of 

organisational effectiveness. These studies measure organisational performance based on board 

effectiveness. Overall, the proxies and techniques used to measure organisational effectiveness 

are based on subjective measures, which in turn reduce the ability of various stakeholders in 

making meaningful comparisons among the diverse categories of organisations in the non-profit 

sector.  

 

An objective measure of organisational performance based on financial ratios of for-profit 

organisations is widely used. The common profit maximization objectives of these organisations 

and the availability of relevant information allow the financial ratio approach to provide useful 

information on organisational performance of for-profit organisations. In contrast, the 

heterogeneous set of goals and the large number of stakeholder types among the NPOs reduce the 

appropriateness of this approach for NPOs.  
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Although the goals of NPOs are diverse, Tuckman & Chang (1991) argue that all NPOs are 

established to provide social products or services and to continue meeting these goals for a long 

period. Using this as a common goal of NPOs, they develop an objective measure that captures 

the implicit intent of survival by the NPOs based on ratios that reflect the extent of financial 

vulnerability faced by the organisations. Their performance model is based on the assumption 

that most NPOs attempt to continue meeting their objectives when a financial shock, such as an 

economic downturn or the loss of a major donor, occurs. They identify these organisations as 

financially healthy while those not able to avoid curtailing their programmes and/or services 

during a financial shock as financially vulnerable.    

 

Despite the potential strength of this measure, few studies have provided empirical evidence on 

the usefulness of this measure in the non-profit sector (Callen et al., 2010). Hence, this study 

aims to fill this gap by providing some empirical evidence based on NPOs in Malaysia. 

Specifically, this study extends Tuckman and Chang’s work (1991) to predict the financial 

vulnerability of NPOs operating in a developing country. In addition, using the financial profile 

of financially vulnerable organisations, this paper will demonstrate the use of the financial 

vulnerability model in facilitating boards, managers and regulators in managing potential risks in 

NPOs. The findings will provide some indication on the applicability of this performance model 

in different institutional settings as financial reports prepared by NPOs in particular institutional 

settings lack relevant information that is important in assessing the performance of the NPOs 

(Behn et al., 2010).    

 

Information on financial vulnerability in the non-profit sector should be of interest to multiple 

stakeholders – facilitating relevant regulatory authorities in enhancing their monitoring of NPOs. 

Of relevance, Malaysia became member of the Asia Pacific Group (APG) on 31 May 2000 and as 

a consequence, is required to implement and comply with the Financial Action Task Force 

(FATF) recommendations with regards to anti-money laundering and terrorism financing. FATF 

is a policy-making body established in 1989 that is responsible for generating political will in the 

development of legislative and political reforms in the areas of anti-money laundering and 

terrorism financing. Compliance with recommended practices by FATF in the Asia Pacific region 

is assessed by APG. Failure to comply can cause a member country to be blacklisted and 

subjected to economic sanctions, trade restrictions and higher level of scrutiny with consequent 

negative perceptions on the NPO sector. Comments by the APG (2007) report on Malaysia 

highlighted that limited measures are in place to ensure that societies are not raising or expending 

funds in a manner inconsistent with their stated purposes.  
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In addition, the report also highlighted that the Registrar of Societies (ROS) does not appear to 

have a clear policy for the identification and closer monitoring of those societies and appears to 

be relying largely upon information from the public, media, and the police to target investigations 

of misuse of NPOs. As such, the financial vulnerability model used in this study can be a very 

useful initial screening device to identify those organisations that are more likely to engage in 

fraudulent activities, as financially vulnerable organisations are more susceptible to fraudulent 

activities (Liou and Yang, 2008, Spathis, 2002). The use of the financial vulnerability model as a 

screening device is also in line with the proposed risk-based approach recommended by the APG. 

In its Mutual Evaluation Report (2011), it recommended that:  

 

“a risk-based approach, strongly encouraged by the FATF, provides for a targeted and 

proportionate approach in which NPOs that are generally considered low-risk are not 

heavily monitored, freeing up resources for authorities to focus the majority of regulatory and 

CFT (counter the financing of terrorism) efforts on those that are considered high-risk”.  

NPO Sector Vulnerabilities, APG Typologies Report 2011, page 22. 

 

The information based on financial vulnerabilities faced by a particular NPO can also facilitate 

managers and board members working on strategic planning to maximise their social output and 

reputation. Finally, donors and other stakeholders can also benefit from the information on 

financial vulnerability of NPOs as it can facilitate their decision-making. In summary, the 

expected findings should provide useful information in managing risks in the non-profit sector.  

 

1.1  Non-Profit Organisations in Malaysia  

 

In Malaysia, the non-profit sector comprises organisations that are generally either charitable 

organisations or societies. Charitable organisations with a revenue of more than RM1 million can 

be registered as companies limited by guarantee under the supervision of the Companies 

Commission of Malaysia (CCM) and is held accountable by the Companies Act of 1965. 

Societies with revenue less than RM1 million can be registered under the Registrar of Societies 

Malaysia (ROS), within the Ministry of Home Affairs, and are held accountable by the Societies 

Act of 1966. 
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NPOs registered under the Companies Act or Societies Act may apply for tax exemption under 

Section 44(6) of the Income Tax Act 1967 from the Inland Revenue Board (IRB). The IRB 

stipulates two conditions that registered institutions must comply with in order to qualify for tax 

exemption. These conditions are: 1. it must be established in Malaysia for charitable purposes 

only and 2. the organisation must spend at least 50% (or such percentage as may be determined 

by the Director General) of its income including donations received in the previous year for the 

activities which were approved to achieve its objectives for the basis period for a year of 

assessment. NPOs applying for this tax exemption are only required by the IRB to submit a 

general audited financial statements for the immediately preceding two years. 

 

In Malaysia, NPOs are encouraged to comply with the International Financial Reporting 

Standards issued by International Accounting Standard Board and adopted by the Malaysian 

Accounting Standard Board or reporting standards applicable for private entities in the 

preparation and presentation of their financial statements. NPOs registered with ROS are required 

by Section 14 of the Societies Act 1966 to submit annual returns that comprise the statement of 

receipts and payments of the last financial year, together with a balance sheet showing the 

financial position of the last financial year and minutes of general meetings to the ROS within 

sixty days after holding its annual general meeting. Other statements such as cash flow statement, 

statement of changes in general fund and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory notes are not required by the ROS. In 2012, the ROS introduced an 

online annual returns submission using a "B9" form. Submission through the “B9” form should 

result in more comprehensive information reported by the societies as it requires information 

based on the requirements of three important legislations and recommendations namely The 

Societies Act 1966, The Asia-Pacific Group of anti-money laundering (APG Mutual Evaluation 

2007) and APG Non-Profit Organisation Typologies 2011.  

 

For companies limited by guarantee under the CCM, Section 167 of the Companies Act 1965 

requires them to maintain records that will sufficiently explain their transactions and financial 

position for a seven-year period. These requirements are not available under the Societies Act 

1966 for societies registered with the ROS. The overall disclosure and reporting requirements of 

NPOs in Malaysia reflect regulators’ efforts in enhancing the quantity and quality of information 

reported by the organisations. However, such efforts can be hindered by the absence of specific 

accounting standard and reduces the availability of information required for effective risk 

management in the non-profit sector.   
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2.  FINANCIAL VULNERABILITY MODEL 

 

Financial vulnerability refers to a situation where an organisation is not able to avoid curtailing 

their programmes and/or services during a financial shock (Tuckman and Chang, 1991). 

Tuckman and Chang (1991) developed a model to measure financial vulnerability in non-profit 

organisations based on the following four indicators: 

 

 The Equity Ratio  

This measures the relative amount of equity of an organisation. Equity is based on the 

difference between total assets and total liabilities. It is measured as the ratio of equity to 

revenue. Organisations with lower equity relative to its revenue are more financially 

vulnerable as it might not be able to replace lost revenues with the existing assets.  

 

 The Revenue Concentration Index   

This index is a measure of the organisation’s amount and variety of revenue sources. The 

index is constructed by summing the square of the percentage share that each of the 

organisation’s revenue sources represents to total revenue. Hence, if an organisation has only 

one source of revenue, its revenue concentration index will be one. Conversely, if an 

organisation has multiple sources of revenue, the revenue concentration index will approach 

zero. Organisations with few revenue sources are expected to be more financially vulnerable 

as they might not be able to rely on alternative sources of revenues when one source is 

temporarily depleted.  

 

 The Administrative Cost Ratio 

This measures the percentage of revenues spent on administrative, as opposed to programme 

costs. It is measured as the ratio of administrative expenses to total expenses. Organisations 

with low administrative costs are expected to be more financially vulnerable as they might 

not be able to reduce the costs without affecting the administration of their social 

programmes.  
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 The Surplus Margin  

This measures the excess of revenues over expenses relative to revenues. Charities with a 

relatively low surplus (the excess of revenues over expenses) may be more vulnerable to 

financial problems than those with a relatively high surplus. That is, an organisation with a 

high surplus may be able to operate with a reduced surplus rather than resorting to a 

reduction in its programme services. Thus, the lower the surplus margin, the greater the 

financial vulnerability.  

 

The ratios are identified based on the assumption that NPOs are established to provide social 

goods for the foreseeable period. Hence, the ratios selected must reflect the ability of the 

organisations to avoid programme cutbacks when a financial shock occurs. Based on these 

premises, the model avoids the need to use output data in measuring the performance of NPOs 

while at the same time considers the impact of the non-profit programmes. This is especially 

important in the non-profit sector, as the definition and measurement of output by NPOs are by 

nature intangible. As such, the information on financial vulnerability in NPOs can be objectively 

measured. In addition, this model is also applicable even for new organisations entering the 

sector.  

 

Based on the various strengths of this model, this study adopts this model in measuring the 

financial vulnerability of NPOs in Malaysia. However, due to the absence of some data in the 

sample of NPOs used in this study, the first indicator is not included. However, following Trussel 

(2002), this study adopts debt ratio instead of equity ratio. This ratio measures the relative 

amount of debt that the organisation uses to finance its programs and projects. It is measured as 

the ratio of total liabilities to total assets. Organisations with higher debt ratio are more 

financially vulnerable as they are less able to finance new and ongoing programmes. Overall, this 

study uses debt ratio, revenue concentration index, administrative cost ratio and surplus margin 

ratio in measuring the financial vulnerability of NPOs. An organisation is considered as 

financially vulnerable if any one of these ratios falls in the bottom quintile of the sample (Chang 

& Tuckman, 1991).  Financially vulnerable organisation are classified as low risk if any one of 

the indicators is present, medium risk if two indicators are present, high risk if three indicators 

are present and very high risk where all the indicators are present.  
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3. METHODOLOGY 

 

3.1  Sampling and Data Collection 

 

The sample consists of 205 societies registered with the ROS in Selangor, Wilayah Persekutuan 

Kuala Lumpur and Terengganu for the financial year 2010. These three states were identified 

because a higher proportion of the societies registered in these states are large ones and as such 

are also more likely to provide more comprehensive information in their annual reports. From the 

sample of NPOs selected, 88% are NPOs registered with the ROS in Selangor and Wilayah 

Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur and the remaining 12% are registered with the ROS in Terengganu.  

 

The sample consists of the various categories of NPOs as classified by the ROS: (1) religious, (2) 

welfare, (3) social and recreation, (4) women, (5) culture, (6) mutual benefit societies, (7) trade 

associations, (8) youth, (9) disabled (10) education, (11) political, (12) employment associations, 

(13) general, and (14) others. Information on financial vulnerability ratios were collected from 

the information disclosed in these annual reports.  

 

The definitions and measurements of variables used in this study are listed in Table 1. 

 

Table 1 - Definition and Measurement of Variables 

Variable  

Acronym 

Financial Vulnerability Ratios Measurement 

ADMIN Administrative ratio   Ratio of administrative expenses to 

total expenses 

REV Revenue concentration index  Hirschman-Herfindahl Index 

DEBT Debt ratio  Ratio of total debts to total assets 

MARGIN Margin ratio  Ratio of revenues over expenses 

relative to revenues 

 

4.  ANALYSIS AND RESULTS 

 

4.1  Descriptive Statistics 

 

Table 2 presents the descriptive statistics on the dependent variable, the four measures of 

financial vulnerability.  
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Table 2 - Descriptive Statistics for Measures of Financial Vulnerability 

 Minimum Maximum Mean Std. Deviation 

ADMIN (%) 0.00 100.00 66.27 35.80 

REV 0.30 1.00 0.78 0.20 

DEBT (%) 0.00 921.83 18.03 76.08 

MARGIN (%) -570.28 99.10 -4.99 74.50 

 

Table 2 reported that ADMIN ranges from a minimum of 0.00% to 100.00%. The mean value of 

66.27% indicates fairly high percentage of administrative expenses incurred by the NPOs in the 

sample of study. This indicates that in times of financial shock, these organisations are more able 

to maintain their social programs by cutting administrative expenses.  

 

The mean value of 0.78 for REV indicates that NPOs in the sample of study received revenues 

from fewer sources. These organisations are more susceptible to financial problems relative to 

organisations with multiple sources of revenue. The availability of multiple sources of revenues 

allows the organisations to rely on alternative sources of revenues if one source is temporarily 

depleted. The mean value of 18.03% for DEBT indicates that NPOs in the sample of study do not 

rely on high debt financing in managing their social programmes. Finally, Table 2 reported that 

MARGIN ranges from -570.28% to 99.10%. The low mean value of -4.99% indicates that most 

of the NPOs in the sample do not have surpluses during the financial period 2010. 

 

4.2  Financial Vulnerability Prediction 

 

This study measures financially vulnerable NPOs if any one of the indicators falls in the bottom 

quintile of the sample. Out of 205 NPOs in the sample, 146 (71%) NPOs are classified as 

financially vulnerable. Further analysis of the financially vulnerable NPOs revealed that 91 NPOs 

(62%) are classified as low risk, 45 NPOs (31%) are classified as medium risk, 10 NPOs (7%) are 

classified as high risk and none are in the very high-risk category.  

 

Based on the organisations classified as financially vulnerable, this study calculates the mean and 

standard deviation values for each category of risks. According to Chang & Tuckman (1991), 

such profiling allows an examination of the effectiveness of the ratios in identifying financially 

vulnerable organisations. More importantly, it can highlight potential issues to regulators, boards, 

managers and other stakeholders in their assessment of the various risks affecting the NPOs.  
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  Table 3 - The Financial Profile of Financially Vulnerable Organisations 

Selected Characteristics Mean Standard Deviation 

Administrative ratio (%) 

Total 

 

60.70 

 

37.88 

Low risk 66.69 36.11 

Medium risk 48.07 38.92 

High risk 62.98 38.85 

 

Revenue concentration  

Total  

 

 

0.73 

 

 

0.21 

Low risk 0.77 0.20 

Medium risk 0.72 0.21 

High risk 0.49 0.04 

 

Total debt to total assets ratio (%) 

Total 

 

 

18.66 

 

 

88.39 

Low risk 25.16 109.88 

Medium risk 9.64 28.34 

High risk 0.09 0.20 

 

Margin (%) 

Total  

 

 

-18.49 

 

 

82.83 

Low risk -1.18 62.66 

Medium risk -41.26 106.53 

High risk -73.59 82.46 

 

Results in Table 3 reported that the mean value for administration ratio of the sample is 60.70%. 

This finding indicates that high administration cost is associated with financial vulnerability. This 

is in contrast to studies in the US (Chang & Tuckman, 1991, Trussel, 2002) where organisations 

with high administration costs are expected to be less financially vulnerable as they are more able 

to reduce some of their administration costs without affecting the administration of their current 

programs. However, the study by Ryan & Irvine (2012) on NPOs in Australia highlighted that 

high administration costs may indicate lesser reliance on volunteers for their programmes. 

Further analyses revealed that the mean value for low risk organisations is 66.69% while the 

mean values for medium risk and high-risk organisations are 48.07% and 62.98% respectively.  
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The variation in the pattern of these values may indicate inconsistent allocation of costs possibly 

due to less sophisticated accounting systems or non-identical accounting definitions and policies 

due to a lack of detailed accounting guidance. This can also lead to manipulation of costs (Ryan 

& Irvine, 2012). Further investigations on the types of expenses an organisation has in relation to 

its source of funds, age of organisation and other organisational characteristics can provide useful 

information in managing the operational risks of an organisation.   

 

In relation to revenue concentration index, the mean value for the sample is 0.73. An index of 

almost 1 indicates that organisations in the sample do not have access to multiple sources of 

funds and are considered as financially vulnerable. However, Table 3 reported that the mean 

values for the low risk, medium risk and high-risk organisations are 0.77, 0.72 and 0.49 

respectively. This indicates that the higher the risks, the higher the number of funding sources 

available to the organisations. This is in contrast to findings in previous studies (e.g. Chang & 

Tuckman, 1991, Ryan & Irvine, 2012, Trussel, 2002). It is possible that organisations in this 

sample are receiving their major source of funds from government grants or other major 

contributors, allowing them to continue providing their social products or services. However, in 

order to survive in the long term, an organisation needs to maintain a healthy balance of funding 

sources. As such, a revenue concentration index value provides useful information on the funding 

risks of an organisation. This in turn can facilitate boards and managers to develop appropriate 

funding strategies to ensure the long-term survival of their organisations. In addition, further 

investigations on the main contributors of funds by regulators can also reveal potential misuse of 

NPOs for the financing of terrorism (NPO Sector Vulnerabilities, APG Typologies Report 2011). 

This in turn can facilitate regulators in improving the oversight of NPOs, manage integrity risks 

and protect the credibility of the overall NPO sector.    

 

Table 3 reported that the mean value of debt to total assets ratio for the sample is 18.66%. The 

mean values for the low risk, medium risk and high-risk organisations are 25.16%, 9.64% and 

0.09% respectively. Studies by Chang & Tuckman (1991) and Trussel (2002) indicated a ratio of 

more than 30% for financially vulnerable organisations. Hence, the mean values for the sample 

and the individual categories of risks in this study are within an acceptable level. However, it is 

expected that high-risk organisations should have the highest debt ratio, followed by medium-risk 

organisations. It is possible that the higher the risk of an organisation, the slimmer the possibility 

of securing loans. Lower risk organisations may be perceived as more able to survive and service 

their debts. Further analysis of liquidity positions of organisations can provide useful information 

in managing the financial risks of the organisations.    
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In relation to the final indicator, Table 3 reported that the mean value of the surplus margin ratio 

for the sample is -18.49%. The mean values for the low risk, medium risk and high-risk 

organisations are -1.18%, -41.26% and -73.59% respectively. The pattern of the surplus margin 

ratio is consistent with previous studies (e.g. Chang & Tuckman, 1991, Ryan & Irvine, 2012, 

Trussel, 2002), where high-risk organisations are associated with high negative surplus margins. 

Board and managers need to investigate the surplus margin figures with other value creation 

strategies in ensuring the long-term survival of the organisations. Hence, this indicator provides 

useful information in managing the strategic risks of an organisation. Regulators can also use 

these figures in screening NPOs with potential fraudulent activities because financially distressed 

organisations are more susceptible to fraudulent activities (Liou and Yang, 2008, Spathis, 2002).  

 

5.  CONCLUSION AND LIMITATIONS  

 

Information on financial vulnerability provides valuable information to boards, managers and 

regulators in managing various risks faced by NPOs. Using the financial vulnerability model 

developed by Tuckman and Chang (1991), this paper extends their work (1991) to predict 

financial vulnerability of NPOs operating in a developing country. More importantly, this paper 

provides a descriptive analysis on the usefulness of this model in facilitating boards, managers 

and regulators to manage potential risks in NPOs. Based on the financial vulnerability model, this 

study finds that 71% of the NPOs in the sample are classified as financially vulnerable. However, 

most of the financially vulnerable organisations fall under the low risk category. Nevertheless, it 

provides useful information to boards and managers in formulating various strategic actions 

necessary to maximize social output and enhance the long-term survival of the NPOs.  

 

The financial profile of financially vulnerable organisations provides further insight into the 

usefulness of the financial vulnerability model. It provides useful information that can facilitate 

screening, monitoring, and decision-making processes to various stakeholders. It can also 

facilitate relevant regulatory authorities in monitoring the NPOs – using the information as an 

initial screening tool in detecting the likelihood of fraudulent activities given that financially 

vulnerable organisations are susceptible to fraudulent activities (Liou and Yang, 2008). In 

addition, current and potential donors can also benefit from this information to facilitate their 

decision-making.  
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Despite the potential usefulness of this model, there are some inconsistencies between the results 

in this study and studies in developed countries with regards to the direction of the financial 

vulnerabilities indicators in the financial profiling of financially vulnerable organisations. This 

may be due to the absence of detailed guidance by regulations to NPOs in reporting their 

financial information. For example, in contrast to results in developed countries, this study finds 

that high-risk organisations have a lower debt to total assets ratio. Apart from variation in 

accounting definitions and policies among the NPOs, it is also possible that legitimate factors 

associated with different institutional environments are influencing the interpretation of the 

financially vulnerable indicators. For example, NPOs in developing countries are more dependent 

on fewer sources of funds such as government grants, and in turn, debt providers are more willing 

to provide debt funding to these organisations even though fewer source of funds are interpreted 

as more financially vulnerable in a developed country setting.  

 

As such, this paper makes important contributions to the literature on financial vulnerability of 

NPOs. First, this paper applies the financial vulnerability model in facilitating boards, managers, 

regulators and other stakeholders in their assessment of the various risks faced by NPOs. 

Although extensive research has been conducted on management of risks in the for-profit sector, 

there is little research in the non-profit sector. Second, this research is conducted in a developing 

country setting where few such studies have been conducted, partly due to the absence of data. 

Hence, this study fills the gap in the literature by providing new findings in different institutional 

environments.           

 

Finally, the analysis of data in this study was limited by the use of financial information for only 

one financial period. Future research may consider the use of financial information based on 

several financial periods to obtain a more meaningful analysis of financial vulnerabilities. Despite 

these limitations, this study provides useful insights in understanding the applicability and 

usefulness of financial vulnerability model of NPOs in a developing country. 
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SMES AND TAXATION: COMPLIANCE ISSUES AND TAX BURDEN IN THE 

MALAYSIAN ECONOMY 

 

ABSTRACT 

 

Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) play a vital role in a country’s economic development, 

however, increasing levels of regulations are burdensome to SMEs and the research found tax 

obligation to be one of their greatest challenges. Nonetheless published scholarly studies on 

Malaysian SMEs are scarce. At the time of study, little is known about the compliance issues and 

burden faced by SME audits.  

 

This paper examines the tax compliance issues and burden faced by Malaysian SMEs. A survey 

was administered on 2,400 registered SMEs via postal and online survey methods. The target 

respondents were small business owners or staff members who were in charge of SME tax 

matters. In total, 84 usable data were collected and analysed. Members of Malaysian Institute of 

Accountants made up 35.7% of the respondents. The survey found that despite the 

implementation of the self-assessment system, which commenced more than ten years ago, some 

respondents were unsure about the tax compliance requirements for SMEs. A majority of them 

also were not fully aware of the various tax incentives and exemptions available to SMEs, and as 

a result did not utilize them in tax planning strategies. A majority of the respondents indicated 

that the prevailing tax rate for SMEs is high and some suggested that the government should 

lower the tax rate in order to lighten their tax burden.  

 

Notably, some SMEs preferred the government to lower corporate tax rate over other approaches 

such as tax incentives, double deduction of expenses, tax exemption, lowering the penalty or 

simplifying the income tax system for SMEs. Overall, the findings indicate that frequent changes 

in the tax laws make it difficult for SMEs to keep abreast and to comply with the revisions. It is 

suggested that the government should intensify tax education programmes on SMEs and to give 

tax deduction to SMEs for fees paid to tax agents. It is also suggested that the government should 

shift the threshold of chargeable income to be taxed at corporate tax rate of 20% for SMEs 

upward to RM2 million, from the existing RM500,000.   
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1. INTRODUCTION 

 

To date, there is no standard or universally accepted definition for small medium enterprises 

(SMEs). For taxation purpose, in the 2003 Budget, the Ministry of Finance defined SMEs as 

enterprises or companies incorporated in Malaysia with a paid-up ordinary share capital of not 

more than RM2.5 million at the beginning of the basis period for a year of assessment. This 

definition excludes companies holding or owning an investment in a company with a paid-up 

ordinary share capital of more than RM2.5 million.  

 

Official statistics show that about 80% of Malaysian SMEs are micro enterprises, i.e., sole 

proprietorships, partnerships and private limited companies (Department of Statistics, 2006). In 

2008, SMEs contributed about 31% to the national gross domestic product and 19% of exports 

(National SME Development Council, 2010). Over the years, in order to support, sustain and 

grow SMEs, the Malaysian government has developed various economic and tax policies to 

accelerate their growth. However, business regulations and changes in tax policies have caused 

somewhat of a compliance burden on SMEs. Although, tax regulation is one of the greatest 

barrier for the growth of SMEs, a survey done by Ernst and Young (2006) found that to cope with 

the global economic slowdown and ensure business viability, compliance with tax law became 

less of a  priority for SMEs. 

 

To date, a few studies (Abdul-Jabbar & Pope, 2008; Hanefah, Ariff, & Kasipillai, 2001; Lai & 

Choong, 2012) have attempted to study Malaysian SMEs in the context of tax compliance. 

Hanefah et al. (2001) and Abdul-Jabbar and Pope (2008) focused on the tax compliance cost of 

SMEs. Lai and Choong (2012) on the other hand found that tax practitioners perceived that the 

self-assessment tax system brought more benefits to the tax authorities than to the taxpayers. 

There is little published scholarly study to examine the pertinent compliance issues and burden 

faced by SMEs. Notably, the self-assessment tax system has been introduced in Malaysia since 

the 2001 year of assessment, however, at the time of study, little is known if self-assessment is 

working properly for SMEs. There are still many gaps in our understanding of compliance issues 

and burden affecting SMEs in the self-assessment system in Malaysia. This study therefore aims 

to fill that knowledge gap.  
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The primary objective of this study is to find out the issues and burden faced by SMEs with 

regards to tax compliance. The secondary objectives are (1) to examine if SMEs are fully aware 

of tax incentives and exemptions available to them; (2) to assess SMEs’ knowledge of record 

keeping requirements and the consequences of non-compliance; (3) to solicit SMEs’ 

understanding about the concept and implication of the self-assessment system; and (4) to 

examine the tax compliance complexities faced by SMEs in the era of the self-assessment system. 

 

2. LITERATURE REVIEW 

 

It has been reported that tax obligations form the bulk of the compliance burden for small 

businesses in developed economies, such as the US, UK, Australia and New Zealand (Chittenden, 

Kauser, & Poutziouris, 2003). In Australia, small businesses are concerned with the complexity 

and ever-changing nature of the tax system and bureaucracy (CPA Australia, 2003, 2008; 

Mckerchar, 2005; Tran-Nam & Glover, 2002). The CPA survey revealed that as SMEs are 

relatively less savvy in handling tax matters, they are more adversely affected when dealing with 

the complexity of tax regulation as opposed to larger firms. The survey also found a high level of 

resentment and frustration among small businesses over tax compliance, with 62% resenting the 

time taken to meet all their tax obligations and 41% feeling swamped by the paperwork.  The 

resentment comes from the complexity of the tax system and a lack of clarity about taxpayer 

obligations (CPA Australia, 2003). On the other hand, Evans et al. (2005) and Lignier (2009) 

found that most small business taxpayers did not see tax compliance obligations as an incentive 

to maintain up-to-date record keeping.  

 

In the UK, the quarterly survey of small businesses conducted by Small Business Research Trust 

(SBRT) found that small businesses with one or two employees spent around five more hours per 

person in a month to comply with the tax regulatory requirement compared to businesses having 

50 or more employees (SBRT, 2005).  In a later study, SBRT (2007) reported that taxation was 

selected by 63% of owner-managers of SMEs in the UK as a barrier for growth. A recent study 

conducted by the Open University Business School found many UK hotels and restaurants 

suffering from tax burden (McCann, 2012). 
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3. IMPLICATIONS OF SELF-ASSESSMENT TAX SYSTEM ON MALAYSIAN SMES 

 

From the Year of Assessment (YA) 2001, the Malaysian Inland Revenue Board (IRB) 

streamlined the tax administration policies to embrace a self-assessment tax system for 

companies. Under this system, the burden of assessing tax liability has been shifted from the 

shoulders of the tax officers to the taxpayers. To fully comply with this system, at minimum, all 

taxpayers need to have some basic knowledge of taxation, with respect to the taxability of 

income, deductibility of expenses, entitlements, reliefs, rebates and exemptions. For those who 

operate a business, they must have some basic understanding of taxability of income from 

business and non-business sources, exemption, deductibility of expenditure etc.  However, the 

inherent complexity of tax laws and the frequent changes to the tax laws make it difficult for a 

business owner to comprehend, let alone apply. Notably, even in a developed country, such as, 

Australia, Inglis (2002, p.8) stated that tax laws and the frequent changes in tax laws have made it 

difficult for tax specialists and tax assessors to comprehend and keep abreast of the changes – 

what more a layperson.  

 

Under the self-assessment system, all existing companies (except newly established SMEs) are 

required to submit estimates of tax payable no later than 30 days before the beginning of the basis 

period. Nonetheless, with effect from YA 2003, a company may revise the estimate of income tax 

payable in a ‘prescribed form’ (CP204A) in the sixth month, or the ninth month, or in both the 

months of the basis period for a year of assessment. The law also states that the estimated tax 

payable for the current year of assessment must not be less than 85% from the estimated or 

revised estimated tax payable of immediate preceding year. Meanwhile, the monthly instalment 

payment will be due on the 10th of every month beginning from the second month of the basis 

period of the year of assessment. Failure to pay the tax instalment on time will incur a 10% 

penalty on the amount unpaid, according to Section 107C (9) of the Income Tax Act, 1967. In 

addition, a 10% + 5% penalty will also be imposed for every late payment of the balance of tax 

payable. And if the actual assessment exceeds the original estimate or revised estimate by the 

amount exceeding 30% of the actual tax payable, the difference will be subject to a penalty of 

10%.  

 

With regards to the deadline for the filing of the tax return form, SMEs (which includes sole 

proprietors or partners) must submit the form by 30 June every year while, SMEs (private limited 

companies) must submit within seven months after the companies close its accounts.  
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If taxpayers fail to comply, the IRB will derive their own assessment based on estimates and 

issue a notice of assessment. Non-submission of the tax return form and late payment of taxes 

will attract a penalty. Under Section 112 (1) of the Income Tax Act 1967, the penalty on failure 

to furnish tax return by the stipulated deadline is a fine ranging from RM200 to RM2,000, or 

imprisonment not exceeding six months or both. Taxpayers who fail to make income tax 

payments for a year of assessment within 30 days from the date of issue of the notice of 

assessment are charged a 10% increase on the tax or outstanding tax balance. If the tax or tax 

balance is still unpaid after 60 days from the date, the 10% increase is imposed and a further 5% 

increase will be charged on the tax or tax balance.  

 

In addition, Section 82 of the Income Tax Act requires all business transactions to be recorded 

into accounting books within 60 days and Section 82D of the Act requires individuals carrying 

out business to keep and retain accounting records and the supporting business document for 

seven years for tax audit purposes (Income Tax Act, 1967). In line with this, Section 119A of the 

Act stipulates that failure to keep the records without reasonable excuse is guilty of an offence 

and upon conviction, is liable to a fine that is not less than RM300 and not more than RM10,000 

or to imprisonment for a term not exceeding one year. In respect of the tax rate, in YA 2007, on 

the first chargeable income of RM500,000, the tax rate is 20%. The next chargeable income 

exceeding RM500,000 will be charged at a rate of 27% (Note that this rate has been reduced to 

26% and 25% in YA 2008 and YA 2009 respectively). 

 

Several tax incentives outlined in the Income Tax Act (1967) and Promotion of Investment Act 

(1986), namely, pioneer status tax exemption, investment tax allowances, reinvestment 

allowance, exemptions, specific deduction and double deduction are specifically designed for 

Malaysian SMEs. However, no official statistics are available to show if SMEs are aware of the 

existence of these incentives and exemptions. What is clear is, in order for SMEs to take 

advantage of these tax incentives and exemptions; SMEs need to have adequate tax knowledge. 

Previous studies in Malaysia (Hanefah et. al., 2001) and in Australia (Evans et. al., 2005) found 

that most SMEs (sole owners, partners) are not tax literate – lacking sufficient knowledge on how 

to compute tax liability and to claim the relevant tax incentives.  

 

Choong and Lai (2008) found Malaysian business taxpayers were not fully aware of their tax 

responsibilities, and found that 69.8% of the business taxpayers were unaware that business 

transactions must be recorded within 60 days from the date of the transactions.  
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Choong and Lai (2008) found that taxpayers (especially sole proprietors and owners of SMEs) 

considered record keeping as of little importance as they were preoccupied with more important 

business matters. As such, they relied on part-time book-keepers to carry out the record keeping, 

accounting and filing of tax returns. The survey found that most small business owners are not 

familiar with tax regulations. Choong and Lai (2008) found that only 30% of the business 

taxpayers were aware of the existence of Public Rulings (guidance notes issued by the IRB in 

respect to certain tax issues/topic to guide the taxpayers, tax officers and tax preparers). In 

essence, Choong and Lai (2008) found that a substantial majority had no idea of the existence of 

Public Rulings, let alone reading and seeking guidance from Public Rulings. The ignorance of 

taxpayers’ obligation and tax rulings could lead to tax non-compliance and tax audit. As a result, 

most Malaysian small businesses are outsourcing tax compliance work externally - engaging 

accountants or tax practitioners to help them to perform tax compliance work instead of 

performing the task themselves.  

 

Overall, the literature review illustrates that there are many gaps in our understanding of SMEs 

and taxation in a developing country like Malaysia.  

 

4. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY 

 

A questionnaire was used to collect data. In constructing the questionnaire, questions were 

specifically designed to suit the study context. The questionnaire comprised six sections. Section 

A gathered the background of respondents. Section B was designed to ascertain the respondents’ 

opinions on taxation on SMEs. In Section C, eleven questions were designed to establish the 

respondents’ knowledge about tax incentives and exemptions available to SMEs. Section D was 

designed to find out the respondents’ awareness of record keeping requirements and the 

consequences of tax non-compliance and tax evasion. Section E solicited the respondents’ 

knowledge about the concept and implication of the self-assessment system in Malaysia.  In 

Section F, nine questions were designed to determine the tax compliance complexities faced by 

SMEs. The questionnaire was subjected to one pilot test prior to it being sent to the respondents. 

 

A simple random sampling method was employed to select the target respondents. The 

questionnaire was sent to 2,400 companies registered with the SME Corporation Malaysia. (With 

effect from 2 October 2009, SME Corporation Malaysia is the central point of reference for 

information and advisory services for all SMEs in Malaysia).  
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One month later, in view of poor response to the postal survey, an email was sent to remind 

respondents to return the questionnaire. In the email, the Uniform Resource Location (URL) of 

the questionnaire was distributed via Perseus Survey Solution (Perseus). Perseus is subscribed by 

the Research Management Institute of the researcher’s university. Permission to use Perseus was 

sought and the researcher was given the authorized user account and password to administer and 

monitor the online survey.  To follow up, the URL of the survey was posted online on the official 

website of SME Corporation Malaysia to remind target respondents to participate. The survey 

was conducted over a period of two months, from 1 October to 30 November 2009. Only 

responses from small business owners or staff members in charge of tax affairs related to SMEs 

were used for data analysis. In total, 84 usable data were collected and analysed. Although the 

response rate was low, it was considered fairly acceptable when compared with another online 

survey conducted by Mckercher (2005) on registered tax agents in Australian, which had only 1% 

response rate. In addition, Zikmund (2000) highlighted that response rates for online survey are 

generally poor when cooperation is voluntary. 

 

5. DATA ANALYSIS 

 

5.1 The Respondents’ Profiles 

 

Table 1 presents the respondents’ profiles. All the 84 respondents had experience related to 

taxation of SMEs and were involved in handling tax affairs of SMEs. About 35.7% of the 

respondents indicated that they were members of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, which 

meant that they are qualified accountants. The findings showed that about 48.8% of the 

respondents were accountants/account officers, 35.7% were SMEs owners/proprietors and 15.5% 

were managers/company secretaries. 

 

The respondents were from all over Malaysia; with a large number from Selangor Darul Ehsan, 

Wilayah Persekutuan and Penang. About 56% of the respondents were males and 44% were 

females. With respect to age, the majority (47.6%) was between 31 to 40 years old and 31% were 

between 41 to 50 years old. Just 8.3% of the respondents have been in the business for less than 2 

years, 15.5% between 3-4 years and 76.2% more than 5 years. With respect to the types of 

business, 42.9% of the SMES were in manufacturing, 11.9% in trading, 23.8% in the service 

sector and the remaining were in food and catering, and consultancy.  
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Table 1 - The Respondents’ Profiles 

 

Particulars  Frequency  Percentage (%) 

A member of the Malaysian 

Institute of Accountants 

Yes 

No 

 

30 

54 

35.7 

64.3 

Position in the company SMEs owner/proprietor 

Manager/company secretary 

Accountant/accounts officer 

 

30 

13 

41  

35.7 

15.5 

48.8 

State Selangor Darul Ehsan 23 27.3 

 Wilayah Persekutuan 

Pulau Pinang 

16 

13 

19.4 

15.4 

 Malacca  9 10.7 

 Johor  7   8.3 

 Kelantan 

Sarawak 

Sabah 

Perak 

Kedah 

 3 

 3 

 3 

 2 

 2 

  3.6 

  3.6 

  3.6 

  2.4 

  2.4 

 Pahang  1   1.1 

 Perlis  1   1.1 

 Terengganu 

  

 1   1.1 

Gender Male 47  56 

 Female 

 

37  44 

Age 21-30 years old 

31-40 years old 

41-50 years old 

51-60 ears old 

>60 years old 

 

12 

40 

26 

  5 

  1 

14.3 

47.6 

31.0 

  6.0 

  1.2 

Length in the company 1 to 2 years 

3-4 years 

7 

13 

  8.3 

15.5 

 5-6 years 7   8.3 

 7-8 years 

9-10 years 

>10 years 

 

4 

4 

49 

  4.8 

  4.8 

58.3 

Types of business Manufacturing 

Trading 

Service 

Construction 

Food & catering 

Others (consultancy) 

 

36 

10 

20 

3 

1 

14 

42.9 

11.9 

23.8 

3.6 

1.2 

16.7 

Total  

 

84 100 
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5.2 SMEs’ Annual Sales Turnover   

 

Figure 1 and 2 depict sales turnover in 2008 and 2009 respectively. The findings show that 

despite having a paid-up share capital of less than RM2.5 million, more than 40% of SMEs are 

generating a turnover of RM10 million and more. The findings indicate that most SMEs have the 

potential to accelerate their turnover exponentially if they were properly guided to take advantage 

and utilize various tax incentives currently available to them.   

 

                              Figure 1 - Company’s Annual Turnover in 2008  

 
 

Figure 2 - Company’s Annual Turnover in 2009 
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6. SMES AND TAXATION: ISSUES AND COMPLIANCE BURDEN 

 

All the respondents were either small business owners or staff members who had experience in 

dealing with SME taxation. Several questions were designed to solicit the respondents’ opinions 

on SMEs and taxation. The findings are as follows. 

 

6.1 Who Looks After The Tax Compliance Work For The Small Business? 

 

At the outset, SMEs were asked if they had engaged the services of a tax agent to handle their tax 

affairs, and 73.8% indicated in the affirmative. This finding is consistent with the findings of a 

small business survey conducted in Australia by CPA Australia, which found most small 

businesses outsourced tax compliance work to tax agents (CPA Australia, 2008).  With regards to 

the amount of tax agent’s fee paid per year, the majority indicated that they paid less than 

RM2,000, 16.7% paid between RM2,001 to RM4,000, and 8.3% indicted that they paid more 

than RM16,000.  

 

Figure 3 - Tax agent’s fee paid per year in Ringgit Malaysia (RM) 

 

 
 

6.2 Tax Rate and Thoughts on How to Lighten Tax Burden 

 

At the time of the study, the tax rate for SMEs is 20% on the chargeable income not exceeding 

RM500,000 and 25% on chargeable income exceeding RM500,000. When asked if these tax rates 

are reasonable, the survey found that only 31% indicated that the rates are reasonable, while 69% 

thought otherwise. For those who thought the present tax rates are unreasonable, they were asked 

to suggest the threshold of chargeable income and the rate they considered to be reasonable for 

SMEs. Unfortunately, they had diverse opinions and provided various threshold limits with 

varying tax rates. Some even opined that there should not be any threshold for SMEs. About 

64.3% wanted the government to lower the tax rate for SMEs, and some felt that the tax rate 

should be as low as 5%.  
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Figure 4 - What action do you wish the government should take to lighten the tax   

  compliance burden of SMEs 

 

 
 

In turn, the respondents were asked to suggest action(s) they thought the government should take 

to ease or lighten the tax compliance burden of SMEs. Figure 4 presents the findings. Some 9.5% 

suggested that the government should reduce penalties for tax non-compliance and exempt SMEs 

from paying income tax. Another 6% hoped SMEs could get exemption of import duty and be 

provided with a special simplified income tax system. Only 4.8% thought the government should 

allow more expenses to qualify for double deduction. 

 

6.3 Awareness and Knowledge About Tax Incentives and Exemptions  

 

To be tax compliant and to avoid paying unnecessary tax, it is important for SMEs to know and 

appropriately utilize the various tax incentives and exemptions available to minimize tax. The 

survey solicited the respondents’ awareness on the tax incentives provided under the Income Tax 

Act (1967) and Promotion of Investment Act (1986) available to SMEs. Table 2 presents the 

findings.  

 

The overall results indicated that a substantial majority of the respondents were not familiar with 

tax exemptions available to SMEs. 
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Table 2 - SMEs’ Awareness of Tax Incentives and Exemptions 

  Yes No Not sure 

i SMEs are eligible for pioneer status to be tax exempted for 

5 complete years  

 

70.2 10.8 19.0 

ii SMEs are eligible for investment tax allowance, to get 

exemption of income based on capital expenditure incurred 

 

64.3 6.0 29.7 

iii SMEs are eligible for reinvestment allowance, to get 

exemption of income based on capital expenditure incurred 

 

66.7 2.3 31.0 

iv SMEs are eligible for income tax exemption on increased 

export of goods and services 

 

51.2 16.7 32.1 

v SMEs that are Malaysian international trading companies 

are eligible for income tax exemption for 5 years 

 

31.0 26.2 42.8 

vi SMEs are eligible for business tax deduction on acquisition 

of foreign owned company 

 

21.4 31.0 47.6 

vii SMEs are eligible for business deduction on cost of 

acquisition proprietary rights 

 

22.6 28.6 48.8 

viii SMEs are eligible for double deduction on research & 

development 

 

63.1 7.1 29.8 

 

ix SMEs are eligible for double deduction on remuneration 

paid to disabled employees 

 

60.7 7.1 32.2 

x SMEs are eligible for double deduction on promotional 

export expenses 

 

58.3 6.0 35.7 

xi SMEs are eligible for get 100% deduction on entertainment 

expenses solely related to sales 

 

57.1 10.8 32.1 

 

 

6.4 Awareness of Record Keeping Requirements and Consequences of Non-Compliance   

 

The survey found that 47.6% of the respondents knew that business transactions must be recorded 

into accounting books within 60 days of the transaction, and more than 83% knew that they need 

to keep business records for 7 years (see Table 3, item i and ii).  
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In the era of the self-assessment system, it was announced that taxpayers will be audited once 

every five years (The IRB, 2009). The survey found that 65% of the respondents opined that 

SMEs run the risk of being selected for tax audit once in every five years. About 61% knew that 

filing incorrect tax returns would be subject to a fine of 45% of tax undercharged; nonetheless, 

only 44% knew that tax evasion would be fined 300% on tax undercharged. In 2009, the IRB 

issued 40 Public Rulings and the Tax Audit Framework to guide taxpayers. However, the survey 

found only 22.6% and 28.6% were fully aware of the existence of Public Rulings and Tax Audit 

Framework respectively. These findings support Choong and Lai (2008) who found that most 

Malaysian business taxpayers were not fully aware of Public Rulings, let alone reading and 

adhering to the rulings. 

 

Table 3 - SMEs’ Familiarity with the record-keeping requirement 

 

  Yes No Not sure 

i. Business transactions must be recorded into accounting books 

within 60 days of transaction 

 

47.6 26.2 26.2 

ii. Accounting books must be kept for 7 years 

 

83.3 3.6 13.1 

iii. SMEs run the risk of being selected for tax audit once in every 

5 years 

 

65.5 10.7 23.8 

iv. Incorrect tax return will be fined 45% on tax undercharged 

 

60.7 13.1 26.2 

v. Tax evasion will be fined 300% on tax undercharged 

 

44.0 22.6 33.3 

vi. As at 1.7.2009, IRB has published 40 Public Rulings 

 

22.6 25.0 52.4 

vii. The IRB has re-issued Tax Audit Framework on 1 Jan 2009 

 

28.6 25.0 46.4 

 

6.5 SMEs’ Understanding of the Concept and Implications of the Self-Assessment Tax 

System  

 

With effect from YA 2001, companies are put on the self-assessment system. Under this system, 

every company is required to furnish an estimate of income tax payable for a year of assessment 

30 days before the beginning of a basis period.  
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In the midst of the global economic slowdown and uncertainties in the environment due to global 

flu outbreak, global warning, natural disasters and political unrest, it is extremely difficult to 

estimate tax payable in advance. To make matters worse, from YA 2006, the law further stated 

that the estimated tax payable must not be less than 85% from the estimate or revised estimate tax 

payable of the immediate preceding year. A company is allowed to revise the estimate tax 

payable in the sixth month, or in the ninth month or in both these months of the basis period for a 

YA to avoid penalties on underestimates of income tax payable. A 10% penalty will be imposed 

on the excess of the 30% difference between the original estimated tax payable (or revised 

estimated tax payable) and the actual tax payable upon submission of the final tax return. Thus, 

the onus is now on the taxpayer to understand, interpret and apply the tax laws and regulations 

accordingly; failure to comply will render the taxpayer liable to penalty for understatement of 

income or under payment of taxes. Unfortunately, the survey found that slightly more than two-

thirds of the respondents knew about the above requirements (see Table 4). These results are 

alarming, as the self-assessment system has already been implemented for more than 10 years. 

 

Table 4 - Understanding of Concept and Implication of Self-Assessment Tax System on 

SMEs 
  

Statement Yes No 
Not 

sure 

a. Do you know a company is required to estimate tax payable 30 days 

before the beginning of a basis period? 

 

70.2 3.6 26.2 

b. Do you know that the estimated tax payable must be not less than 

85% from the estimate or revised estimate tax payable of the 

immediate preceding year?  

 

65.5 7.1 27.4 

c. Do you know a company can revise their tax payable estimation on 

the sixth and/or ninth month? 

 

69.0 4.8 26.2 

d. Do you know a company needs to pay the first instalment by the 10th 

of the second month of the basis period? 

 

70.2 4.8 25.0 

e. Do you know there will be a 10% penalty for every late payment of 

the instalments? 

 

69.0 1.2 29.8 

f. Do you know there will be a 10% + 5% penalty for a late payment of 

balance of tax payable? 

 

63.1 3.6 33.3 
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6.6 Tax Compliance Complexity in the Era of the Self-Assessment System 

 

To further probe the issue, nine questions were designed to determine the tax compliance 

complexities faced by SMEs. The finding is presented in Table 5. The survey found the response 

that “the tax laws always change” ranked on top of the list - scoring 4.04 on a 5-point scale 

(significant at p<0.001). “It is difficult to estimate tax payable for a company” was ranked 

second, followed by “the IRB’s advice is not sufficiently accessible”, “the tax laws are difficult to 

understand” and “the IRB always delays tax refunds to my company”. Overall, the findings 

indicate that frequent changes in the tax laws make it difficult for SMEs to keep abreast and to 

fully comply. 

 

Table 5 - SMEs:  tax compliance complexities in the era of self-assessment system 

 

Statement 

 
Mean# Std Dev Ranking 

The tax laws always change 

  

4.04*** 1.25 1 

It is difficult to estimate tax payable for a company 

 

3.89*** 1.39 2 

IRB’s advice is not sufficiently accessible 

 

3.81*** 1.42 3 

The tax laws are difficult to understand 

 

3.77*** 1.27 4 

There are too many tax deadlines to  remember 

 

3.73*** 1.33 5 

IRB always delays tax refunds to my company 

 

3.74*** 1.50 6 

Cost of tax agent is too high 

 

3.66*** 1.25 7 

IRB is slow in responding to tax correspondence 

 

3.57** 1.41 8 

The Public Rulings are not helping me to understand the tax 

laws better 

 

3.55** 1.38 9 

 

#  All variables were measured based on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree) 

***p<0.001, ** p<0.01, *p<0.05 
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7. IMPLICATIONS OF FINDINGS 

 

The study uncovered the experience of Malaysian SMEs in tax compliance in the era of the self-

assessment tax system. The survey found that about 74% of SMEs engaged tax agents or 

professionals to handle their tax affairs, some even paid more than RM16,000 a year for tax 

services - increasing the tax compliance cost of SMEs. Notably, at present, fees paid to tax agents 

do not qualify for tax deduction. Given that tax compliance is a legal obligation and SMEs 

contribute significantly to tax revenue collection, it is suggested that fees paid to tax agents and 

professionals should be given tax deduction to ease the burden of tax compliance.  

 

The survey also revealed that most small business owners and staff members in charge of tax 

affairs were not familiar with tax incentives and exemptions provided in the Income Tax Act 

(1967) and Promotion of Investment Act (1986). It is also believed that if the tax agent’s fee is a 

tax-deductible expense, more SMEs would seek the advice and services of tax agents in 

maximizing the utilization of tax incentives and exemptions. 

 

The survey also found that respondents were not very familiar with the record-keeping 

requirement and they were also unsure of the Public Rulings in order to fully comply with them. 

These findings are alarming as it has been over 10 years since the implementation of the self-

assessment system. Most small business owners and staff members in charge of tax affairs of 

SMEs are still not well informed about the tax obligation and administrative requirement of this 

system. A plausible explanation is that most small business owners are not tax literate or well 

versed in tax matters; some did not receive any formal tax education at primary, secondary or 

tertiary level. Although some small business owners may have been formally exposed to tax 

education, tax facts can be easily forgotten. Furthermore, it is difficult for them to keep abreast of 

the regular updates and frequent changes in tax laws. It is suggested that the tax authorities 

should intensify tax education program on SMEs, and to mandate all colleges and university 

students to be formally exposed to tax education. 

 

In the volatile business environment, SMEs indicated that the requirement to estimate tax payable 

is one of the key compliance complexities. Hence, to avoid the penalty for under estimation of 

tax payable, it is suggested that SMEs are allowed to revise estimated tax payable every two 

months, instead of in the sixth and/or ninth month of the basis period. 
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Last but not least, the existing tax rate is a burden to SMEs. A majority of the respondents 

indicated that the prevailing tax rate for SMEs is high; some suggested that the government 

should lower the tax rate in order to lighten the burden. Notably, some SMEs preferred the 

government to lower corporate tax rate rather than offer various tax incentives such as double 

deduction of expenses, tax exemption, lower penalty or a simplified income tax system. In order 

for SMEs to be competitive and to have enough cash flow to sustain and grow, it is suggested that 

the threshold of chargeable income be moved to the first RM2 million of chargeable income (to 

be taxed at 20%) instead of the existing threshold of RM500,000.  

 

8. LIMITATION OF THE STUDY 

 

Apart from the normal limitations associated with survey research, several limitations of the 

study need to be noted. Firstly, this study is a cross-sectional study. Secondly, the sample size is 

relatively small - only 84 usable data was collected and analysed. Despite numerous attempts to 

send out questionnaires nationwide through postal survey, emails and the placement of the 

questionnaire on the SME Corporation Malaysia website to targeted respondents, the response 

was still poor. The first plausible explanation for the poor response is that small business owners 

and staff members in charge of tax affairs of SMEs are overly engrossed with business activities 

and do have the time to respond. Secondly, research on tax matters is usually considered personal 

and confidential and this could deter some target respondents. Considering the limitations above, 

great care was exercised in generalizing the results. 

 

9. CONCLUSION 

 

Despite the small number of responses received, this study has merits - enhancing the 

understanding of issues and compliance burden affecting small businesses in Malaysia. This 

study provides insights for small business owners, advisers to small businesses and policy 

makers. The findings shed light on problems faced by SMEs, which the government may be 

unaware of when drawing up tax policy and reforms. SMEs, on the other hand, must not only 

grow from business competitiveness but by take advantage of existing tax incentives and 

exemptions in tax compliance. 

 

Future studies should be conducted on a larger scale and to examine emerging issues, such as 

anti-money laundering and impact of global warming on SMEs in order to gather a more 

complete understanding of the compliance burden faced by SMEs. 



 

155 

10. REFERENCES 

 

Abdul-Jabbar, H., & Pope, J. (2008). The effects of self-assessment system on the tax compliance 

costs of small and medium enterprises in Malaysia. Australian Tax Forum, 23, 289-306. 

 

Chittenden, F., Kauser, S., & Poutziouris, P. (2003). Tax regulation and small business in the 

USA, UK, Australia and New Zealand. International Small Business Journal, 2(1), 93-115. 

 

Choong, K. F., & Lai, M. L. (2008). Tax audit and tax evasion under the self-assessment system: 

Survey evidence in Malaysia. Malayan Law Journal, March-April, 65-74. 

 

CPA Australia. (2003). Small Business survey Program: Compliance burden (Vol. April, pp. 1-

41). 

 

CPA Australia. (2008). Small Business Survey 2007: Issues of Importance to small business 

(Vol. March, pp. 1-44). 

 

Department of Statistics. (2006). Census of establishments and enterprises 2005: preliminary 

report – Profile of small and medium enterprises. Putrajaya. 

 

Ernst and Young. (2006). Annual Tax Survey, Malaysia. Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. 

 

Evans, C., Carlon, S., & Massey, D. (2005). Record Keeping Practices and Tax Compliance of 

SMEs. eJournal of Tax Research, 3(2), 288-334. 

 

Hanefah, M., Ariff, M., & Kasipillai, J. (2001). Compliance cost of small and medium 

enterprises. Journal of Australian Taxation, 4(1), 73-97. 

 

Income Tax Act. (1967). Malaysia: International Law Book Services, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. 

 

Lai, M. L., & Choong, K. F. (2012). Self-assessment System and Tax Compliance Complexities: 

Tax Practitioners’ Perspectives. Malayan Law Journal, 6, 1-14. 

 

Lignier, P. (2009). The managerial benefits of tax compliance: perceptions by small business 

taxpayer. eJournal of Tax Research, 7(2), 106-133. 



 

156 

McCann, A. (2012). Quarterly survey of small business in Britain. Retrieved 9 August 2013, 

2013, from http://www.open.ac.uk/business-school/files/business-

school/file/publications/download/2012%20Q3%20Report.pdf 

 

Mckerchar, M. (2005). The impact of income tax complexity on practitioners in Australia. 

Australian Tax Forum: a Journal of Taxation Policy, Law and Reform, 20(4), 529-554. 

 

National SME Development Council. (2010). Enhancing contribution of SMEs to the economy 

with emphasis towards the services sector. Putrajaya. 

 

SBRT. (2005). Quarterly survey of small businesses in Britain, Small Business Research Trust 

(SBRT): Small Business Research Trust. 

 

SBRT. (2007). Quarterly survey of small business in the UK, Small Business Research Trust 

(SBRT) (Vol. 23, pp. 1-4): Small Business Research Trust. 

 

The IRBM. (2009). Tax Audit Framework. Kuala Lumpur: Inland Revenue Board Malaysia. 

 

Tran-Nam, B., & Glover, J. (2002). Estimating the transitional compliance costs of the GST in 

Australia: A case study approach Australian Tax Forum, 17(4), 499-536. 

 

Zikmund, W. G. (2000). Business research methods (Sixth ed.): The Dryden Press. 

 



 

157 

11.   AUTHORS 

 

Dr. Lai Ming Ling is a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, United 

Kingdom and a member of Malaysian Institute of Accountants, Chartered Tax Institute Malaysia 

and Accounting Research Institute. Currently, she is an associate professor at the Faculty of 

Accountancy, Universiti Teknologi MARA, Shah Alam campus. Her research interests are 

taxation and tax related studies. She has published in the Australian Tax Forum, Campus-wide 

Information system, e-Journal of Tax Research, Academy of Accounting and Financial Studies, 

Journal of Financial Crime, Malaysian Accounting Review, Malaysian Law Journal, Journal of 

Financial Reporting and Accounting, Tax National, Accountants Today and other professional 

journals. Dr. Lai won the Gold Award in the 2008 Articles of Merit Awards on Professional 

Accountants in Business, organised by MIA. In 2009, she won First Prize in the 3rd Malaysian 

Outstanding Research Paper Award 2009 in the tax category organised by the Malaysian 

Accountancy Research and Education Foundation. Currently, she is the associate editor of the 

Journal of Financial Reporting and Accounting, a journal published by Emerald Publishing 

Group Limited, United Kingdom. She can be contacted at laimingling@salam.uitm.edu.my or 

laimingling@yahoo.com 

 

Mr Choong Kwai-Fatt is a member of the Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants, 

Malaysian Institute of Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered 

Certified Accountants and Malaysia Association of Company Secretaries. He is an associate 

professor at the Faculty of Business and Accountancy, University of Malaya. His research 

interests are Malaysian and international tax, law and accounting and has written and published 

various papers and books. Dr. Choong won the Gold Award in the 2008 Articles of Merit Award 

on Professional Accountants in Business, organised by MIA. In 2009, he won First Prize in the 

3rd Malaysian Outstanding Research Paper Award 2009 in the tax category organised by the 

Malaysian Accountancy Research and Education Foundation. He can be contacted at 

kwaifatt@um.edu.my or kwaifatt2012@gmail.com 

 

 

 

 



 

158 

CONSOLATION PRIZE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

VOLUNTARY RISK INFORMATION: CREATING FIRM 

VALUE THROUGH COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE 

 

 

  

 

Ms Rina Fadhilah Ismail 

Associate Professor Dr. Roshayani Arshad 



 

159 

VOLUNTARY RISK INFORMATION: CREATING FIRM VALUE THROUGH 

COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE  

 

ABSTRACT  

 

The recent volatile economy and complex business environment have attracted considerable 

attention among market participants. In particular, interested stakeholders are concerned with 

how businesses deal with increased risks in their business operations. This study aims to examine 

whether managers’ decisions to disclose voluntary risk information can be informative signals to 

relevant stakeholders and positively effect firm valuation. Informative signals are measured based 

on the information needs (financial and non-financial information) of stakeholders identified as 

significant to business sustainability namely Shareholder, Employee, Customer and Community. 

Using the content analysis of 328 public listed firms for the financial period between 2008 and 

2009, this study finds that more than 73% attributes of informative signals through 

comprehensive as well as quality of voluntary risk disclosure are reported in the annual reports of 

public listed firms. From this, the study finds that comprehensive information on Operations Risk 

(QLOPR) and Integrity Risk (QLINR) provide the most critical information to investment 

decisions, as they relate to a firm’s competitive advantage, contributing to higher firm value. The 

results provide new insights into the ability of voluntary information to offer informative signals 

to relevant stakeholders and positively impact the competitive valuation of business decisions. 

 

1.  INTRODUCTION 

 

Relevant and comprehensive corporate voluntary risk reporting has been in high demand by 

shareholders and potential investors for assessing investment opportunities in an uncertain 

business environment (Abraham & Solomon, 2007; Hassan, 2009; Linsley & Shrives, 2006; 

Solomon et al., 2000). According to Linsley and Shrives (2006), risk disclosure refers to any 

information that provides evidence to the annual report users regarding events that contain any 

opportunities, prospects, threats or exposure that had already impacted upon or may impact upon 

the firms and the management in the future. Voluntary risk information in the current economic 

environment plays a significant role, as it can further explain the impact of mandatory risks and 

provide accurate descriptions about other risk factors from competitive business activities (e.g. 

product development, marketing, technological innovations, and daily administrative activities) 

that are expected to create potential threats to the business operations.  
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Disclosure of such information has the potential to help investors in deciding appropriate 

investments, as this information is believed to point to significant signs in creating enhanced firm 

valuation, especially in concentrated industries where there is an intense competitions among 

market participants (Rahman, Tay, Ong, & Cai, 2007).  

 

Furthermore, evidence from growing literature discusses the importance of managing risk and 

uncertainty, as this is believed to contribute to the increment of firm valuation (Beasley, Pagach 

& Warr, 2008; Hermalin & Weisbach, 2012; Hoyt & Liebenberg, 2011; Nocco & Stulz, 2006). 

When the management of risks is translated into adequate reporting, it can be used to help 

investors understand and expect less volatility in an uncertain business environment. Risk 

reporting in annual reports has the potential to reduce information asymmetry between manager-

majority shareholders – making it useful to investors and shareholders in supporting their 

economic decisions (Cabedo & Tirado, 2004; Healy & Palepu, 2001). The effect of risk 

information in enhancing firm valuation can be seen as an indicator for business survival and an 

important element to be assessed by shareholders and potential investors, as it indicates their 

initial beliefs in the ability of firms to manage the uncertainty of the business operations. Failure 

to provide satisfactory information for firm valuation will result in increasing distrust in the 

ability of firms to manage uncertainty issues. This is often thought to relate to the inability to deal 

with other business challenges, which might influence the shareholders’ consistent evaluation of 

business survival in the future (Doff, 2008; Mcshane, Nair & Rustambekov, 2011).  

 

The objective of providing more meaningful information to investors would establish a desirable 

signal about the competitive aspects of the business strategy, which can be disadvantaged to the 

disclosing firms even though the information can be clearly related to the efforts to enhance the 

firm’s value (Hasseldine, Salama & Toms, 2005). As corroborated by Linsley and Shrives 

(2006), the effort to improve risk disclosure in annual reports would be achieved when managers 

are willing to disclose commercially sensitive and forward-looking risk information, as such 

information is needed by investors in assessing both the cost of capital and expected litigation 

costs relating to current and future investment portfolios. In the absence of detailed risk 

disclosures, potential investors may interpret risk from a two-fold perspective – positive and 

negative – as this information is essentially meant to improve the understanding of the business 

condition and will lead to making satisfactory future business and investment decisions (Beretta 

& Bozzolan, 2004). 

 



 

161 

The importance of detailed risk disclosure is evidenced in the new reporting phase adopted in 

developed countries where risk disclosure is introduced as part of the risk management strategy 

(Arnold, 2010; Frigo & Anderson, 2011; Linsley & Shrives, 2006; Sobel & Reding, 2004). In 

contrast, the awareness level of risks and uncertain information in relation to risk and risk 

management disclosure in Malaysia is evidenced as being in the initial stage (Amran et al., 2009; 

Ismail & Abdul Rahman, 2011; Probohudono, Tower & Rusmin, 2013). However, a survey by 

Ernst & Young (2011) pertaining to firms’ risk management practices in 2011 indicates that 

many Malaysian firms believe that the value of firms can be enhanced when there is an 

improvement in firm performance, which results from enhanced understanding and management 

of risks and uncertainties that eventually facilitate business decision making.  

 

Hence, this study aims to examine whether the decision to disclose voluntary risk information can 

form informative signals to relevant stakeholders with positive effect on firm valuation. This 

study also will demonstrate how firm value is measured based on various information needs – 

financial and non-financial - of stakeholders that facilitate boards and management in managing 

potential risk and uncertainties that may affect the decision making. The expected findings will 

provide some new insights for regulators, professional bodies, policy makers and management, as 

the expectation of relevant risk information in contributing to the creation of firm value is 

escalating.  

 

2. STAKEHOLDERS’ INFORMATION NEEDS FOR FIRM VALUATION 

 

A discussion on firm value is increasingly becoming a central interest of researchers in proposing 

the best way to create value for business other than through profits alone. Prior literature argues 

that it is necessary to create value not only for shareholders, but for all stakeholders in various 

areas, such as e-commerce, intellectual capital and marketing channels (Amit & Zott, 2001; 

Haksever et al., 2004; Marr, Schiuma & Neely, 2004; Merchant & Sandino, 2009). In the past, 

the concept of value has dealt with the principles or values relating to guiding human behaviour. 

But recently, researchers have studied its significance to the organisational lifespan, such as the 

firms’ activities, policies and practices, and found that the association with economic concept can 

be viewed in relation to providing better goods and services (Haksever et al., 2004). 
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In particular, Haksever et al. (2004, p. 295) outlined three dimensions – financial, non-financial 

and time horizon – of firm activities that can create value for a certain group of stakeholders, and 

diminish value for another group of stakeholders. Basically, there are four groups of stakeholders 

that would benefit from the creation of firm value – shareholders, employees, suppliers/customers 

and community. From the perspective of the financial benefits and costs to shareholders, it 

obviously relates to the short-term monetary impact as well as possibly to the long-term impact. 

The non-financial benefits and costs are those that do not have a short-term financial impact even 

if they may hold the potential to generate financial benefit in the future, and, usually are 

intangible in nature.  For instance, the employee training provided and non-monetary benefits 

offered by the firms. Meanwhile time horizon is associated with the speed of access to benefits, 

time savings provided and the extension of time horizon over which benefits continue. Aiming to 

provide broad inputs on firm value creation, previous studies have further explored another 

perspective that may contribute to the creation of firm value from the views of a good governance 

system that comprises managerial team competency and the ability and credibility of corporate 

reporting (Ambrosini, Bowman & Schoenberg, 2011; Carlsson, 2007; Dolphin, 2004; Holcomb, 

Holmes Jr. & Connelly, 2009; Holland & Johanson, 2003; Sen, 2009). 

 

In the past several years, the value of information has been examined with respect to its 

relationship with improved financial results or performance (e.g. Gordon, Loeb, & Sohail, 2010; 

Ohlson, 2001). Over time, the traditional value relevance assessment of firms’ overall financial 

performance is not sufficient to provide meaningful outcomes to shareholders and stakeholders. 

This is because the retrospective element of financial performance only describes the past 

performance of the firms, while the non-financial measures can be used as they reflect the health 

and wealth-creating potential of the firms (Kalafut & Low, 2001, p. 14).  

 

There is also concern among market participants that firms should incorporate proper systems to 

evaluate the impact of voluntary risk information on financial performance and non-financial 

performance for sustainability, particularly for the benefit of stakeholders (Epstein & Roy, 2001; 

2003). A number of studies indicate inconclusive results concerning the examination of the 

association between better financial performance and the valuable social disclosure and/or social 

responsibility (Gray, 2006; Murray, Sinclair, Power & Gray, 2006; Richardson & Welker, 2001). 

However, Gray (2006) contends that better-managed firms by qualified managers would signal to 

the market participants that they have taken appropriate action in managing the associated risks 

impacting from social and environmental issues.  
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In creating a blended value of firms, Prahalad and Ramaswamy (2004) believe that refining the 

traditional interaction of the stakeholder-firm relationship would facilitate both parties in creating 

additional experiences that would enable the affiliation to be a source of competitive advantage. 

These include launching a product design competition or creating an ideal product for certain 

groups that involves participation of the customer, community and other stakeholders, which 

would prevent the risk of the product not being accepted in the future. Therefore, the value of 

increased information, especially regarding non-mandatory risks, is expected to be acknowledged 

in the public reports as it is argued to be less informative and inadequate to fulfil the needs of 

stakeholders and investors (Emerson, 2003; Holland & Johanson, 2003). In the past, the financial 

information presented in annual reports has been proven to be less reliable when the institutional 

investors and analysts found that such information is insufficient to contribute to the value 

creation over the long term (Robb et al., 2001). This is believed to be associated with the high 

demand of non-financial information, where this information has not only contributed in 

recommending the clear explanation of financial results but can also be utilised in identifying 

value creation factors that are not explicitly represented in the annual report (Beretta & Bozzolan, 

2006; Beretta, 2009). 

 

Specifically, various non-financial information has been discussed as being needed by the 

stakeholders. However, in order to identify the value creation drivers associated with non-

financial information, information relating to credible management, quality products/ services, 

employment benefits and community contributions will be reviewed in detail. Haksever et al. 

(2004) modelled the firm value creation from the perspective of the strategic view of 

shareholders, customers, suppliers, employees and community.  

 

The value creating activities of each group of stakeholders are different to each other and that 

will be a focus of the managers of the firms. The authors further outlined each of the 

stakeholders’ positions in the firm to provide a better understanding concerning how value can be 

created for them. The shareholders as the first group will expect an increase in their investment 

and anticipate some of the firm’s practices to conform to certain norms. The employees may 

expect to acquire benefits of employment in compensation for their work efforts. The customers 

expect to have benefits from the products/services that they acquired. In addition, they also have 

an interest in the firm’s survival and reputation to remain loyal to the firm. Lastly, the community 

has certain stakes in the firm in terms of volunteer and charitable activities as well as the impact 

of the firm’s activities on the environment and other aspects concerning the quality of life 

(Haksever et al., 2004, pp. 294–295).  
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In general, there will be activities that may only conform to certain groups of stakeholders – 

creating value for some groups and not bringing any additional value to the same groups. 

Therefore, it is important for the managers to identify which activities of the firm can create value 

for each stakeholder to intensify growth of the firm’s value. 

 

The value creation measure is proposed to assess the effects of quantity and quality of voluntary 

risk disclosure on enhanced firm value creation. In particular, the purpose of value creation is 

believed to be one of the objectives of the firms apart from obtaining a profit. Therefore, firms 

should have the intention of creating superior value not only for the owner/shareholders, but also 

for all stakeholders (Haksever et al., 2004). The idea of value creation is to portray the firm’s 

moral obligation and to disseminate the idea that firms not only work very hard to fulfil the 

owners’ needs to obtain a profit, but also, at the same time, are becoming a more responsible 

entity. To provide measurement for the creation of firm value from the stakeholders’ 

perspectives, this paper proposes a blended firm value creation comprising both financial and 

non-financial aspects. Four groups of stakeholder are identified as significant to the business 

sustainability – Shareholder, Employee, Customer and Community.   

 

2.1 Shareholder 

 

The shareholder is the primary stakeholder of the firm who is considered to have a legitimate 

claim on the firm and has both urgency and power to enforce the claims; as noted by Freeman, 

Harrison and Wicks (2008), and as cited in Godfrey, Merrill and Hansen (2009, p. 429). In fact, 

they can exert their power to monitor and influence the firm’s actions to be in line with their 

interests as much as the investment amount contributed to the firm. As such, firms are expected 

to establish regular shareholders’ activities as being more value-added activities that can serve as 

contributing factors to value creation. Indeed, although the financial performance is the most 

crucial information, non-financial performance can be additional factors to show that firms are 

capable and willing to offer extra effort in maintaining business sustainability.  
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2.2 Employee 

 

The secondary group of stakeholders that should be a focus is the employee. Generally, the 

employee or human capital is considered as a valuable source for competitive advantage when 

proper management is utilised to achieve increased efficiency revenue growth (Berman, Wicks, 

Kotha & Jones, 1999). Other claims to increase financial returns include the potential of the 

employee to lower turnover and absenteeism by improving productivity and increasing worker 

commitment and effort. 

 

2.3 Customer 

 

The customer is also considered as another secondary group of stakeholders. The customer has 

the potential power to induce firms to produce or provide quality products and services. It is to a 

firm’s advantage that it is able to obtain deeper knowledge about its customers. Firms may expect 

to provide innovative products, such as introducing new products or improving existing product 

features to receive higher value as perceived by their customers (Zimmer, Arsal, Al-marzouq, 

Moore & Grover, 2010). Customers may use their power to urge firms to provide adequate 

information on further action relating to products and services.  Indeed, the availability of 

customer information associated with customer sales and after sales services might also invite 

positive valuation by a firm’s investors (Kohlbeck, 2011).  

 

2.4 Community 

 

The focus group of stakeholders most likely to observe the impact on sustainability and 

reputation studies is the community or society. According to Huang and Kung (2010), firms will 

participate in community activities when there is pressure to become more transparent and 

responsible to the public and society. Therefore, annual reports will be a medium to publicise 

their activities to the general public. Freeman (1984) provided an example of activities to satisfy 

community demands, such as social and environmental initiatives, funding and support of 

charitable organisations and job creation where employment rates are low. 

 

The above-mentioned stakeholders’ value added activities are identified to finalise the value 

creation index from the perspective of a variety of stakeholders. The finalised index is presented 

in Table 1.  
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Table 1 - The Finalised Value Creation Index 

Stakeholder 

Group 

Value Creation Attributes Value Creation Driver 

Shareholders Financial soundness Profitability – ROE 

Liquidity – Cash 

Size – Market Capitalization 

Long-term investment value Accounting return – Earnings Per Share 

Accounting return – Dividend Per Share 

Growth – EPS growth 

Market Performance – Return 

Market performance – Tobin’s Q 

Growth – Sales growth 

Use of corporate assets Growth – Total Assets growth 

Risk – Leverage 

Size – Turnover 

ROA 

Quality of management Transparent & ethical – MSWG Top 100 

ranking 

Management credibility: Awards for 

outstanding leader, i.e. Best CFO Awards, 

Best Managed Companies, Property Man 

of The Year 

Risk awareness/Integrity – Existence of 

separate Risk management committee 

Appointment of Chief Risk Officer 

Customers Quality of product/service Recognition of outstanding awards 

Innovation Increase in R&D investment 

Employee Ability to attract & retain 

talented people 

Concern with employees welfare –  

SA8000 

Awards in relation to workplace 

recognition 

Work force diversity – women on board 

/top management 

Financial benefit – ESOS, etc. 

Community Environment responsibility Environmental external assurance 

statement from suppliers, government, etc.  

Substantial revenue from  environmental 

advantages or notable conservation projects 

Social responsibility Social – receive award for social 

commitments, e.g. ACCA MaSRA Award 

Social – CSR initiatives with impacts, 

supported with quantitative evidence (e.g. 

adopting schools/hospitals/ building 

mosques, church, temples/community 

centre/ environmental activities) 

Innovative givings – >1% in donations 

/increase in % 
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3.  METHODOLOGY 

 

3.1  Sample and Data Collection 

 

The sample was selected from the companies listed on the Main Board of Bursa Malaysia at the 

financial year end of 31 December 2008 and 2009. A final sample of 328 firms was selected to 

measure the effects of firm value creation on the voluntary risk disclosure practices. The financial 

and non-financial aspects of the firms are examined based on one-lagged year. Therefore, another 

164 annual reports of year 2010 is used to capture the related information. The sample is then 

randomly selected to allow an equal chance of being selected for different types of companies 

comprising big, medium and small companies based on market capitalisation. The final sample 

constitutes only five sectors, namely, Consumer Product, Industrial Product, Construction/ 

Infrastructure Project/Properties, Trading/Services and Technology/Hotel/ Plantation. The 43 

companies that fall under finance/REITs sector are excluded from the sample due to different 

regulatory requirements and significant differences in the business operations (Chau & Gray, 

2002; Ghazali & Weetman, 2006). The sample permits less than 1% of the companies to be 

dropped due to missing data related to the variables of interest in this study as well as companies 

newly registered between 2008 and 2009. 

 

The firms’ information are extracted from the annual reports that can be gathered and 

downloaded either through the relevant firms’ websites, Bursa Malaysia’s official website or 

DataStream database. The definitions and measurements of variables used in this study are listed 

in Table 2. 
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Table 2 - Definition and Measurement of Variables 

Variable  

Acronym 

Variables Measurement 

QTVRD Quantity of Voluntary Risk 

Disclosure  

Content analysis of annual reports, using 

keyword count as a unit of analysis. 

 

QLVRD Quality of Voluntary Risk 

Disclosure 

Three quality dimensions used to 

measure quality disclosure for a 

company, (1) Time orientation (TO), (2) 

Measurement type (TOM) and (3) 

Economic sign (ES). 

The Quality Voluntary Risk Disclosures 

Index (QLVRDI) indicates the aggregate 

scores of three quality dimensions above. 

Five categories of voluntary risk are 

given scores according to these three 

dimensions; then all scores according to 

categories are totalled to derive the 

overall scores for a year.  

 
 

FVC Firm value creation  The index indicates the level of firm 

value creation for a company for each 

dimension, where N is the maximum 

number of relevant items of company 

performance and d is equal to 1 if the 

item is disclosed and 0 if otherwise. Four 

dimensions of value creation are totalled 

and then averaged to obtain a value 

creation score for a company. 
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4.  ANALYSIS AND RESULTS 

 

4.1  Descriptive Analysis 

Table 3 presents the descriptive statistics on the dependent variables, the four measures of 

blended firm value creation.  

 

Table 3 - Descriptive Statistics of Firm Value Creation 

Variable Minimum Maximum Mean Std. Deviation 

FVC 2009 

Shareholder 2009 

Customer 2009 

Employee 2009 

Community 2009 

.00 

.00 

.00 

.00 

.00 

73.08 

76.47 

100.00 

100.00 

80.00 

23.0533 

27.0300 

19.0184 

29.7546 

8.4663 

16.9087 

18.2145 

35.6633 

32.2213 

16.7621 

 

FVC 2010 

Shareholder 2010 

Customer 2010 

Employee 2010 

Community 2010 

.00 

.00 

.00 

.00 

.00 

73.08 

76.47 

100.00 

100.00 

80.00 

23.5488 

28.0043 

20.8589 

27.6074 

7.8528 

16.6928 

18.6112 

37.6042 

29.9966 

15.4657 

 

 

Table 3 reported that the overall score for firm value creation would be the average score of the 

four dimensions. The results of the average score for FVC were 23.0533 and 23.5488 for 2009 

and 2010, respectively. Of the four value dimensions, Customer and Employee Values were 

reported to have the maximum score of 100 per cent. The Customer Value is measured by the 

quality of product/service and innovation, while the Employee Value is measured by the ability to 

attract and retain talented people in the business. It is found that some firms have easily obtained 

the maximum score of 100 – implying that these two value dimensions are vital in assessing 

further firm value, as it portrays the recognition of firms’ strategies and users’ good impression of 

the overall firm operation. 

 

The Shareholder Value dimension showed an increase in the mean value of 27.03 per cent in 

2009 and 28.00 per cent in 2010, while the Community Value dimension noted a downward 

direction from 8.47 per cent in 2009 to 7.85 per cent in 2010. Since the Community Value is 

mostly related to matters regarding environmental and social responsibility, the declining results 

indicate that some firms are possibly less aware of the importance of being actively involved in 

social-related activities or strategies that might carry an indirect value for their firms. 
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Of all the dimensions, the Shareholder Value dimension was extensively measured given that the 

value of the companies is very much dependent on the assessment and evaluation of companies’ 

performance by the shareholders. This dimension measures financial and non-financial aspects, 

which are determined by 17 indicators that are grouped into four main drivers of shareholders’ 

firm value: financial soundness (financial), long-term investment value (non-financial), the use of 

corporate assets (non-financial) and the quality of management (non-financial). The non-financial 

items of the quality of the management were identified based on the Malaysian business 

environment by considering the aspiration of the MSWG and Bursa Malaysia’s Best Practices 

Recommendations.  

 

4.2  The Effects on Various Measures of Firm Value Creation  

 

The effects of voluntary risk disclosure on firm value creation are examined based on a time-

lagged effect of one year. The period of observation of 2008 and 2009 was selected to further 

investigate the effects on firm value creation in the post-revised recommendation period. The 

post-period was chosen as prior comparable assessments of variables indicate valuable 

conclusions concerning the usefulness of information obtained from this period. Therefore, due to 

the limited information available at the time of this study, the relationship between voluntary risk 

disclosure and firm value creation is tested over a two-year period only.  

 

The effects on the firm value creation are observed for a two-year period; where the data for year 

2008 quantity (QTVRD) and quality (QLVRD) of voluntary risk disclosure are examined against 

the firm value creation in 2009 (the results are exhibited in Table 4), and the year 2009 data of 

QTVRD and QLVRD are investigated against the firm value creation in 2010 (the results are 

exhibited in Table 5). The effects of QTVRD and QLVRD on firm value creation are observed 

for a two year period to examine the effects of the revised MCCG in 2007. Thus, the positive 

impact of QTVRD and QLVRD are expected to be shown in the years after the revised MCCG; 

during the recovery periods of the financial crisis, in 2009 and 2010.  

 

The results of the direct relationship between the quantity and quality of voluntary risk disclosure 

in 2008 and the firm value creation for the year 2009, as exhibited in Table 4, indicate that the 

adjusted R2 was at 57.6% with the F statistic at 25.436; this indicates the higher explanatory 

power of the quantity and quality aspects on the various levels of firm value creation. The model 

is reported at the significance level of 1%, indicating a useful prediction of the firm value in 

2009.  



 

171 

 

Table 5 exhibits the results, which indicate an increase in value from the previous year - where 

the adjusted R2 registers at 58.7% with the F statistic at 26.532, indicating the higher explanatory 

power of the quantity and quality aspects on the various levels of firm value creation. This model 

is also reported at a significance level of 1%, indicating the useful prediction of the firm value in 

2010.  

 

Table 4 - Direct Relationship between the Quantity and Quality of Voluntary Risk 

Disclosure in 2008 and Firm Value Creation for the Year 2009 

DV: FIRM VALUE CREATION 2009 

R-square: .599 

Adjusted R-square: .576 

Std. Error = 11.01227 

F=25.436 

Sig.= .000 

Durbin-Watson = 1.861 

 B Std Error Beta t Sig. VIF 

Constant 6.659 2.930  2.273 .024**  

SIZE 6.499E-007 .000 .173 2.846 .005*** 1.852 

LEV .004 .003 .072 1.395 .165 1.238 

IND 1.968 1.843 .058 1.068 .287 1.171 

QTVRD .074 .041 .160 1.798 .074* 2.380 

QLOPR .101 .031 .393 3.285 .001*** 3.059 

QLEMR .026 .048 .053 .545 .586 2.930 

QLITR .106 .155 .045 .681 .497 1.595 

QLINR .287 .107 .197 2.687 .008*** 2.015 

QLSTR -.013 .017 -.070 -.784 .434 2.581 

 

Table 5 - Direct Relationship between the Quantity and Quality of Voluntary Risk 

Disclosure in 2009 and Firm Value Creation for the Year 2010 

DV: FIRM VALUE CREATION 2010 

R-square: .609 

Adjusted R-square: .587 

Std. Error = 10.73395 

F=26.532 

Sig.= .000 

Durbin-Watson = 2.256 

 B Std Error Beta t Sig. VIF 

Constant 9.168 2.895  3.167 .002***  

SIZE 7.250E-007 .000 .227 3.866 .000*** 1.346 

LEV -.002 .004 -.023 -.439 .661 1.042 

IND -.860 1.777 .026 .484 .629 1.107 

QTVRD .095 .039 .225 2.420 .017** 3.400 

QLOPR .080 .027 .355 2.924 .004*** 5.784 

QLEMR .015 .050 .031 .304 .761 4.179 

QLITR -.109 .210 -.035 -.520 .604 1.773 

QLINR .198 .099 .154 2.008 .046** 2.296 

QLSTR .002 .017 .010 .114 .910 3.071 
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The results exhibited in Table 4 and Table 5 indicate the positively significant effect of quantity 

of voluntary risk disclosure. Amran et al. (2009) argue that Malaysian firms are inclined to 

disclose risk information voluntarily in the annual reports but only at the minimum level. This 

infers that the majority of the firms are not aware of the incremental value arising from voluntary 

risk disclosure, thus they are less willing to disclose it in a comprehensive manner. Even with a 

low level of voluntary disclosure, the potential benefits of such information increase the 

investors’ confidence in the overall performance of the firms (Amir & Lev, 1996; Gordon et al., 

2010). 

 

In relation to the quality aspect of voluntary risk information, it was observed that when the risk 

categories are carefully examined, mixed results are obtained. Positive significant results are 

found for two risk categories – quality information on Operations Risk (QLOPR) and Integrity 

Risk (QLINR). These two types of risk are argued as being the most important and useful when 

making future decisions, thus expecting to create enhanced value to the firms. As expected, the 

least important information, such as quality information on Empowerment Risk (QLEMR) and 

Information Technology and Processing Risk (QLITR), have an insignificant effect on firm value 

creation. Nonetheless, the perceived important risk information on Strategic Risk (QLSTR) is 

also found to have a non-significant relationship with firm value. Consistent with the findings in 

Linsley and Shrives (2006), this study evidences that firms’ voluntary practices are still at a 

satisfactory level with respect to the disclosure of voluntary risk information. This might be due 

to avoiding misinterpretation and excessive unnecessary facts being presented to the users of 

annual reports.  

 

The quality of information on Operation Risk (QLOPR) has been found significant at the 1% 

level for both 2008 and 2009, which reflects the most significant information associated with firm 

value creation for both 2009 and 2010. In the global competitive environment, firms are expected 

to focus more on their fundamental competitive advantages, generally, emphasising various 

aspects of their products, services, and customers and performance evaluation. Nonetheless, in 

the same period of the recovery phase of the financial crisis, firms were anticipated to have 

improved their strategies, such as offering quality and acceptable products or services, creating 

and introducing new ranges of products or services, maintaining the current customers as well as 

taking proactive action in inviting potential customers. Shareholders and other related parties 

usually presumed that this operational information would bring disadvantages to the firm value if 

the information was not being cautiously treated or managed.  
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In addition, the following detrimental effects may also result from improper handling of 

operational issues, such as breaking down in core operations, inefficient manufacturing processes 

and leaking essential information to competitors (Schmidt & Wilhelm, 2000; Simons, 1999). 

Since there has been public investment in the listed firms, ICAEW (1999) indicated a concern 

with respect to the importance of public information accessibility through the annual reports 

when there was no direct involvement compared to other investors, such as secured institutional 

investors. To ensure investor confidence, improve risk management and management 

accountability, there is a need to publicly communicate the information about risk, which is 

subject to greater variability in the investment returns.  

 

Concerning the quality aspect of Integrity Risk (QLINR) information, the results indicate a 

significant association with firm value creation at the level of 1% and 5% for year 2008 and 

2009; respectively. The reduced significance value in 2009 might indicate the existence of other 

types of risk information that would be useful in predicting the variation in creating firm value in 

2010. With regards to the information pertaining to the integrity risks of the business, such as 

information about management credibility, corporate fraud and illegal acts, reasonable actions to 

detect irregularities are important and useful for investors’ assessment of business conditions. 

The ICAEW (1999) has remarked on the lack of discussion concerning this information described 

in the annual reports, where little related information has been found in reference to a review of 

the cash control of the business. Good reputation associated with business strategies and 

management credibility has been observed as being a critical component of business valuation. 

Reputation is also linked to investor confidence built through financial strength, transparency and 

honest communication with the market, as well as being viewed as one of the subjects for 

business survival (Ernst & Young, 2009, p. 31). Therefore, reporting the integrity risks to the 

public in the current uncertain environment would be expected to create high value for the firm 

with respect to avoiding the loss of stakeholders’ trust.   

 

The other three risks to quality information – empowerment risk (QLEMP), information 

technology and processing risk (QLITR) and strategic risk (QLSTR) – are insignificantly 

associated with the creation of firm value. The first two risks – QLEMP and QLITR – are 

expected to provide insignificant effects to firm value creation as these two risks rank as the 

lowest information being disclosed in annual reports with the average scores for four years 

observation ranging from 15.16 to 19.26 for QLEMP and from 1.77 to 2.28 for QLITR.  
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Empowerment risk information is related to uncertainty concerning how people in the 

organisation, comprising the management and employees, are managed and empowered on behalf 

of the company. The empowerment of people begins with forming effective leadership, 

establishing appropriate performance incentives, executing the right outsourcing strategies, a 

willingness to change and implement effective communication (ICAEW, 1999). These types of 

people empowerment approaches have not been widely implemented among Malaysian firms, or, 

if they have been implemented, are considered as private means of reducing the risk implications 

of adverse actions. Therefore, the findings are expected, as most of the firms are observed as 

being unwilling to disclose the empowerment risks information voluntarily, which might be 

because they are unaware of the benefits of implementing these types of actions to reduce the 

possibility of the occurrence of empowerment risks. 

 

Similar to the quality of information technology and processing risks, the insignificant results for 

the firm value creation infer that this information is not considered as a serious matter among 

most of the listed firms due to the lack of awareness concerning the importance of IT to improve 

business cycle effectiveness. Previous literature indicates that IT information was only a major 

topic in 1999 and 2000 when there were concerns about the possibility of IT problems due to the 

Y2K issues (Williams, 2004). The results are also consistent with Kim and Lim (2011) who find 

a reluctance among managers to disclose the opportunity and risk of IT information, as it was not 

encouraged by investors, who apparently preferred lower agency costs.  

 

However, the findings of the quality strategic risks information provide unexpected results, in 

that the QLSTR is insignificantly associated with firm value creation, even though the descriptive 

analysis indicates the second highest scores ranging from 112.85 to 118.05 for 2006 to 2009. In 

the current dynamic environment, focusing more on corporate strategic policy is evidenced as not 

only being to stabilise the firms’ performance but also to grab more business opportunities and to 

manage unexpected threats to the firm. Although the quality of this information is being 

increasingly considered as important for firms’ sustainability, indicating high information 

disclosure, the firms emphasised this information less in the periods after the MCCG revision 

compared to the period before the revision.  This implies that the quality of strategic risks 

information has less impact in creating firm value compared to the quality of operations risks and 

integrity risks. 
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5.  CONCLUSION AND LIMITATIONS 

 

The presence of voluntary information is said to potentially invite a good impression from 

investors as it portrays a firm’s commitment towards improved transparency and accountability 

for public listed firms. With respect to voluntary risk information, the extent of its disclosure has 

been argued to provide valuable input to the investors’ investment decisions, particularly in the 

years immediately before the 2007 financial crisis. However, in the recent volatile economy and 

complex business environment, comprehensive voluntary risk information has been seen as very 

much in need by the investors to aid them in widening their insights about potential risks and 

uncertain events that impact on their future investment decisions. Thus, detailed disclosure can be 

a useful means not only for the investors, but also to the firms, as it is argued that it helps 

improve investors’ assessment of the overall strategies in the effort to enhance firm valuation. 

 

This paper incorporates both traditional and new ideas of firm value evaluation, which is based 

on the stakeholders’ information needs in assessing its impact on firm value creation as proposed 

by Haksever et at. (2004). More importantly, this paper provides detailed analysis on the 

informative signals that both types of voluntary risk disclosure, i.e. the quantity and the quality 

measures, could highlight to relevant shareholders as reflected in positive firm value.  

 

The results also reveal that voluntary risk disclosure had a significant effect in creating a higher 

blended value of the firms in the period after the financial crisis. However, the results show that 

only two of the five categories for risk information – Operations Risk and Integrity Risk – 

significantly affect the creation of firm value. This is consistent with Linsley and Shrives (2006) 

who evidence the satisfactory level of voluntary risk disclosure. This suggests that these types of 

risk information are the most critical information needed by the investors and very useful in 

supporting their investment decisions, which are eventually demonstrated in higher firm value.  

 

The results provide further insights into the importance of focusing more on the quality aspects, 

particularly the disclosure of the quality operations risk and integrity risk. The importance of 

Operations and Integrity Risk information for investment decisions can be viewed from its basic 

contents or elements of the information that relate to firms’ competitive advantage, such as 

critical facts of the products or services, the customers and the evaluation of the performance.  
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Although this information may contribute detrimental effects as presumed by some parties, 

ICAEW (1999) has indicated that the benefits outweigh any potential disadvantages of disclosing 

such information, particularly if they relate to retaining public and investors’ confidence, 

developing better risk management and management accountability that correspondingly 

contribute to higher firm value. The results seem consistent with previous literature that found 

that firms operating in a high-risk industry or environment are more likely to focus on disclosing 

high-risk information with respect to efficiency, positioning and competency related information 

(Gordon et al., 2010; Schadewitz & Niskala, 2010). The incremental value contained in this 

information when it is disclosed in a comprehensive manner, even with a low level of disclosure, 

has the potential to influence investor confidence on the overall valuation of the firm (Amir & 

Lev, 1996; Gordon et al., 2010). 

 

Finally, the analyses of the data in this study are limited by the use of voluntary risk disclosure to 

measure the impact on firm value creation in the period during the financial crisis recovery. 

Future research may consider extending the period to a further two years before and two years 

after the recovery periods, i.e. from 2004 to 2007 and from 2008 to 2011, to examine the 

comparable effects between these two periods. The longitudinal study enables the examination of 

the trend of firms’ practices on voluntary risk disclosure. It also allows more samples of listed 

firms to be included in the study; thus the results of risk-relevant elements that impact on 

voluntary risk disclosure and firm value creation could be more accurately gathered. Therefore, 

the results can be generalised and would be applicable to all listed firms.   
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